# Heteroepitaxy of Group IV and Group III-V semiconductor alloys on Si for photovoltaic applications

Thesis by Christopher Tien Chen

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

California Institute of Technology Pasadena, CA 2016 (Defended August 3, 2015)

© 2016 Christopher Tien Chen All Rights Reserved "We are like tenant farmers chopping down the fence around our house for fuel when we should be using Nature's inexhaustible sources of energy – sun, wind and tide...I'd put my money on the sun and solar energy. What a source of power! I hope we don't have to wait until oil and coal run out before we tackle that."

Thomas Edison, in conversation with Henry Ford and Harvey Firestone

# Abstract

Photovoltaic energy conversion represents a economically viable technology for realizing collection of the largest energy resource known to the Earth – the sun. Energy conversion efficiency is the most leveraging factor in the price of energy derived from this process. This thesis focuses on two routes for high efficiency, low cost devices: first, to use Group IV semiconductor alloy wire array bottom cells and epitaxially grown Group III-V compound semiconductor alloy top cells in a tandem configuration, and second, GaP growth on planar Si for heterojunction and tandem cell applications.

Metal catalyzed vapor-liquid-solid grown microwire arrays are an intriguing alternative for wafer-free Si and SiGe materials which can be removed as flexible membranes. Selected area Cu-catalyzed vapor-liquid solid growth of SiGe microwires is achieved using chlorosilane and chlorogermane precursors. The composition can be tuned up to 12% Ge with a simultaneous decrease in the growth rate from 7 to 1  $\mu$ m min<sup>-1</sup>. Significant changes to the morphology were observed, including tapering and faceting on the sidewalls and along the lengths of the wires. Characterization of axial and radial cross sections with transmission electron microscopy revealed no evidence of defects at facet corners and edges, and the tapering is shown to be due to in-situ removal of catalyst material during growth. X-ray diffraction and transmission electron microscopy reveal a Ge-rich crystal at the tip of the wires, strongly suggesting that the Ge incorporation is limited by the crystallization rate.

Tandem  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP/Si$  microwire array solar cells are a route towards a high efficiency, low cost, flexible, wafer-free solar technology. Realizing tandem Group III-V compound semiconductor/Si wire array devices requires optimization of materials growth and device performance. GaP and  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  layers were grown heteroepitaxially with metalorganic chemical vapor deposition on Si microwire array substrates. The layer morphology and crystalline quality have been studied with scanning electron microscopy and transmission electron microscopy, and they provide a baseline for the growth and characterization of a full device stack. Ultimately, the complexity of the substrates and the prevalence of defects resulted in material without detectable photoluminescence, unsuitable for optoelectronic applications.

Coupled full-field optical and device physics simulations of a  $Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P/Si$  wire array tandem are used to predict device performance. A 500 nm thick, highly doped "buffer" layer between the bottom cell and tunnel junction is assumed to harbor a high density of lattice mismatch and heteroepitaxial defects. Under simulated AM1.5G illumination, the device structure explored in this work has a simulated efficiency of 23.84% with realistic top cell SRH lifetimes and surface recombination velocities. The relative insensitivity to surface recombination is likely due to optical generation further away from the free surfaces and interfaces of the device structure.

Finally, GaP has been grown free of antiphase domains on Si (112) oriented substrates using metalorganic chemical vapor deposition. Low temperature pulsed nucleation is followed by high temperature continuous growth, yielding smooth, specular thin films. Atomic force microscopy topography mapping showed very smooth surfaces (4-6 ÅRMS roughness) with small depressions in the surface. Thin films ( $\sim 50$  nm) were pseudomorphic, as confirmed by high resolution x-ray diffraction reciprocal space mapping, and 200 nm thick films showed full relaxation. Transmission electron microscopy showed no evidence of antiphase domain formation, but there is a population of microtwin and stacking fault defects.

# Acknowledgements

There are far too many people to thank from my time here at Caltech. Grad school offers many opportunities for scholarship, friendship, soul-searching, and achievement. None of this would be possible without the combined efforts of everyone involved.

First and foremost, I'd like to thank Harry for his support and mentorship me these past six years. As I look back on my time in the group, I find myself amazed at just how much I have learned about materials characterization, photovoltaics, plasmonics and photonics, as well as the less academic fields of repairing vacuum equipment and troubleshooting other equipment around the lab. His unstoppable enthusiasm for science and generousity are traits I hope to emulate in the future.

Thanks also goes to the other members of my committee, Professors Julia Greer, Bill Johnson and Keith Schwab. I have enjoyed my interactions with all of them during my years here at Caltech. Julia is an inspiration with her excellence as a scientist and as a musician, and I have enjoyed my interactions with the many members of her research group. I had a lot of fun soaking in what I could of Bill's vast knowledge during his course. I had a great time getting to know Keith through his course and my time as a TA, and I have enjoyed our conversations about photography and his many hobbies.

During my time in the Atwater group, I have had the privilege of working with some of the brightest and most talented people I have ever met in my life. Daniel Turner-Evans and Adele Tamboli — thank you for being great mentors in my early days working in the Atwater group. The entire wire array team, Anna Beck, Mike Kelzenberg, Morgan Putnam, Emily Warren, and Nick Strandwitz, also deserves a great deal of thanks for their guidance and friendship. Nick and Mike Deceglie were invaluable in my initial efforts in learning Sentaurus. Lise Lahourcade and Greg Kimball were very helpful and instructive despite the materials-related failures of my photoluminescence measurements, and Lise and Emily Warmann were key in helping me understand the capabilities of the x-ray diffractometer. My many office mates, Jeff Bosco, Hal Emmer, Naomi Coronel, Sam Wilson, Cris Flowers, Ruzan Sokhoyan, Jim Fakonas, Lise Lauhourcade, Anya Miskovets, and Yu-Jing Lu, have all been great friends and colleagues. It's been a pleasure to work closely with Hal Emmer and Rebecca Saive, both of whom are much more talented in electrical characterization than I am and are fantastic friends. I've also had the pleasure of working with two SURF students, Anjian Wu and Cody Dunn, who were enthusiastic researchers who taught me a lot about teaching and mentorship. I've been lucky enough to hang out a decent amount with Krishnan Thyagarajan, Yulia Tolstova, Amanda Shing, Stefan Omelchenko, Georgia Papadakis, John Lloyd, Ray Weitekamp, Cris, Ruzan, Jim, Greg, Adele, Emily Warren, Mike Deceglie, and Morgan Putnam at Caltech, in Pasadena, and at conferences.. This is only a limited cross section of the many Atwater group members over the years, and it is by no means a comprehensive list – thanks goes to everyone.

Progress in the Atwater group would have come to a screeching halt without the help of the administrative assistants. Thanks goes to Lyra Haas and April Neidholdt for their help in the early years. Jennifer Blankenship and Tiffany Kimoto have been absolutely fantastic administrators and friends over the past few years. Michelle Aldecua deserves special thanks for being a fellow 49er fan and a great person to talk to in good times and bad. Special thanks goes to Christy Jenstad, fellow rabid 49er and Warriors fan, a caring, compassionate and supportive human being and friend – this cannot be emphasized enough. Reginalda Montaya has always greeted us with a smile and a conversation in the mornings, and I will miss our many conversations.

The first year cohort of mostly Materials Scientists (and a few non-Caltechers), namely Jim Fakonas, Hal Emmer, Naomi Coronel, Sam Wilson, Sally Tracy, Marco Allodi, Danien Scipio, Chirranjeevi Balaji Gopal, Jeff Holder, Josh Kretchmer, Morgan Soloway, Emma Coleman, and Adam Kowalski, helped me get through the coursework and the ups and downs of life in my first two years at Caltech.

My research has taken me up to Berkeley Labs quite often. Shaul Aloni has been a fantastic mentor and friend throughout my years at Caltech. Thanks goes to him for all of his help in the lab, as well as his infectious enthusiasm for science, good food, good drink, and fun. Tev Kuykendall has also been a good friend in my limited time at the lab. Alyssa Brand and Tracy Mattox have helped keep all of us in the Inorganic Facility safe, and they have been good people to talk to when I'm there.

Music has been an important part of my life since my high school years. I've had the privilege of playing in the Caltech jazz and concert bands during my time here at Caltech. Bill Bing is one of the nicest people I have ever met and a fantastic musician and conductor. His retirement next year marks the end of an era for student and community music at Caltech that anyone would be hard pressed to come close to. Playing in the jazz band under Barb Catlin's direction has been a great honor – she is always ready to challenge the musicians in the band to play challenging music, and I've become a better musician as a result. Both Bill and Barb are always ready to lend a shoulder or ear in good times and bad. My band mates over the years, among them Jeff Thompson, Ajay Limaye, Jeremy Yager, Zach Aitken, Matt Abrahamson, Austin Minnich, Will Rose, Muir Morrison, Matt Davis, Mike Post, Kris Kokame, Sam Gill, Megan Sumida, Sung Byun, and Rob Usiskin, were all a pleasure to hang and play music with.

Outside of Caltech, I've had the opportunity to play with the Big Band Theory and, on occasion, Lounge-O-Rama. Pat Olguin is the ringleader for both these groups. I'm grateful to him for dragging me out on multiple occasions to play early on at Caltech and for giving me a spot in the big band and always inviting me out to LOR gigs. There are many great musicians, scientists and people in the band: Lauren Chu, Steve Noland, Scott Gelb, Wil Rose, Antonia Barton, Steve Snyder, Scott Basinger, Hal Yorke, Hamilton Lewis, Paul Stocker, Rob Sherwood, Laurence Yeung, Jordan Evans, Bill Adler, Mike Ferrara, and many others. It's been a lot of fun.

My friends here in LA have really made my time special as well. Lauren Chu, Enoch Morishima, and Justine Ho, all of whom I have known since our teenage years, are some of my closest friends and have made our exploits of mostly eating and drinking around LA a blast. Adrian Bourbon and Vicki Baker are singlehandedly responsible for a majority of my excursions around LA. They deserve a great deal of thanks all of times we've been out to the Magic Castle, the Hollywood Bowl, and the Oddball Comedy Festival. They are also amazing, caring and thoughtful friends. Pat Olguin has been a great friend in addition to bandleader, and he and his wife Michelle often joined us in our exploits. It has been great hanging out with Paul Stocker as well, who is one of the most talented musicians I've met. Marco Allodi and Katie Kirby and Jim and Ren Fakonas have been great friends over the years here at Caltech.

Back in the Bay Area, Mike Chang and Esther Wu have been two constant friends and are always down to hang out despite my somewhat hermit-like ways. Calvin Zhang, fellow NU alum, has been a good friend and is always down to share a meal when I'm out in the East Bay. Joey Baker, Konina Biswas, Rishi Kaushika, and Deanna Tham, all members of "The Group" along with Lauren, Enoch and Justine, have all made time to see me, share a meal and hang out. It's amazing that some of us are getting married – welcome to The Group, Rachel Fus!

My fraternity brothers far and wide have also been a source of support, friendship, and occasional debauchery over the past six years. There are too many to name here: Charles Andrean, Phi Nguyen, Tom Zhou, William Tan, Michael Le, Isaac Chung, Paco de Asis, Justin Wong, Wilson Tam, Andrew Nam, Daniel Kim, Daniel Choi, and many more all were good brothers and friends over the years.

Hal Emmer and Emma Coleman have been some of my closest friends and housemates here at Caltech. I would not have been able to get through grad school without the two of them. I am so happy for the two of them, as they complement each other so, so well. Many happy years are ahead for them.

My family has been a constant source of support, guidance, and love throughout my entire life. My parents, Sandy and Hector, always inspire me with their work ethic, kindness and caring. My sister, Jessica, is always a short phone call away despite us having lived at least half a country apart since 2005. My brother, Gary, has grown up to be a fantastic young man of whom I am so proud of every single day. Finally, I'd like to thank Carissa Eisler, my partner here at Caltech over the past three years. We've really had a great time – from hanging out as friends in Seattle to exploring New Orleans together this year. Life has been a bit up and down for the both of us this past year, and I'm elated that we've come out of it while supporting each other through and through. I look forward to our future together. Her cat, Jujubee, also deserves a special shout-out for making me realize that cats are pretty awesome and for being one of the funniest pets I have ever been able to care for. Carissa's parents, Fred and Michelle Eisler, have always welcomed me over with open arms for a meal, holiday or family gatherings without a second thought.

Chris Chen August 2015 Pasadena, CA

# Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	v
Contents	x
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xvii

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Energy, Climate, and the 21st Century	1
	1.2	Photovoltaics	3
		1.2.1 The photovoltaic effect	3
		1.2.2 The solar resource	4
		1.2.3 Photovoltaic devices	5
		1.2.4 Limits of photovoltaic efficiency	$\overline{7}$
		1.2.5 A photovoltaics renaissance	7
	1.3	Scope of this thesis	11
	1.4	Contributions to this thesis	13
<b>2</b>	Gro	oup IV semiconductor alloy microwire array growth	14
	2.1	Background	14
		2.1.1 Vapor-liquid-solid growth with a metal catalyst	14
		2.1.2 Silicon microwire array photovoltaics	16
	2.2	SiGe microwire array growth	19
		2.2.1 Prior work on SiGe nanowires	19
		2.2.2 Catalyst selection	21
		2.2.3 Precursor selection	21

		2.2.4	Experimental approach	21
	2.3	SiGe 1	microwire morphology and composition	24
	2.4	Crysta	allographic orientation	29
		2.4.1	Relaxation and crystallographic defects	31
		2.4.2	Determining the origin of the Ge-rich phase	34
	2.5	Outlo	ok	38
3	Gro	oup III	-V compound semiconductor growth on Si microwire arrays	41
	3.1	Backg	round	41
		3.1.1	Accomodating lattice mismatch	42
		3.1.2	Geometry	43
	3.2	Exper	imental details	45
		3.2.1	Si microwire array growth	45
		3.2.2	Preparation for selective epitaxy	45
		3.2.3	MOCVD growth at the Molecular Foundry	47
	3.3	Result	ts	48
		3.3.1	GaP	48
		0.0.1	3.3.1.1 Initial results	48
			3.3.1.2 Branched morphologies	49
			3.3.1.3 Selective epitaxy	49
		3.3.2	$Ga_1 \ _n In_n P$	51
		0.0.1	3.3.2.1 Planar controls on GaP(001)	51
			3.3.2.2 Step-graded buffer growth on wire substrates	54
			3.3.2.3 Double heterostructure growth on wire substrates	55
	34	Route	s towards improved material quality	58
	0.1	3 4 1	Geometrical considerations	58
		3.4.2	Direct integration of nano-sized geometries on planar Si	64
4	Ont	toelect	ronic design of Group III-V compound semiconductor on Si	
-	mic	rowire	tandem cells	67
	4.1	Backg	round	67
		4.1.1	Simulation methods	68
		4.1.2	Prior work	68
	4.2	Simula	ated device designs	69
		4.2.1	Requirements for a tandem wire array device	69
		4.2.2	Highly mismatched growth on a Si wire	70
		4.2.3	Graded buffer growth on a Si wire	70
		4.2.4	Planar tandem with a graded buffer	72
	4.3	Result	ts of optical simulations	73
	1.0	4.3.1	Optical response of wire array devices	73
		432	Comparison of optical generation	76
		1.0.4	companien of optical Scheration	10

	4.4	Results of device	e simulations	. 78
		4.4.1 Highly m	ismatched growth on a Si wire	. 78
		4.4.2 Comparis	son of graded buffer growth on a Si wire and planar cell .	. 79
	4.5	Conclusions		. 81
<b>5</b>	MO	CVD of GaP or	n Si for c-Si photovoltaics	84
	5.1	Background		. 85
		5.1.1 Polar on	non-polar defects	. 85
		5.1.2 Solving the	he polar on non-polar problem	. 87
	5.2	Experimental de	tails	. 88
		5.2.1 Sample p	reparation	. 88
		5.2.2 Growth c	conditions	. 89
	5.3	Results		. 89
		5.3.1 Initial res	sults with TMGa	. 89
		5.3.2 Optimiza	tion of GaP nucleation layer	. 90
		5.3.3 Optimize	d nucleation and thin film morphology	. 93
		5.3.4 X-ray diff	fraction of GaP on Si	. 94
		5.3.5 Transmiss	sion electron microscopy	. 97
6	Cor	clusions and fu	ture directions	101
	6.1	Microwire array	photovoltaics	. 101
		6.1.1 Group IV	<sup><math>7</math></sup> alloy microwire arrays $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 101
		6.1.2 Group III	I-V compound semiconductor/Si microwire array tandems	. 102
	6.2	MOCVD of GaP	' on Si for c-Si photovoltaics	. 103
Α	Lar	ge area Si micro	owire array growth	105
	A.1	Large area Si mi	crowire growth	. 105
		A.1.1 Preparati	ion of growth substrates	. 106
		A.1.2 Outlook		. 107
в	Cal	culation of latti	ice relaxation from HRXRD RSM's on non-standa	ard
	orie	ntations		109
С	$\mathbf{Pre}$	paration of TEN	M samples using SEM/FIB	112
D	Usi	ng the Agilent I	D-Star MOCVD at the Molecular Foundry	116
	D.1	Metalorganic che	emical vapor deposition	. 116
	D.2	System Overview	ν	. 118
		D.2.1 Control		. 118
		D.2.2 Precursor	flow control	. 119

		D.2.3	Software, flow control and hardware labeling	120
	D.3	Instrue	etions	123
		D.3.1	Unloading manually	123
		D.3.2	Pumping down manually	124
		D.3.3	Running your recipe	125
$\mathbf{E}$	$\mathbf{Syn}$	opsys l	Sentaurus TCAD for Tandem Wire Array Simulations	126
	E.1	Introd	uction	126
	E.2	Optica	l simulation	127
		E.2.1	Setting up the device geometry	127
		E.2.2	Running FDTD	137
		E.2.3	Creating generation maps and integrating optical generation	140
	E.3	Device	simulation	141
		E.3.1	Defining additional contacts	141
		E.3.2	Simulation	142
		E.3.3	Extracting Useful Parameters	149

### Bibliography

153

# List of Figures

1.1	Graphical depiction of terrestrial energy resources	2
1.2	Light absorption depicted in a hypothetical semiconductor.	3
1.3	AM1.5G spectrum power and photocurrent spectral density	5
1.4	Hypothetical LIV curve for a solar cell	6
1.5	Depiction of multiple junction solar cells minimizing thermalization loss and	
	maximizing spectral use	8
1.6	Historical chart of best research cell efficiencies	10
2.1	Schematic depiction of nano- and microwire growth	15
2.2	Typical eutectic phase diagram	16
2.3	Schematic of vapor-liquid-solid growth on a typical eutectic phase diagram.	17
2.4	SEM images of a Si microwire array	18
2.5	Lattice mismatch and detailed balance efficiency of a $GaAs_yP_{1-y}/Si_{1-x}Ge_x$	
	tandem	20
2.6	SEM micrograph of disordered SiGe wire growth	23
2.7	SEM images of SiGe microwire arrays with increasing Ge precursor flow $\ . \ .$	25
2.8	Growth rate and Ge content versus input $GeCl_4$ flow rate $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	26
2.9	SEM image of attempts to grow higher Ge content microwire arrays	27
2.10	SEM images of SiGe microwire arrays grown for long periods of time at	
	maximum Ge flow	28
2.11	Morphological comparison of Si wires grown at elevated temperatures and	
	SiGe wire arrays	29
2.12	Schematic of inward sidewall facet formation mechanism	30
2.13	XRD spectrum of representative wire array	30
2.14	XRD rocking curves of (333) peak	32
2.15	Symmetric (111) and asymmetric (153) peaks of a $Si_{0.88}Ge_{0.12}$ wire array .	33
2.16	Radial X-TEM of a single phase SiGe microwire	34
2.17	Axial X-TEM of a single phase SiGe wire	35
2.18	HRXRD of phase pure and two-phase SiGe microwire arrays	37
2.19	STEM and EDAX of axial cross sections of single and double phase SiGe wires	38
2.20	EDAX spectra from double phase SiGe wire cross section	39

3.1	Lattice mismatch and detailed balance efficiency of a $Ga_{1-u}In_uP/Si$ tandem	42
3.2	Metamorphic and pillar based strain relief	43
3.3	Geometries of simulated lattice matched $GaAs_{0.9}P_{0.1}/Si_{0.1}Ge_{0.9}$ tandem .	44
3.4	Initial results of GaP growth on wire arrays	48
3.5	SEM image of branched GaP nanowires	50
3.6	Geometries enabled by selective epitaxy	50
3.7	XRD and TEM characterization of "conformal" growth	52
3.8	XRD and TEM characterization of "spherical" geometry.	53
3.9	Planar GaInP graded stack with luminescence on GaP (001)	54
3.10	HAADF STEM images of GaInP graded buffer on microwire with HRTEM	
	of GaP/Si interface	56
3.11	EDAX mapping of the GaInP graded buffer on Si microwire	57
3.12	EDAX linescan of the GaInP graded buffer on Si microwire	57
3.13	AlInP/GaInP/AlInP double heterostructure grown on a Si microwire	59
3.14	TEM imaging of the AlInP/GaInP/AlInP double heterostructure	60
3.15	$\Sigma$ 3 microtwinning at the GaP/Si interface	61
3.16	EDAX line profile of Ga, In, and Al composition in weight percent	62
3.17	Effective growth rate of wire arrays as a function of exposed height	63
3.18	TEM of a GaP layer grown on a wire with $R_{eff} > 1$	64
3.19	TEM of a GaP layer grown on a wire with $R_{eff} < 1$	65
4.1	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire	71
$4.1 \\ 4.2$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys	71 73
$4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a	71 73
$4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys	71 73 74
<ul><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li><li>4.4</li></ul>	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74
<ul><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li><li>4.4</li></ul>	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74 75
<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> </ul>	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74 75
<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> </ul>	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74 75 77
$ \begin{array}{r} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ \end{array} $	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> </ul>
$ \begin{array}{r} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ \end{array} $	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> </ul>
$ \begin{array}{r} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ \end{array} $	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> </ul>
$ \begin{array}{r} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ \end{array} $	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74 75 77 80 82 82
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> <li>87</li> <li>90</li> </ul>
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> <li>87</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> </ul>
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.4 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	71 73 74 75 77 80 82 87 90 92 93
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.4 \\ 5.5 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> <li>87</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> <li>93</li> <li>94</li> </ul>
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.4 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.6 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> <li>87</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> <li>93</li> <li>94</li> <li>95</li> </ul>
$\begin{array}{c} 4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.4 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.6 \\ 5.7 \end{array}$	Geometry and band diagram of highly mismatched growth on a Si wire Interpolated complex refractive indices for $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$ alloys Modelled device geometry and band diagram of graded buffer growth on a Si wire	<ul> <li>71</li> <li>73</li> <li>74</li> <li>75</li> <li>77</li> <li>80</li> <li>82</li> <li>87</li> <li>90</li> <li>92</li> <li>93</li> <li>94</li> <li>95</li> <li>96</li> </ul>

5.9	PVTEM of GaP on Si (112) and Si (001) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	100
A.1	Schematic of the large area wire CVD growth chamber.	105
C.1	SEM and FIB images of procedures done on the host or sacrificial substrate	113
D.1 D.2 D.3 D.4	Overview of reactor components	119 120 121 122
E.1 E.2	Basic workflow in swb for the optical simulations of a wire tandem device . Basic workflow in swb for the device simulations of a wire tandem device .	127 142

# List of Tables

3.1	Typical growth conditions of GaP and GaInP on wire arrays	47
4.1	Layer parameters for simulated wire array tandem device	72
4.2	Layer parameters for simulated wire array tandem device	76
4.3	Optical generation current in mA $\rm cm^{-2}$ of the spectral windows for each cell	
	and integrated from the simulated optical generation maps for the wire and	
	planar geometries.	77
4.4	Simulated highly mismatched growth tandem device performance as a func-	
	tion of top cell SRH lifetime	78
4.5	SRV's for device simulations	80
4.6	Summary of PV figures of merit from simulated LIV measurements of wire	
	and planar devices	80
4.7	Mobilities assumed in device simulations	81
D.1	List of MOCVD precursors and their properties	117
D.2	Group III precursor labels	121
D.3	Group V precursor labels	122
D.4	Gas source precursor labels	122
E.1	List of Sentaurus tools used during simulation	126

The content of this thesis has been drawn from the following publications.

- C. T. Chen, S. Aloni, R. Saive, H. S. Emmer, and H. A. Atwater, "Antiphase domain free growth of GaP on Si (112) with metalorganic chemical vapor deposition," *in preparation*.
- C. T. Chen, H. S. Emmer, D. B. Turner-Evans, S. Aloni, and H. A. Atwater, "Cu-Catalyzed Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of SiGe Microwire Arrays with Chlorosilane and Chlorogermane Precursors," *Crystal Growth and Design*, doi 10.1021/acs.cgd.5b00097.
- C. T. Chen, H. S. Emmer, S. Aloni, and H. A. Atwater, "GaP/Si Heterojunction Solar Cells," in *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42<sup>nd</sup> IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- C. T. Chen, D. B. Turner-Evans, H. S. Emmer, S. A. Aloni, and H. A. Atwater, "Design and Growth of III-V on Si Microwire Array Tandem Solar Cells," in *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2013 39<sup>th</sup> IEEE, Tampa, FL, 2013, pp. 3397-3401.

Dedicated to my parents, 邵正虹and 陳惠僑, for their neverending support and love in all of my endeavors.

### Chapter 1

# Introduction

#### 1.1 Energy, Climate, and the 21st Century

As put forward by Richard Smalley in his "Terawatt Challenge" [78], energy and atmospheric  $CO_2$  are among the most pressing challenges facing the world in the nascent 21st century.

The greenhouse effect was discovered by Joseph Fourier in 1820. When he considered the energy balance between the sun and the Earth, he found that the temperature of the Earth was only sustainable if the atmosphere absorbed some thermal energy. Over the past 200 years, it has become common knowledge that  $CO_2$ , whether of natural or anthropogenic origin, is a major contributor to greenhouse warming of the atmosphere. Furthermore,  $CO_2$  concentrations in the atmosphere have reached their highest level in 800,000 years at 402 ppm.<sup>1</sup> Atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels pose a serious threat to the chemistry of the atmosphere and oceans. The Intergovermental Panel on Climate Change is certain that both the Earth's atmosphere and ocean have seen increases in temperature since the 1950's and that some of the changes observed are very significant.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, 95% of scientists agree that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, "Greenhouse gas benchmark reached."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>IPCC, Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis - Summary for Policymakers, Observed Changes in the Climate System, p.2

greenhouse gas emissions and other human activities have likely caused the majority of this warming effect.<sup>3</sup> The potential consquences of greenhouse gas induced warming are quite dire, with dramatic impacts on coastal communities, rainfall, and glacial ice.

Higher atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels will also lead to acidification as the gas is absorbed into the world's oceans [3], leading to disruption of aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems worldwide. One example of this is with coral, which may simply dissolve [62]. The potential impacts of this and other disruptions to marine ecosystems cannot be understated.



FIGURE 1.1: Graphical depiction of annual renewable energy potential and total nonrenewable energy reserves compared to annual energy consumption. Based on R. Perez, "A Fundamental Look at Energy Reserves of the Planet," 2009.

Currently the energy market is dominated by fossil fuels in the form of coal, oil, and natural gas. Fossil fuels do have tremendous advantages in energy density and stability. However,

 $<sup>^{3}\</sup>mathrm{IPCC},$  Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report - Summary for Policymakers

alternative energy technologies will become economically viable as the costs of finding new fossil fuel sources and higher atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations increase. By far the most plentiful and sustainable source of energy is found in solar radiation. As depicted pictorially in Figure 1.1, incident sunlight on the surface of the Earth represents a total energy three orders of magnitude greater than total world energy consumption and dwarfs the total potential annual renewable energy production of both other renewable technologies and the terrestrial reserves of non-renewable sources of energy.

#### 1.2 Photovoltaics

#### 1.2.1 The photovoltaic effect



FIGURE 1.2: Light absorption depicted in a hypothetical semiconductor.

Harnessing the energy potential of incident solar radiation requires the conversion of electromagnetic energy into a useful form. This can be done by taking advantage of the photovoltaic effect in semiconductor materials. Semiconductors are characterized by an energy bandgap which separates bound electrons in the valence from free electrons in the conduction band. Photons with energy greater than or equal to the bandgap can be absorbed by the semiconductor, promoting an electron from the bound energy band into the free electron energy band (Figure 1.2). Photoexcited electrons in the conduction band leave behind empty states in the valence band. These empty states, or holes, behave like positively charged particles, and electrons in the conduction band can recombine with holes in the valence band. Energy in excess of the bandgap is quickly lost by thermalization, while light with energy less than the bandgap is not absorbed and is simply transmitted through the material. Generation of electron hole pairs and their collection at contacts of opposite polarity are the basis of photovoltaic devices.

#### 1.2.2 The solar resource

Light absorption by various components of the atmosphere, most notably water and greenhouse gases, reduces the incident flux and power of solar irradiation by about 18% [28]. Furthermore, light is scattered by molecules and particulates, resulting in the scattering of 3% to space and 7% to Earth [28], resulting in a considerable fraction of diffuse light. Standard spectra are derived from the standard space spectrum, AM0, where AM stands for air mass index  $(AM = (\cos \theta)^{-1})$ , where  $\theta$  is the angle of incidence). Almost all measurements are typically done with the AM1.5G or global spectrum, which includes diffuse light contributions, or the AM1.5D or direct spectrum, which only includes direct light [1]. The AM1.5G spectrum is plotted in Figure 1.3.



FIGURE 1.3: AM1.5G spectrum power and photocurrent spectral density. Figure courtesy of Dr. Michael Kelzenberg.

#### 1.2.3 Photovoltaic devices

Figure 1.4 depicts the current-voltage plot of a hypothetical solar cell for both illuminated (light IV, LIV) and dark conditions. In the dark, a solar cell behaves much like a typical diode. Under illumination, current generated by absorbed light can be collected at the contacts of the device.

At open circuit, the generated electron-hole pairs are separated by electric fields in the device and recombine slowly. The difference in population of carriers on either side of the junction results in a potential difference between the two contacts, known as the open circuit voltage ( $V_{OC}$ ). Intuitively, the  $V_{OC}$  will decrease with increasing defect or impurity



FIGURE 1.4: Hypothetical LIV curve for a solar cell.

density, as an increase in the recombination rate will reduce the number of generated charge carriers, resulting in a lower potential difference. The  $V_{OC}$  is thus a good measure of carrier recombination in the bulk or at the surfaces of a photovoltaic device.

At short circuit, current can flow freely through the device, and charge carriers recombine at the contacts. This results in the short circuit current  $(J_{SC})$ , which corresponds to the amount of optical generation in the material.

The maximum power point of a photovoltaic device is represented here schematically as  $P_m = J_m \cdot V_m$ . An ideal photovoltaic device will have a maximum power point  $P_m^{ideal} = J_{SC} \cdot V_{OC}$ . The fill fraction, FF, is the ratio of  $P_m^{ideal}$  and  $P_m$ , represented graphically by the ratio between the areas of the gray and green regions in Figure 1.4.

$$FF = \frac{P_m}{J_{SC} \cdot V_{OC}} \tag{1.1}$$

The efficiency,  $\eta$ , is simply the ratio of  $P_m$  and the total power input from the sun,  $P_{in} = 100 \text{ mW cm}^{-2}$  for the AM1.5G spectrum.

$$\eta = \frac{J_{SC} \cdot V_{OC} \cdot FF}{P_i n} \tag{1.2}$$

#### 1.2.4 Limits of photovoltaic efficiency

The "detailed balance" or Shockley-Queisser limit [75] represents an upper bounds on the efficiency of photovoltaic light absorption can be calculated. In this approximation, the sun is treated as a black body and the absorption and emission of the solar cell is calculated assuming all of the above bandgap light is absorbed. The difference between the absorption and emission is the current of the device, which can then be used to calculate other thermodynamic quantities. In this approximation, ideal single junction absorbers are limited to  $\sim$  33% efficiency [75]. By taking into account inherent losses, single junction solar cells have a theoretical maximum of 29.8% efficiency [84]. The greatest source of loss in a single junction solar cell is due to carrier thermalization [67]. By incorporating multiple cells, the energy in the solar spectrum can be extracted in a more optimal manner, as depicted in Figure 1.5. By moving to a multijunction architecture, the detailed balance efficiency is greatly increased; without considering any constraints on the choice of bandgaps, an ideal tandem cell has 42.2% detailed balance AM1.5G efficiency, while an ideal triple junction cell has a detailed balance efficiency of 47.2% [5].

#### 1.2.5 A photovoltaics renaissance

Global energy consumption in 2012 was 104,406 TWh.<sup>4</sup> The global energy business is a multi-trillion dollar business. Energy production with solar photovoltaics represents a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>International Energy Agency, "Key World Energy Statistics,"

http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/keyworld2014.pdf



FIGURE 1.5: Multijunction solar cells reduce loss from the thermalization of electrons excited by above bandgap photons to the conduction band edge and recovers energy from below bandgap photons compared to a single junction.

market opportunity that can capitalize on the desire for distributed energy generation and the impending impacts of climate change.

In the past ten years, photovoltaics have gone from a niche industry to a significant contributor to the future energy landscape in the US. As of 2015, the photovoltaics industry has outstripped flat panel displays to become the largest optoelectronic industry, and, furthermore, photovoltaics is now approaching the scale of the complementary metal oxide semiconductor industry. Deutsche Bank now predicts that solar will reach grid parity in 80% of world markets by 2017.<sup>5</sup>

Silicon is the dominant technology in the microelectronics and photovoltaics industries. However, the capabilities afforded by silicon-based technologies are rapidly approaching their limits. After years of following Moore's Law, the size of silicon transistor technologies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Deutche Bank, "Deutsche Bank's 2015 solar outlook: accelerating investment and cost competitiveness." https://www.db.com/cr/en/concrete-deutsche-banks-2015-solar-outlook.htm

is rapidly approaching a minimum practical limit. Silicon solar cells have reached record efficiencies of 25.6% [50] after over a decade of the 25.0% world record [23]. 25% efficiency has been demonstrated with a manufacturable process [79].



FIGURE 1.6: Historical chart of best research cell efficiencies compiled by the National Center for Photovoltaics. This plot is courtesy of the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO.

Group III-V compound semiconductors have been used in a diverse array of electronic and optoelectronic capacities, enabling faster transistors, better power electronics, efficient and tunable light sources in the form of light emitting diodes and semiconductor lasers, and high performance single and multijunction photovoltaic devices. Chief among their strengths is a direct bandgap, affording strong light absorption and emission characteristics, and the ability to tune the bandgap from near the ultraviolet to the near-infrared by making two, three, or even higher number component alloy systems. Photovoltaic devices based on these materials hold many of the efficiency records (Figure 1.6), a testament to the significant advantages that they possess compared to crystalline silicon or other thin film compound semiconductor technologies.

Despite their merits, solar cells based on Group III-V compound semiconductors are limited in their application by cost. Ge, GaAs, and InP wafers are much more expensive than Si, in part due to the lack of economies of scale and, in the case of the Group III-V compound semiconductors, challenges in growing high quality material. High quality materials are deposited using chemical vapor deposition or evaporation processes. Expense is incurred due to the low rate of deposition, chemical precursors, and vacuum requirements. Even with wafer reuse through epitaxial liftoff, estimates of cost place single junction GaAs solar cell production at \$13/W today [94]. By switching to a tandem Group III-V compound semiconductor/Si device, efficiencies greater than a single junction can be reached with significantly lower cost today (\$4/W, [94]).

#### **1.3** Scope of this thesis

In the timespan of my doctoral work, the landscape of the solar photovoltaic device industry has been upended by very inexpensive, high performance Si solar cells. At the outset, the high quality Si wafers were thought to be too expensive, and much effort was placed into looking for competing thin film technologies. This motivated the work on Si microwire array growth in the Atwater group as a route towards eliminating Si wafers from the cost equation through layer release and wafer reuse. However, energy conversion efficiency is the most leveraging property of a photovoltaic device, and these arrays would be limited to lower efficiencies due to high incorporation of the metallic catalyst during growth. Higher efficiences can be achieved by integrating Group III-V compound semiconductor top cells. This forms the motivation for my work on Group IV alloy microwire growth and the investigations of Group III-V compound semiconductor on wire array structures experimentally and computationally.

- Chapter 2 Group IV alloy microwire array growth
   SiGe microwire arrays were grown to enable lattice matched growth of tandem III-V/SiGe microwire solar cells with high efficiency. Lattice matching typically results in higher material quality and reduces cost by eliminating lengthy growth of step-graded buffers to grow highly mismatched materials [94].
- Chapter 3 Group III-V compound semiconductor growth on Si microwire arrays The growth of Group III-V compound semiconductors on Si microwire arrays was explored. Si microwires initally served as an analogue for SiGe microwire substrates with nearly lattice matched growth of GaP. Direct growth of highly mismatched GaInP was pursued in lieu of high Ge content SiGe microwire arrays.
- Chapter 4 Optoelectronic design of Group III-V compound semiconductor on Si microwire tandem cells

Coupled full-wave optical and drift-diffusion device physics simulations were performed to elucidate the performance potential of GaInP on Si microwire array tandem cells.

• Chapter 5 – MOCVD of GaP on Si for c-Si photovoltaics

In the last chapter, epitaxial GaP is grown on Si substrate, with potential application as a heterojunction partner or as a virtual substrate for GaAsP or GaInP top cell growth. Modern growth techniques and characterization were applied to growth on Si (112) and Si (001) substrates. High quality layers are realized on Si (112).

#### 1.4 Contributions to this thesis

Dr. Mike Kelzenberg, Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans, and Hal Emmer rehabilitated and automated the Si wire array growth CVD and added the ability to grow with GeCl<sub>4</sub>. I had very minor contributions in building a small He leak testing cart around an SRS RGA200 residual gas analyzer to assist in the process. Their many man-hours of leak testing, LabView coding, and troubleshooting made the SiGe wire array growth work possible.

Hal Emmer was a vital partner in the growth of SiGe wire arrays. We worked together in preparing growth substrates, developing growth parameters and initial characterization with optical microscopy and SEM. Hal's contributions to our characterization were invaluable – he led the efforts on getting high quality SEM images and EDS compositional analysis. Not included in this thesis are his efforts to measure the electronic properties of the wires (which proved to be no easy task, thanks to the extreme taper of the wires) and his work on optical measurements of the SiGe wire array bandgaps with absorption and photoconductivity.

Dr. Emily Warmann provided the detailed balance code used to generate isoefficiency contours for series connected tandem cells under 1 sun AM1.5G illumination.

In addition to the upkeep of the D-Star MOCVD at the Molecular Foundry, Shaul Aloni provided valuable support and advice throughout. He performed some of the TEM characterization and analysis in the work on SiGe microwires and GaInP on Si microwire arrays. Tevye Kuykendall also provided assistance with the care and feeding of the MOCVD from time to time. Virginia Altoe made sure the SEM's were running and assisted with some of the TEM characterization.

### Chapter 2

# Group IV semiconductor alloy microwire array growth

#### 2.1 Background

#### 2.1.1 Vapor-liquid-solid growth with a metal catalyst

Metal catalyzed vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) growth of silicon was discovered in 1964 [89]. Even at that early time, there was some interest in studying the growth [19] and properties of the "whiskers" that resulted. The confluence of interest in "nano"-sized materials and the development of robust and readily available nanoscale characterization methods in the early 2000's led to an explosion in research into the fundamental growth mechanisms, materials properties, and applications of nanowires. As depicted in Figure 2.1, substrates for VLS growth are prepared with a layer of the metal catalyst deposited either as a thin film or in colloid form. After heating, the metal melts and forms droplets in contact with the substrate surface. Introduction of the constituent elements of the semiconductor of interest as chemical precursors or from a pulsed laser plume. VLS growth is named due to the presence of all three phases during the growth. It has been successfully applied to many materials systems, including but not limited to Si [89], Ge [19], GaAs [49], InP [90], and alloys therein for the Group IV semiconductors and Group III-V compound semiconductors.



FIGURE 2.1: Schematic of a typical vapor-liquid-solid growth process.

The VLS growth process takes advantage of the thermodynamics of alloy formation and phase formation upon cooling. To illustrate this, it is necessary to review a simple eutectic temperature vs. composition phase diagram. Figure 2.2 depicts a simple eutectic phase diagram for hypothetical elements "A" and "B." There are several things to note about this phase diagram. First, the eutectic point, at which solid and liquid phases are in equilibrium, exists at the temperature  $T_{eutectic}$  and composition  $x_{eutectic}$ . At temperatures higher than  $T_{eutectic}$ , a mixture of A and B at  $x_{eutectic}$  is liquid, and below  $T_{eutectic}$  the mixture is solid. If you add more of A or B to the system, the system will begin to form solid material of the same material. VLS exploits these principles in growing one material, such as Si, with a metal catalyst.

Figure 2.3 depicts a typical VLS growth process for Si wires on a Si substrate with a metal catalyst. First, the catalyst is heated to the eutectic temperature (1). At this point, the metal begins to react with the Si substrate, incorporating Si until it reaches  $x_{eutectic}$  (2). As it is heated past  $T_{eutectic}$ , the catalyst liquifies and forms a droplet on the wafer surface (3). Then Si is introduced in the form of a physical or gaseous source, such as SiCl<sub>4</sub>. This increases the amount of Si in the catalyst droplet until it is favorable to form solid Si (4). Solid material nucleates at the catalyst/Si interface, starting the wire growth until Si is no



longer delivered to the droplet. Finally, the wires are cooled to room temperature, leaving a solid wire with a solid catalyst particle at the tip of the wire (5).

FIGURE 2.2: Typical eutectic phase diagram.

#### 2.1.2 Silicon microwire array photovoltaics

The Atwater and Lewis groups at Caltech began their forays into nanowire-type photovoltaics through theoretical investigations by Dr. Brendan Kayes [31]. Employing analytical solutions to Poisson's equation in the radial junction geometry, he found that wire type geometries could tolerate low minority carrier diffusion lengths, but perhaps the most surprising insight was found in a much larger optimal size scale than typically explored by others in the nanowire community, with radii on the order of 1-1.5  $\mu$ m versus 100-300 nm [15, 35, 36]. Due to the very small volumes of semiconductor materials in these structures, wires with smaller radii are much more sensitive to variations in doping density; in extreme cases, errors in doping density can lead to a fully depleted wire with disastrous


FIGURE 2.3: Schematic of vapor-liquid-solid growth on a typical eutectic phase diagram.

effects on carrier transport. Experimental work in realizing ensembles of wires culminated in lithographically patterned arrays of Au and Cu-catalyzed Si wires grown at atmospheric pressure with silicon tetrachloride in H<sub>2</sub> ambient with a hot wall, home-built CVD at 1000 °C [32]. Furthermore, after infilling the wire arrays with polymeric material it was possible to use a razor blade to "peel" the wires from the wafer surface [66]. After peel-off, the arrays were decoupled from the wafer in a flexible membrane, and the substrate could be reused for further wire array growth [81].



FIGURE 2.4: SEM images of a Si microwire array viewed from 30° off normal incidence (left) and from normal incidence (right).

After these initial successes, silicon microwire arrays became the foundation of several dissertations in the area of photovoltaic and photoelectrochemical devices. The highly ordered nature of the wire arrays coupled with their near-wavelength scale feature size makes them fantastic optical absorbers, which lends itself well to both applications. Dr. Michael Kelzenberg performed a thorough experimental study of the optical properties of the wire arrays and compared them to full-wave finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) simulations of the wire array, where he found that wire array exceeded the  $4n^2$  limit in the infrared [33]. The limits of photovoltaic performance were explored experimentally with single wires by Dr. Kelzenberg [34] and in small ensembles of wires by Dr. Morgan Putnam [69], where the experimentally demonstrated limits of efficiency were 17% and 8%, respectively. Large area growth on 6" wafer substrates was also demonstrated, an initial step towards mass production of Si microwire material (see Appendix A).

To further extend the possibilities afforded by microwire arrays in photovoltaics, my thesis work has focused on making devices more efficient by enabling the growth of SiGe alloys. We investigated growing  $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$  alloys with silicon and germanium tetrachloride. Our goal was to achieve full tunability across the entirety of the materials system, thereby enabling near lattice matched tandem device growth for detailed balance efficiencies exceeding 40%. While we fell short of this goal, our results yield a temperature and process window in which the highly ordered array geometry can be achieved with Ge content up to 12%. Furthermore, we identify the catalyst as a reservoir in Ge-rich gas phase compositions.

# 2.2 SiGe microwire array growth

 $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  microwire arrays could serve as the basis for increasing the intrinsic efficiency potential of wire array solar cells. Higher efficiencies can be achieved by introducing a high bandgap top cell material onto the wires to create a tandem device. The Group III-V compound semiconductor alloys are ideally suited for such an application, but alloys with the ideal 1.7 eV bandgap are heavily lattice mismatched with respect to Si, making the growth of such materials quite challenging. A  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  bottom cell would allow for high theoretical efficiencies (> 40%) with minimal lattice mismatch when paired with a  $GaAs_yP_{1-y}$  top cell (Figure 2.5). Realizing these tandem devices requires both the development of the SiGe wire array bottom cell and the Group III-V compound semiconductor top cell, which will be covered in Chapter 3. Optoelectronic simulation assisted design of wire array tandem cells will be discussed in Chapter 4. Realizing SiGe wire array growth requires a suitable catalyst and catalyst for the VLS growth process.

#### 2.2.1 Prior work on SiGe nanowires

SiGe nanowires have been of particular interest for the ability to independently tune composition and size [2]. A majority of the existing work in the literature has been focused on vapor-liquid-solid growth of  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  nanowires using silane and germane precursors with Au catalysts at low pressures [27, 30, 42, 44, 45, 70, 98], and full compositional control has



FIGURE 2.5: Lattice mismatch of a  $GaAs_{1-y}P_y/Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  tandem overlaid on detailed balance efficiency under AM1.5G illumination. Detailed balance calculations performed by Emily Warmann.

been demonstrated [18, 42]. Significant progress has been made in the development of axial [16, 93] and radial heterostructures with sharp interfaces. In contrast to much of the existing work, atmospheric pressure Cu-catalyzed vapor-liquid-solid growth with tetrachlorosilane has been shown to generate vertically aligned, monodisperse arrays of microwires with micron scale diameters and heights. However, retaining the benefits of Cu versus Au catalyst has implications on the thermodynamics of VLS growth.

#### 2.2.2 Catalyst selection

Au is typically the catalyst metal of choice for VLS growth due to the lack of secondary phases with a most materials, which which Si [58] and Ge [59] are good examples. In contrast, Cu has several secondary phases in its phase diagram with Si [60]. However, this has not been shown to be an issue in the growth of wire arrays with Cu catalysts. Ge growth also looks like it is possible for Cu catalysts, with a similarly complicated phase diagram [61]. However, one issue that stands out is the difference in eutectic temperature for Cu-Si versus Cu-Ge at 802 °C and 640 °C, respectively. This could lead to issues in the driving force for formation of Ge versus Si-rich alloys. There is also a slight difference in the solubility limits of Si and Ge in liquid Cu at 31% and 36%, respectively. However, despite these hurdles to growth with Cu catalyst, Au was never considered due to its extreme effect on electronic properties.

#### 2.2.3 Precursor selection

Finally, the choice of Ge precursor was made for  $\text{GeCl}_4$ , as it has decomposition temperatures more similar to  $\text{SiCl}_4$  than  $\text{GeH}_4$ . No recent work using  $\text{GeCl}_4$  has been reported for SiGe nanowire growth, although it was one of the first "whisker" growth precursors [19]. Soman *et al.* found that in thin film growth contamination from adventitious Ge species on reactor surfaces made growth with  $\text{GeCl}_4$  less reproducible than  $\text{GeH}_4$  [80]. This presented problems during experimental realization of SiGe microwire arrays.

#### 2.2.4 Experimental approach

We prepared high purity (6N, Alfa Aesar) Cu-catalyst decorated Si (111) substrates using standard photolithographic liftoff processes as described earlier (see Section A.1.1). Substrates were cleaved into  $1 \times 1$  cm pieces and loaded onto a quartz boat, which was then inserted into the CVD tube at 750 °C with N<sub>2</sub> flow. The "Big Blue" system was then evacuated and refilled with research grade  $H_2$  up to just above atmospheric pressure before opening the exhaust valve to the scrubber. The CVD tube was then heated to 1000 °C under  $H_2$  flow and allowed to reach thermal equilibrium before precursor introduction. Typical growth parameters include 1 slm of  $H_2$  carrier gas, bubbled  $H_2$  carrier gas through a nominally 32 °C GeCl<sub>4</sub> cylinder, and collection of the overpressure from a SiCl<sub>4</sub> cylinder heated to 85 °C. These values correspond to molar flow rates of 0-98  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> GeCl<sub>4</sub>, 430  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> SiCl<sub>4</sub>, and 4 × 10<sup>4</sup>  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>2</sub>. After growth, samples were cooled slowly to 750 °C inside the tube with an H<sub>2</sub> purge during the initial stage of the cool transitioning to a N<sub>2</sub> purge. The tube was then evacuated and refilled with N<sub>2</sub> before being pulled out of the hot zone of the CVD furnace for a faster cool to near room temperature.

As the conditions for growing high fidelity, high Ge content SiGe microwire arrays lie in a fairly large phase space, we decided to split the problem into two separate approaches. Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans focused on pure Ge wire array growth on Si and Ge substrates, and his results are reported in his thesis [85]. Our approach was to start with good Si wire array growth conditions and to slowly introduce Ge. Best results were obtained by starting with the reactor in a state which produces high fidelity Si microwire arrays before slowly increasing the amount of GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow from run to run. The quality of the wire array growth was evaluated first by eye and then by using the Hitachi S-4100 FE-SEM tool. Growth proceeded iteratively using feedback from the previous run before steady state conditions were reached. Periodically, wire array growth would become highly disordered (Figure 2.6), which we attribute to sidewall deposition of Ge containing species [80]. This behavior could be rectified by coating the inside of the reactor with silicon by doing multiple silicon wire array growths. Similar behavior was also found by cleaning the tube with anhydrous HCl gas at 1100 °C under nitrogen flow.

High resolution SEM imaging was done on an FEI Nova 200 dual beam SEM/FIB system by first aligning to the growth axis and then tilting to 30° off normal incidence. Energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS) was also performed to measure composition using an Ametek



FIGURE 2.6: SEM micrograph of disordered SiGe microwire array growth resulting from air introduced through a leak in the reactor or tube contamination by Ge containing species.

EDAX Genesis 7000 with a sapphire detector. High resolution x-ray diffractometry was performed on a Panalytical X'Pert Pro, with a hybrid x-ray mirror/2-bounce monochromator and a  $3 \times 220$  Ge analyzer with a sealed Xe proportional detector. Reciprocal space maps were collected after first aligning to the (111) or (153) peak of the Si substrate. Relaxation was calculated using the methodology of Zhylik *et al.* [99] (described in Appendix B) and comparing the calculated composition to the composition measured using EDS. Electron transparent radial and axial cross sections of single wires were prepared using standard focused ion beam milling techniques in either a FEI Nova 600 or FEI Versa 3D dual beam system as described in Appendix C. TEM characterization in this work was done on a JEOL 2100-F 200 kV FE-TEM and a FEI Technai TF30UT 300 kV FE-TEM.

# 2.3 SiGe microwire morphology and composition

In general, as the flow of GeCl<sub>4</sub> was increased, the morphology of the wires began to develop a tapered geometry (Figure 2.7). At low GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow rates, the wire arrays appear to be very similar to their pure Si counterparts, and a close look reveals the introduction of small inwards sloping facets parallel to the growth front and perpendicular to the growth direction. At relatively high GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow rates, the wires are very heavily tapered, with significant faceting on the sidewalls of the wires parallel to the growth front. As expected, the Ge content of the wire arrays increase with increasing Ge flow. The calculated gas phase composition ([Ge]/[IV]) is always greater than that of the resulting wire array. The difference could be the result of differences between the reactivity of chlorogermane and chlorosilane on the catalyst or the sidewalls, leading to differences in the supersaturated catalyst or gas phase compositions, respectively. The growth rate also changes dramatically, falling from 7  $\mu$ m min<sup>-1</sup> to 1  $\mu$ m min<sup>-1</sup> as Ge molar flow fraction was increased to 18.6% (Figure 2.8). In fact, attempts to grow with a gas phase Ge molar fraction of 25.7% resulted in little to no growth (Figure 2.9). The changes in morphology and growth rate were unexpected and became a significant focus of our investigation.



FIGURE 2.7: Scanning electron micrographs of  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  wire arrays grown with increasing GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow rates and constant SiCl<sub>4</sub> flow for 10 minutes. The growth rate drops from 7  $\mu$ m min<sup>-1</sup> at the lowest to 1  $\mu$ m min<sup>-1</sup> at the highest [Ge]/[IV] ratio. Inward sidewall facets are marked with red arrows. SEM images collected by Hal Emmer.



FIGURE 2.8: Growth rate and Ge content as a function  $GeCl_4$  flow.

As the growth time is increased at [Ge]/[IV] = 18.6%, tapering of the wire continues with large sidewall facets oriented perpendicular to the growth direction along the length of the wire and a clear reduction in the volume of the catalyst particle (Figure 2.10). Despite the tapering, the wires can be grown to 60  $\mu$ m in height, which has been shown by Kelzenberg *et al.* [33] to be necessary for full absorption of the solar spectrum.

Reports of Si and SiGe tapered nanowire growth have attributed tapered wires to undesired sidewall deposition [44, 68] and in-situ etching of the metal catalyst [44, 63]. Hannon *et al.* observed similar faceting in Si nanowires after introducing a growth interruption, which they attributed to catalyst migration between the first and second growth phase [25]. Pure Si microwire arrays were grown at elevated temperatures of 1050 °C and 1100 °C to encourage etching and evaporation of the catalyst during the growth process. The resulting wire arrays had morphologies, depicted in Figure 2.11, were more or less identical to those observed



FIGURE 2.9: Scanning electron micrographs of SiGe microwire arrays grown with [Ge]/[IV] = 18.6% (left) and 25.7% (right).

for the SiGe wire arrays, which is clear evidence of increased catalyst removal with higher GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow rates.

The sidewall faceting likely results from competing energetics when catalyst material is removed; cylindrical growth is normally stable [56], but the catalyst size, and therefore shape, is perturbed until it is energetically favorable for the catalyst diameter to reduce, returning to the preferred shape while creating non-vertical solid wire surfaces. A similar effect is likely responsible for the wide wire bases, due to the difference in the surface energy between the catalyst particle and the SiO<sub>2</sub> growth mask during initiation compared to the vapor environment during growth. Step by step, our proposed mechanism for the wire faceting is depicted in Figure 2.12 and proceeds as follows:

- 1. Stable vertical growth proceeds with a well defined catalyst droplet contact angle.
- 2. Catalyst removal reduces droplet volume, leading to a change in the contact angle and an eventual depinning of the triple junction edge when a critical value is reached.



FIGURE 2.10: Wire arrays grown at [Ge]/[IV] = 18.6% for an extended period of time as imaged with scanning electron microscopy. The wires have a highly faceted, tapered morphology that persists over long growth times with minimal catalyst volume left after longer growth times. SEM images collected by Hal Emmer.



FIGURE 2.11: Morphological comparison of Si wires grown at elevated temperatures (left) and SiGe wire arrays (right). SEM images collected by Hal Emmer.

- 3. Unstable triple junction edge changes conformation while growth proceeds, leaving the inwards sloping facet.
- 4. Stable contact angle is reached and the triple junction stabilizes.
- 5. Vertical growth proceeds until catalyst removal induces another conformational change.

Reducing the  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  growth temperature to 950 °C was also attempted, and resulted in a large increase in disordered growth compared to perfect, vertical wire array growth, and we could not fairly compare its effects on the wire morphology. We attribute this change to decreased HCl sidewall etching. Attempts to grow pure Ge microwire arrays with Au and Cu catalysts at lower temperatures (800 °C) resulted in similarly disordered growths [85].

# 2.4 Crystallographic orientation

XRD is a powerful materials characterization tool that allows us to interrogate the crystallographic alignment of the wire array relative to that of the host Si (111) substrate. The large area of the x-ray beam as compared to the sample interrogates a large fraction of the wires



FIGURE 2.12: Schematic of inward sidewall facet formation mechanism. Removal of the material from the catalyst is assumed throughout and labeled with a red arrow. Vertical wire growth proceeds with some contact angle (1), becomes unstable after removal of enough catalyst (2), unpins the triple junction while vertical growth continues (3) before reaching a new equilibrium (4) where vertical growth proceeds (5) until the process repeats.



FIGURE 2.13: Representative XRD spectrum of SiGe wire arrays showing crystallographically oriented growth matching the Si(111) growth substrate. Intensity is plotted on a logarithmic scale.

on any given sample. As found with their pure Si wire array counterparts, the SiGe wire arrays are single phase and aligned epitaxially with the growth substrate (a representative x-ray spectrum is shown in Figure 2.13).

In mismatched epitaxial growth, the epilayer typically grows initially as a strained layer on top of the host substrate material. As growth proceeds, the strain energy eventually exceeds the energy required to nucleate strain relieving defects in the crystal lattice in the form of dislocations. Wire-type structures have been found to allow stress relief by their radial geometry; since the wire is not constrained by the crystal lattice of the substrate or other epitaxially grown materials, it can relieve strain radially without the formation of dislocations or other defects. However, this effect has been primarily explored in the realm of nanoscale structures, and even they are not immune to the formation of other undesirable defects, such as phase separation [54]. Thus, it is of import to determine the mechanism of strain relief in the SiGe wire arrays.

Clear shifts in the  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  rocking curves of the (333) peaks can be seen as the gas phase Ge composition is increased (Figure 2.14). In fact, by cross comparing the composition of the wire arrays measured using EDS to the composition we expect from the position of the layer peak, we find that these values match, and from this we can infer that the wires are fully relaxed. However, this is by no means a fullproof derivation of the strain state, and further investigation with the measurement of asymmetric peaks is necessary to prove full relaxation. Furthermore, we see evidence of a second peak at lower  $2\theta$  values indicative of a Ge-rich phase.

#### 2.4.1 Relaxation and crystallographic defects

In general, determination of the strain state and relaxation of an epitaxial material can be done by measuring the peak positions of asymmetric peaks, which contain information about the out-of-plane and in-plane lattice constants. For substrates grown on a (111) orientation, the (135) family of peaks gives in-plane lattice constant information about



FIGURE 2.14: Three XRD  $2\theta$ - $\omega$  rocking curves of the (333) peaks of the Si substrate and the SiGe wires plotted with intensity normalized to the substrate peak.

the six equivalent [110] surface parallel directions. This, however, would require six full reciprocal space maps for a single sample, which is intractable on the Panalytical X'Pert Pro diffractometer. Instead, a single peak position at (153) was taken to provide a partial estimation of the strain state of the system. A representative set of reciprocal space maps are provided in Figure 2.15. To aid in interpretation of the data, the wire array chosen does not have a lower intensity, higher Ge-content peak. The peak positions from the asymmetrical scan were then used to compute the relaxation of the film (see Appendix B for details). All of the wire arrays measured in this way were found to be fully relaxed. To attempt to determine the mechanism of strain relief, single wires were processed into electron-transparent cross sections for characterization in the TEM.

TEM imaging of radial and axial cross sections taken along the length of a single  $Si_{0.91}Ge_{0.09}$ wire seen in Figure 2.16 are single crystalline and phase pure, consistent with the x-ray diffraction measurements. Pure Si nano- and microwires have been observed to be hexagonal or dodecagonal, corresponding to a combination of (110) and (112) facets [71, 96].



FIGURE 2.15: Reciprocal space mapping of a  $Si_{0.88}Ge_{0.12}$  wire array. (a) Scanning electron micrograph of a single wire on the substrate viewed from 30° off normal incidence. RSM's of (b) symmetric (111) and (c) asymmetric (153) layer and substrate peaks

By comparing the selected area diffraction pattern and transmission electron microscopy images, the radial facets along the length of a single  $Si_{0.91}Ge_{0.09}$  wire can also be indexed to the (110) and (112) directions. The difference in symmetry implies that the introduction of GeCl<sub>4</sub> changes the surface energy of the facets enough to cause significant changes from pure Si wire growth.

Importantly, we observed no evidence of crystalline defects in the bulk of the wires which could result from strain relief, suggesting that the strain relieves outward from the substrate axis since the wires present traction-free surfaces in these directions. Furthermore, we observed no evidence of stacking fault or twin formation associated with the surface faceting [73]. Axial cross sections along the length of wires with and without an observed Ge-rich phase in x-ray diffraction were also defect free and phase pure, without any evidence of sidewall epitaxy.



FIGURE 2.16: Radial cross sections along the length of a single  $Si_{0.91}Ge_{0.09}$  wire were characterized with transmission electron microscopy. Left - Scanning electron micrograph of wire with dashed lines overlaid on approximate radial cross section locations above a representative SAD pattern. Center - TEM of each radial cross section. Right - corresponding schematics of indexed sidewall facets below. TEM data collected by Dr. Shaul Aloni.

### 2.4.2 Determining the origin of the Ge-rich phase

The bulk crystallinity and phase purity of the wire arrays were characterized with x-ray diffraction. All wire arrays are epitaxial with respect to the substrate, but in some cases



FIGURE 2.17: Axial cross section of a second  $Si_{0.91}Ge_{0.09}$  wire sidewall and a corresponding selected area diffraction pattern. The arrow marks the location of the wire sidewall and is oriented in the [111] growth direction. Contrast at the sidewall is likely an artifact of FIB milling. TEM image collected by Dr. Shaul Aloni.

multiple  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  phases are observed. Two representative reciprocal space maps of wire arrays are presented in Figure 2.18. The reciprocal space map of the symmetric (111) peak of the highly tapered  $Si_0.91Ge_{0.09}$  wires indicates the wires are single phase and epitaxial with respect to the Si (111) substrate (Figure 2.18a). A partial determination of the strain state of the  $Si_0.91Ge_{0.09}$  wire array using the symmetrical (111) and asymmetrical (135) peak positions shows that the wires are fully relaxed. In the second case, the shorter  $Si_{0.9}Ge_{0.1}$  wire array appears to have some residual Cu catalyst, and the reciprocal space map indicates a second phase with significantly higher Ge content at much lower intensity (Figure 2.18b). While the dominant Si-rich phase is fully relaxed, the strain state of the Ge-rich phase could not be determined due to the low contribution to the diffracted signal. Overall, the presence of a Ge-rich phase did not correspond to any specific growth conditions or morphological features. To investigate the origin of this effect, cross sections of individual wires were prepared and characterized with transmission electron microscopy.

However, closer examination of the wire tips reveals the presence of a region which is compositionally distinct from the bulk of the wire or the Cu catalyst, regardless of whether the wires appeared to be single phase or double phase in x-ray diffraction measurements (Figure 2.19). The presence of this phase is clearly seen in high angle annular dark field imaging as a region appearing brighter than the bulk of the wire, suggesting significant compositional contrast, and the interface between the two regions appears to be abrupt. Energy-dispersive x-ray spectroscopic mapping of Ge, Si, and Cu reveals significant Ge enrichment in these regions compared to the bulk of the wire, sharp interfaces between the two regions, and no Cu content except beyond the noise level at the catalyst location. Point and area spectra taken from the Ge-rich regions reveal enrichment of up to  $Si_{0.43}Ge_{0.57}$  and  $Si_{0.22}Ge_{0.78}$  for the single and double phase wires, respectively. These observations imply that the catalyst is Ge-rich during the growth process, and that the second phase forms either after precursor flow has ceased or as the sample is cooled.



FIGURE 2.18: High resolution x-ray diffraction reciprocal space maps. (a) depicts the symmetric (111) peaks of the  $Si_{0.91}Ge_{0.09}$  wire array. This map is qualitatively representative of all single-phase wire arrays. The wires are fully relaxed. (b) depicts the symmetric (111) peaks of a  $Si_{0.9}Ge_{0.1}$  wire array with a second  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  peak at lower intensity and higher Ge content.



FIGURE 2.19: Axial cross sections of Si<sub>0.91</sub>Ge<sub>0.09</sub> (top row) and Si<sub>0.9</sub>Ge<sub>0.1</sub> (bottom row) wires representative of the single and double phase wire arrays, respectively. High angle annular dark field images collected with scanning transmission electron microscopy (left) of each of the wire tips reveals clear compositional contrast between the tip and bulk. Energy-dispersive spectroscopic mapping confirms this finding, revealing a Ge-rich crystal nucleating at the very tip of the wire in both cases. Point and area spectra collected in the Ge-rich regions for the single and double phase wires show compositions of Si<sub>0.43</sub>Ge<sub>0.57</sub> and Si<sub>0.22</sub>Ge<sub>0.78</sub>, respectively. Scale bars below each map measure 50 nm.

## 2.5 Outlook

As discussed earlier, the highest Ge content of 12% was achieved at [Ge]/[IV] = 18.6%, and attempts to grow with [Ge]/[IV] = 25.7% resulted in little to no growth. Our observations, namely the tapering due to catalyst removal with increasing chlorogermane flow and evidence of a Ge-rich catalyst during growth, strongly suggest that  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  wire arrays are limited to  $\leq 12\%$  Ge content when grown with Cu catalysts and chlorinated precursors at atmospheric pressure. There are several possible explanations for this. Examination of the Cu-Si and Cu-Ge phase diagrams shows a large difference in eutectic temperature (802 °C vs. 640 °C) and a small difference in the solubility of Si and Ge in liquid Cu (31% vs. 36%),



FIGURE 2.20: EDAX spectra from select regions of the double phase  $Si_{0.9}Ge_{0.1}$  wire.

both of which could play a role in the enrichment of the Cu catalyst and the reduction in growth rate due to a smaller driving force for nucleation of Ge-rich versus Si-rich alloys. While both of these issues could be mitigated by moving to Au catalyst, the minority carrier lifetime of the wire material would suffer [6, 26]. Furthermore, at growth temperatures, the liquid catalyst droplet is saturated with Si before precursors are introduced because it is in direct contact with the Si substrate, which favors initial Si-rich supersaturation. Reducing the SiCl<sub>4</sub> flow rate while keeping the GeCl<sub>4</sub> flow rate constant did not result in higher compositional content. Once growth begins, the strain energy of nucleating alloy material with increased Ge content may also play a key role in preventing higher Ge incorporation as the size of the wires leads to their strain relief behavior being more bulk-like. This would explain the Ge enrichment of the catalyst compared to the growing solid wire material. All in all, the thermodynamic limitations of growing with a Cu catalyst likely represents a fundamental limit to the growth of  $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$  alloy microwires.

Hal Emmer performed initial electronic characterization on a sample with approximately 10% Ge content, doped in-situ with a 4 SCCM flow of 0.25% BCl<sub>3</sub> diluted in H<sub>2</sub>. BCl<sub>3</sub> does not induce sidewall epitaxy in the growth of Cu-catalyzed Si or SiGe microwire arrays grown with SiCl<sub>4</sub> and GeCl<sub>4</sub>, unlike what has been reported for diborane in Au-catalyzed SiGe nanowire growth [63, 65]. This dopant flow yields resistivities of 0.1  $\Omega$ -cm in pure silicon wires. Four point probe measurements on this sample yielded a resistivity of 18.7 ± 4.3  $\Omega$ -cm, implying a lower level of doping than for growth of pure silicon microwires.

All in all, the efforts in wire arrays have yielded results suggesting that efficiencies of up to 17% are possible with the wire array devices [34]. While this may have been an interesting number in 2007 (or to a limited extent in 2009), the prevalence of cheap, high lifetime silicon wafers has made competing with silicon a very difficult proposition. However, wire arrays still possess fascinating optical properties, making them ripe for further study as analogues to material with high surface area to volume ratio and high lifetime. Another fruitful avenue of study lies in fabricating high lifetime wire arrays by using top-down etching techniques, an effort which has already begun in earnest.

# Chapter 3

# Group III-V compound semiconductor growth on Si microwire arrays

# 3.1 Background

As mentioned earlier, the goal of this work is to enable a high efficiency, Group III-V compound semiconductor top cell on a Si or SiGe bottom cell. In lieu of a high Ge content SiGe wire array substrate, our focus changed from lattice matched growth to lattice mismatched growth. Furthermore, the limitations of the MOCVD reactor makes growing  $GaAs_{1-y}P_y$ , which would be 2% lattice mismatched to a SiGe bottom cell, impossible. Instead,  $Ga_yIn_{1-y}P$  must be used, which requires 5% lattice mismatch for the ideal 1.7 eV top cell bandgap (Figure 3.1).



FIGURE 3.1: Predicted detailed balance efficiency (left) and lattice mismatch (right) of a  $Ga_{1-y}In_yP/Si$  tandem as a function of top cell band gap under AM1.5G illumination. Detailed balance calculations performed by Emily Warmann.

#### 3.1.1 Accomodating lattice mismatch

This extreme lattice mismatch must be relaxed in the structures as they are being grown. The "metamorphic" approach used in high efficiency multijunction solar cells accomodates the relaxation of this strain energy by growing discrete layers with a well defined compositional or lattice mismatch difference relative to the layers below it. Careful design of the the grading layer composition and thicknesses allows for full relaxation by slowly introducing mismatch and threading dislocations and allowing them to glide and annihilate at free surfaces (Figure 3.2a). For example, the offcut and polarity of III-V wafers impacts the velocity of dislocation glide in the GaInP alloys, allowing for the efficient relaxation of strain until the alloy becomes InP-like. At this point, a buffer can be engineered with thicker layers in light of the slower relaxation rate.



FIGURE 3.2: Schematic illustrations of strain relief techniques. (a) Metamorphic strain relief using step-graded buffers to promote efficient strain relief and minimize defect density in the active layer. (b) Annihilation of dislocations on the free surfaces of a pillar based geometry, yielding a low density of defects in a large fraction of the mismatched material. After [11].

Typical metamorphic designs relax on the order of 2% lattice mismatch. Therefore, the 5% lattice mismatch is quite extreme in comparison. However, this is not unprecedented – recent work from the von Kanel group at ETH Zurich explored the growth of Ge on etched Si micropillars, which have a 4% lattice mismatch. With the appropriate growth conditions, threading dislocations grow outwards and annihilate on the sidewalls of the growing layer, yielding a large fraction of dislocation free material (Figure 3.2b). If this behavior could be produced in a heavily mismatched Group III-V compound semiconductor top cell grown on Si, high quality top cell material could be produced.

#### 3.1.2 Geometry

The wire array geometry has been touted for the ability to tolerate lower materials quality by orthogonalizing the light absorption and carrier collection directions. While this still holds



FIGURE 3.3: Geometries of simulated lattice matched  $GaAs_{0.9}P_{0.1}/Si_{0.1}Ge_{0.9}$  tandem explored by Dr. Daniel Turner Evans. Taken from [86]

true for materials grown radially on the wire, the details of light absorption impact the types of geometries considered. Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans found that the FDTD simulated light absorption in the top cell of lattice matched GaAsP/SiGe tandem wire arrays were close to the predicted Beer-Lambert absorption. He attributed this near ray-optical behavior to the efficient light absorption in direct gap semiconductors. As a result, the performance of "conformal" geometries were overall worse than geometries with concentrated the Group III-V compound semiconductor material at the tips of the wire as hemispheres or ellipsoids, denoted in Figure 3.3 as "hemispherical" and "spherical" growth [86]. This should in principle allow for higher performance.

# 3.2 Experimental details

#### 3.2.1 Si microwire array growth

It must be noted that the exact method of preparation changed drastically over the duration of this project. In general, wire arrays were primarily grown on  $1 \times 1$  cm Si (111) substrates. Substrates were cleaved from full 6" wafers with photolithographically patterned periodic Cu catalyst locations as described in Appendix A either by hand or by using a Dynatex GST-150 scriber breaker tool. Almost all of the wire arrays were grown in the "Big Blue" SiGe CVD tool described in 2. In a process identical to that described in Chapter 2, substrates were loaded onto a quartz boat which was then inserted into the CVD tube at 750 °C under  $N_2$  flow. The system was then evacuated and refilled with research grade  $H_2$ up to just above atmospheric pressure before opening the exhaust valve to the scrubber. The CVD tube was then heated to 1000  $^{\circ}$ C under H<sub>2</sub> flow and allowed to reach thermal equilibrium before precursor introduction. Typical growth parameters include 1 slm of  $H_2$ carrier gas and collection of the overpressure from a SiCl<sub>4</sub> cylinder heated to 85 °C. These values correspond to molar flow rates of 430  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> SiCl<sub>4</sub> and 4 × 10<sup>4</sup>  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>2</sub>. After growth, samples were cooled slowly to 750 °C inside the tube with an H<sub>2</sub> purge during the initial stage of the cool transitioning to a  $N_2$  purge. The tube was then evacuated and refilled with N<sub>2</sub> before being pulled out of the hot zone of the CVD furnace for a faster cool to near room temperature.

#### 3.2.2 Preparation for selective epitaxy

After growth, the wires were cleaned in a series of etching solutions to prepare for thermal oxidation.

- 1. Remaining surface oxide stripped in BHF for 10 minutes
- 2. RCA 1 clean: 15 minute etch in 1:1:5 NH<sub>4</sub>OH,  $H_2O_2$  and DI water at 75 °C

- 3. Thorough rinse in DI water
- 4. BHF dip to remove chemical oxide
- 5. RCA 2 clean: 15 minute etch in 1:1:6 HCl,  $H_2O_2$  and DI water at 75 °C
- 6. Thorough rinse in DI water
- 7. BHF dip to remove chemical oxide
- 8. 1.5 minute etch in 30 weight % KOH in DI water at room temperature
- 9. Thorough rinse in DI water
- 10. BHF dip to remove native oxide
- 11. RCA 2 clean: 15 minute etch in 1:1:6 HCl,  $H_2O_2$  and DI water at 75 °C
- 12. Thorough rinse in DI water
- 13. BHF dip to remove native oxide
- 14. Load sample into tube furnace under  $\mathrm{N}_2$  flow at 400  $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
- 15. Heat to 1100  $^{\circ}$ C and grow thermal oxide under O<sub>2</sub> flow for 1 hour and 10 minutes
- 16. Cool and remove sample from furnace

In order to achieve the geometries found to be useful in a Group III-V compound semiconductor on microwire device, we pattern the thermal oxide by infilling the wire array with polymeric material and etching away the exposed oxide layer. The most reproducible results were achieved by infilling with mounting wax. After heating oxidized samples on a hotplate to > 120 °C, pieces of wax were applied to the surface of the hot wire arrays, depositing large amounts which then wicked out over the surface over several minutes. While this method results in poor control of the wax height, the designs of interest are in general close to the completely filled limit. The arrays were then cooled to room temperature and loaded into an oxygen plasma asher, where they were ashed at 300W and 300 mT p<sub>O2</sub> for 30 minutes to expose the tips of the wires. The exposed thermal oxide was removed in buffered hydrofluoric acid, and the remaining wax was removed in an acetone bath before rinsing with isopropyl alcohol and water.

#### 3.2.3 MOCVD growth at the Molecular Foundry

Immediately prior to growth, wire arrays were cleaned in RCA 1 and RCA 2 etches with care taken to minimize the time in buffered hydrofluoric acid solutions before each etch and before loading into the reactor glovebox. Planar Si wafer equivalents were used as control and process monitoring samples, with Si (111), (110), (211), and (100).

Typical growth parameters are depicted in Table 3.1. Initiation of the growth process generally fell into three stages. First, a high temperature anneal was used to try and remove any residual contamination and to allow surfaces to reconstruct under hydrogen flow. Second, precursors were introduced at low temperatures in a "nucleation" step. Finally, after heating under TBP flow, high temperature growth was performed.

	T (°C)	TBP	TMGa	TMIn	V/III
GaP					
Nucleation	530	3205	61.8	—	51.9
Growth	680	3205	61.8	—	51.9
$\mathbf{Ga}_{0.7}\mathbf{In}_{0.3}\mathbf{P}$					
Nucleation	530	3205	61.8	16.2	35.3
Growth	680	3205	61.8	16.2	35.3

TABLE 3.1: Typical growth conditions of GaP and GaInP on wire arrays. Precursor flows denoted in  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup>.

# 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 GaP

Developing growth parameters for GaP on Si was a major effort that took several years to realize any useful results. Unfortunately, those results did not appear to be translatable to wire array morphologies without further study. However, the primary results of our studies in growing GaP on Si microwires are shown here.

#### 3.3.1.1 Initial results



FIGURE 3.4: Initial results of GaP growth on wire arrays. SEM images (left) show conformal coatings with almost no growth on the thermal oxide. (331) reciprocal space map shows a great deal of peak broadening, indicative of high defect density.

To avoid complications related to substrate preparation, initial GaP growths were performed with a minimum of processing done to the wire arrays prior to growth. As seen in Figure 3.4, fully conformal coatings along the length of the wires were achieved. Most notably, the thermal oxide remaining on the planar surface of the wire array substrate served as an excellent inhibitor of GaP growth. XRD of the GaP coated wire arrays indicated textured epitaxial growth on the wires, with significant broadening in both  $\omega$  and  $\omega$ -2 $\theta$ . Further improvements in growth parameters and substrate preparation would be needed to improve material quality.

#### 3.3.1.2 Branched morphologies

Branched wire array structures have been of interest for increased surface area for electrochemical processes and possibly increased solar absorption. Fairly early in our efforts, we were able to generate branched GaP nanowires while trying different growth conditions. After a lower temperature nucleation step, the TBP pressure controller setpoint was dropped from 1500 to 800 torr. Pressure controllers work by changing the size of an orifice to regulate the pressure. Dropping the setpoint results in the controller to open fully until the new setpoint pressure is reached. As a result, this must have seeded the surface with an excess amount of TMGa, resulting in Ga droplets being formed on the surface. These droplets likely resulted in VLS growth of GaP nanowires. Detailed investigation of this phenomena was not pursued after several failed attempts to more systematically replicate seeding the surface with Ga droplets.

#### 3.3.1.3 Selective epitaxy

As mentioned previously, selective epitaxy allows us to access different geometric conformations of Group III-V compound semiconductor material on the wires, yielding benefits due to a majority of light absorption being concentrated in direct gap top cell tips and ideally allowing for threading dislocations to annihilate further away from material actively participating in light absorption and electron-hole pair separation. Using the scheme presented earlier in the chapter, Si microwire substrates with varying amounts of exposed Si were



FIGURE 3.5: SEM image of branched GaP nanowires grown on Si microwire arrays.

prepared. By changing the amount of exposed Si from long to short, morphologies approximating the "conformal" and "spherical" geometries were achieved (Figure 3.6). Detailed study of the crystallographic properties was carried out with XRD and TEM.



FIGURE 3.6: Geometries enabled by selective epitaxy.

Figure 3.7 depicts a representative example of conformal GaP growth. In general, the morphology of the layers remained similar to the preliminary experiments on wire arrays without intentionally patterned selective epitaxy masking oxide. Morphology is a great indicator of crystalline quality – virtually all surface features have their origin in crystal-lographic strain or defects. Therefore, we expect a significant defect concentration in the wires, based upon the rough appearing morphology. XRD clearly showed that the layers were epitaxial, and the prescence of defects was confirmed with TEM of radial cross sections of single wires coated with GaP. Almost all of the defects originate at the GaP/Si interface. Nano-beam diffraction of the representative sample shown in Figure 3.7 shows 1/2 order spots, consistent with stacking fault formation [4].

Representative data for the spherical type geometry is presented in Figure 3.8. Compared to its conformal counterpart, the axial cross section characterized with TEM shows lower defect density overall. However, many defects still originate from the Si/GaP interface, and XRD reciprocal space mapping shows similar peak breadths in the  $\omega$  and  $\omega$ -2 $\theta$  directions. This is clearly seen in HRTEM images of the top and left sides of the wire, where defects emanate from the interface. Diffractograms taken from these images contain 1/3 order spots, which are consistent with  $\Sigma$ 3 twin array formation, and streaking defects, which are consistent with stacking faults [4]. These defects have been observed in planar GaP grown on Si, especially when growing on orientations other than (001) [55].

#### 3.3.2 $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$

#### **3.3.2.1** Planar controls on GaP(001)

To limit the effects of the wire array substrates on composition and growth parameters, several sets of layers were grown on GaP (001) orientated substrates. One representative sample is shown here in Figure 3.9. The crosshatch morphology evident in the microscope image is indicative of strain relief by dislocation motion. The layers are indeed epitaxial, with clear peak locations for each of the different material layers. In this particular sample,



FIGURE 3.7: XRD and TEM characterization of "conformal" growth. (a) (111) reciprocal space map shows reduced peak broadening compared to earlier efforts. (b) HAADF STEM imaging of a radial cross section reveals high defect density in the GaP. (c) BF image of wire and initial GaP layers provides more defect contrast. (d) Nano-beam diffraction in the regions on the (left) show 1/2 order peaks indicative of defects.


FIGURE 3.8: XRD and TEM characterization of "spherical" geometry. (a) HAADF STEM image shows clear compositional contrast between the GaP and Si wire. (b) (111) RSM shows similar peak width to the "conformal" samples. (c) HRTEM of the GaP/Si interface at the top of the wire with inset diffractogram. (d) HRTEM of the GaP/Si interface along the left side of the wire with inset diffractogram.



FIGURE 3.9: Planar GaInP graded stack with luminescence on GaP (001).

extrapolation of the composition of the layer with highest In contenct from the layer peak position yields a value of 34% In. Room temperature photoluminescence measurements using a UV laser diode revealed emission at 571 nm, which matches the  $\sim 2.2$  eV bandgap expected from XRD. The knowledge gained from these control experiments was then used for the microwire array growth experiments.

## 3.3.2.2 Step-graded buffer growth on wire substrates

All of the GaInP work on microwire arrays focused on samples approximating the "spherical" geometry, as those were found to be more efficient overall in coupled optoelectronic simulations [86]. The first set of samples grown were step graded GaInP layers, similar to the layers grown on the planar controls. Single wires were processed using the FIB into electron-transparent membranes for TEM characterization. As clearly seen in Figure 3.10, a large network of defects emanate from the GaP/Si interface throughout the entirety of the coating. Clear compositional contrast between each of the layers is seen in Z contrast imaging (Figure 3.10b). Closer investigation of the GaP/Si interface with HRTEM (Figure 3.10c) shows a large number of  $\Sigma$ 3 microtwin arrays along each of the three possible habits. This suggests that these defects may be an intrinsic feature of growing on the complex, multifaceted microwire array surfaces.

EDAX was used to evaluate the compositional profile within the step graded GaInP stack (Figure 3.11). Clear compositional contrast can be seen between each of the layers, with no evidence of interdiffusion. Voids can also be seen most clearly in the map of the P signal. A maximum of 23% In is reached, below the indirect-direct band gap transition (Figure 3.12). Even if the material were defect free, the photoluminescence signal would be very low compared to a direct gap sample.

#### 3.3.2.3 Double heterostructure growth on wire substrates

Samples were grown with higher In content in a double heterostructure configuration. By sandwiching the GaInP emitting material in higher bandgap AlInP, photogenerated electron-hole pairs would be trapped inside the material and forced to recombine. The target design of a structure grown on an  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  step-graded buffer is shown in Figure 3.13a. Unfortunately, no photoluminescence signal was measured, so single wires were processed into electon thin samples for TEM analysis. Due to the size of the structure, it was necessary to thin in steps along the wire itself, leading to some of the horizontal features in the STEM image. As seen in Figure 3.13b, contrast between each of the layers confirms their step-graded nature, with clear contrast between the AlInP and GaInP layers. Voids also exist primarily along the sides of the structure in the GaInP, but there exists a large amount of material that appears to be void-free at the top of the wire. Additionally, the thickness of the layers is not uniform around the structure, with thicker material



FIGURE 3.10: HADDF STEM image of GaInP graded buffer grown on a silicon microwire.
(a) Diffraction contrast STEM image. (b) Z contrast TEM image. (c) HRTEM of GaP/Si interface reveals a dense network of Σ3 microtwin arrays.



FIGURE 3.11: EDAX mapping of the GaInP graded buffer on Si microwire.



FIGURE 3.12: EDAX linescan of the GaInP graded buffer on Si microwire.

located directly above the wire that becomes thinner along the sides – this is most clearly seen in the AlInP window layers. This could be an indication of mass transport becoming an issue as the material grown on the arrays approaches a close packed structure [11]. Within the buffer, fine-features in the STEM image stand out (Figure 3.13c). Indium containing III-phosphides such as  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  are known to undergo phase segregation during growth [12], which poses significant challenges with growing step-graded buffers , and the three-dimensional nature of the wire substrate could also play a role in encouraging phase separation [54, 72].

TEM characterization of the structure also yielded further insights (Figure 3.14. A great deal of diffraction contrast can be seen in the TEM image, likely indicative of high defect density. HRTEM imaging of the GaP/Si interfaces at the top and sidewalls of the wire reveal the presence of a thin interfacial layer (~ 1-2 nm thick), which is likely a sign of intermixing due to excess Ga precursor flux during the nucleation step, and defects can be seen in the GaP layers. Diffractograms taken in the HRTEM images of the Si and GaP alone reveal 1/3 order diffraction spots indicating  $\Sigma$ 3 twins at each of these interfaces (Figure 3.15).

Finally, EDAX was used to evaluate the composition of each of the layers. A linescan of the layers is presented in Figure 3.16. The peak indium weight percentage in the GaInP corresponds to a layer with  $Ga_{0.29}In_{0.71}P$ , and the window layers appear to have a composition of  $Al_{0.23}Ga_{0.36}In_{0.41}P$ .

## 3.4 Routes towards improved material quality

### 3.4.1 Geometrical considerations

Wire arrays dramatically increase the surface area presented to the MOCVD effluents during growth. The effects of this can be seen clearly in the difference between the thickness of planar layers and wire array coatings with the same growth time. Selective epitaxy with dielectric masks have also been explored for the growth of highly mismatched materials. In



FIGURE 3.13: AlInP/GaInP/AlInP double heterostructure grown on a Si microwire. (a) Targeted layer design. (b) Z-contrast HAADF STEM image of a single wire with an SEM image of the array inset. (c) Higher resolution Z-constrast STEM imaging of the graded buffer above the wire.



FIGURE 3.14: TEM imaging of the AlInP/GaInP/AlInP double heterostructure with HRTEM insets of GaP/Si and AlInP/GaInP interfaces.

this work, a simple model for the enhancement in growth rate assuming that the concentration of precursors supplied to any give location stays the same across the surface, resulting in a local increase in the amount of available precursors if part of the surface is masked. Following Galuchet *et al.* [13], we can express the filling fraction, F, which can be expressed quite simply in terms of the surface area of the structured material ( $A_{structured}$ ), and the projected area ( $A_{planar}$ ).

$$F = \frac{A_{structured}}{A_{planar}} \tag{3.1}$$

Assuming that the local concentration of precursors leads to enhancement of the growth



FIGURE 3.15:  $\Sigma$ 3 microtwinning at the GaP/Si interface with diffractograms of Si and GaP areas.

rate, we can easily calculate an effective growth rate,  $R_{eff}$ , as the inverse of the filling fraction.

$$R_{eff} = F^{-1} \tag{3.2}$$

We can examine the effect of selective epitaxy on the local effective growth rate for a given wire geometry with simple assumptions about the geometry of the wire arrays. For simplicity, we make the following assumptions:

- 1. Wires are perfect cylinders with uniform diameter and height.
- 2. The amount of exposed wire material, h, is constant throughout the array.
- 3. All wires are identical.



FIGURE 3.16: EDAX line profile of Ga, In and Al composition in weight percent.

These assumptions allow the exposed surface area of a masked wire array to be calculated, as shown in Figure 3.17. There, we have calculated the effective growth rate as a function of h for square and hexagonal arrangements of microwire arrays with different diameters (d)and pitch (a). The straightforward implication is that as the amount of material exposed is decreased, the growth rate is enhanced up to two orders of magnitude compared to a planar surface. This has several important implications on real wire arrays. In particular, the geometries of the indivdual wires are variable across any given array, which can result from errors in photolithography, liftoff, surface contamination, and growth conditions. Even if these errors are mitigated, some nonuniformity in the wire heights exists across an array, likely a result of the relative depletion of precursors at the center of an array versus at the edges.

Initial attempts at verifying these simple calculations were made by using the higher quality GaP nucleation and growth parameters discussed in Chapter 5. Single wires were thinned



FIGURE 3.17: Effective growth rate of wire arrays as a function of exposed height.

into electron transparent sections for EDS analysis. For the wire where  $R_{eff} > 1$ , high defect density can be seen in the GaP layer both above the wire and along the sidewall 3.18. Selected area diffraction (SAD) patters of these regions attest to the defected nature, with a population of 1/3 order spots visible in both locations. For the wire with  $R_{eff} < 1$ , the low effective growth rate leads to defects where different regions are growing together, and the defect density is quite low within single domains (Figure 3.19). This is by no means a fair comparison due to how thin the layer is compared to the other case, but it is at least promising for future applications.



FIGURE 3.18: TEM of a GaP layer grown on a wire with  $\mathrm{R}_{eff}>1.$ 

## 3.4.2 Direct integration of nano-sized geometries on planar Si

From the growth studies detailed in this chapter, it is clear that defects at the Si/III-V interface play a major role in disrupting the material quality of layers grown on the Si microwire arrays. These defects likely serve as highly active non-radiative recombination centers, preventing any measurable photoluminescence in all of the highly mismatched, direct gap  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  on planar Si wafers or VLS grown wire arrays. Both polar-on-nonpolar and lattice mismatch defects can be avoided entirely by moving to nanoscale growth geometries, such as nanowires, nanoplates and nanocrystallites. The small surface area of the Si/III-V interface limits or eliminates the possibility of forming polar-on-nonpolar defects, and the traction-free surfaces of these nanoscale structures allow for strain relief outwards from the substrate.



FIGURE 3.19: TEM of a GaP layer grown on a wire with  $R_{eff} < 1$ .

As mentioned previously, the economics of solar have changed drastically over the course of my PhD. High lifetime Si wafers are now cheap and widely available. As such, it is conceivable to replace the low lifetime VLS-grown Si microwire arrays with either planar wafered Si or high lifetime, etched Si micropillar arrays. Beyond increased Si material quality, moving to top-down fabrication allows for the arbitrary selection of substrate orientations. The substrate orientation has very profound effects on the material quality due to different propensities to form defects [55] and strain relaxation mechanisms [43], and the best results for Ge grown on Si micropillars have been for the (001) orientation [11]. Use of the (001) or (112) orientation would allow the transfer of the knowledge gained from planar thin film growth in Chapter 5 to future etched pillar structures. The simple calculations for effective growth rate also suggests that moving to sparse arrays would allow for low precursor utilization and/or higher growth rates. Furthermore, axial heterostructures consisting of Si

66

micropillars and Group III-V epitaxially grown pillars could serve as more effective light absorbers, allowing for precise tuning of the optical properties of the device.

The future is ripe for further investigation of Group III-V on Si heterostructures on Si.

## Chapter 4

# Optoelectronic design of Group III-V compound semiconductor on Si microwire tandem cells

## 4.1 Background

As discussed in Chapters 2 and 3, one of the primary goals of my doctoral work was to realize a tandem microwire array solar cell. While the potential efficiency of a hypothetical device was considered, detailed balance efficiency represents an upper limit to what is achievable. Detailed device modeling incorporating known materials parameters allows for the incorporation of more realistic loss mechanisms, including but not limited to Shockley-Reed-Hall, Auger, and surface recombination, as well as details of the physics of carrier transport. For near or sub-wavelength features, full-wave electromagnetic simulations are necessary to accurately reproduce optical behavior, and the wire array devices definitely fall into this category. This chapter will present two simulated wire array tandem cell designs, both of which could conceivably be fabricated using the methods described in previous chapters. The implications of the optoelectronic simulations on device design will be presented.

## 4.1.1 Simulation methods

The finite-difference time-domain (FDTD) method is used to solve Maxwell's equations iteratively. As the name implies, the partial differential form of Maxwell's equations are solved by converting the derivatives to finite differences. The electric and magnetic field components are arranged in an interpenetrating Yee lattice. Using a "leapfrog" algorithm, the magnetic and electric field are updated one after another in a single timestep.

Optical and device physics models were carried out using the Synopsys Sentaurus TCAD package. Details of the implementation and source code can be found in Appendix E. Sentaurus EMW, a full field, finite difference time domain (FDTD) electromagnetic simulation tool, was used to simulate the optical properties of the full device structure in 2D. To mimic a wire array, horizontal boundaries were assumed to be periodic, with a back reflector modeled as a perfect electrical conductor and a perfectly matched layer above the structure. Shockley-Reed-Hall (SRH) recombination was considered in all of the layers, while Auger and radiative recombination were also considered in each of the Group III-V compound semiconductor layers. Doping dependent mobility and lifetime were also considered in the GaInP and Si, while constant mobility was assumed for the AlInP.

### 4.1.2 Prior work

Coupled optoelectronic device design has been a focus of the Si microwire project for quite some time. Dr. Michael Kelzenberg devoted significant study to the optical properties of the wire arrays [33] and their performance in devices [34] with coupled FDTD and device physics simulations. Using both analytical and computational methods, Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans studied the performance of lattice matched GaAsP on SiGe wire array structures [86]. In this work, he found that the highly absorbing direct gap GaAsP could have its optical absorption approximated using the Beer-Lambert relation, a surprising finding. This result motivates our selection of "spherical" geometries which resemble a lollipop or cotton swab, as the increased GaAsP material in a "conformal" core-shell geometry would contribute very little to the overall optical absorption while increasing the junction area. The spherical geometry also has the added benefit of being demonstrated by MOCVD growth in Chapter 3.

## 4.2 Simulated device designs

For a Si bottom cell, an ideal top cell with a bandgap of 1.7 eV, such as ordered  $\text{Ga}_{0.45}\text{In}_{0.55}\text{P}$  or disordered  $\text{Ga}_{0.35}\text{In}_{0.65}\text{P}$  alloys, would yield a detailed balance efficiency of 41%. Our simulated devices incorporate a  $\text{Ga}_{0.51}\text{In}_{0.49}\text{P}$  top cell with a bandgap of 1.89 eV, which results in a detailed balance efficiency of 35%.  $\text{Ga}_{0.51}\text{In}_{0.49}\text{P}$  cells with  $\text{Al}_{0.5}\text{In}_{0.5}\text{P}$  window layers, utilized successfully in high efficiency triple junction solar cells for several years, have been studied thoroughly and thus lend themselves to realistic predictions of device performance despite lower efficiency potential.

#### 4.2.1 Requirements for a tandem wire array device

Tandem photovoltaic devices require two independent photovoltaic cells optically in series. High energy light must be absorbed by the high bandgap cell leaving the low energy light to be absorbed by the low bandgap cell. In practice, tandem cells are arranged optically and electronically in series. This avoids the need for a second set of contacts, but this also requires a tunnel junction to provide electrical contact between the two cells. A tunnel contact is typically realized by using two heavily doped layers of opposite polarity. Each subcell must contain a homo- or heterojunction which enables carrier separation and collection. Fabrication of such a device would first comprise VLS wire growth, followed by cleaning, oxidation and masking of the wire to enable in-diffusion of the radial junction. After indiffusion, all of the oxide on the surface would be removed and a second oxidation and masking step would be performed to allow for masking of the subsequent compound semiconductor growth.

One of the major challenges of realizing a nano- or microscale device is to develop an effectively transparent top contact scheme. To simplify our simulation and analysis, a perfect contact, without optical or electrical losses, is placed directly on top of each of the wires.

## 4.2.2 Highly mismatched growth on a Si wire

The device structure (Figure 4.1) was chosen to mimic experimentally observed geometries and other experimental constraints. In particular, a 200 nm thick thermal oxide (SiOx) is patterned on the sidewalls of the Si wire, leaving only the top 2  $\mu$ m of the wire in contact with the top cell. This layer is used as a mask for selective epitaxy only at the very ends of the wire. Additionally, a 500 nm thick, highly defective, heavily doped "buffer" layer has been introduced between the Si wire bottom cell and the tunnel junction. The 3.9% lattice mismatch with the Si bottom cell will result in defects due to the need for strain relief in the III-V top cell. It is assumed that any defects due to lattice mismatch and heteroepitaxy are concentrated in this region, with the consequence of low material quality. The defective buffer layer was assumed to have a low  $\tau_{SRH} = 1$  ps. A summary of the layer materials, doping levels, and geometric parameters in the full device stack is given in Table 4.1.

### 4.2.3 Graded buffer growth on a Si wire

Instead of growing GaInP directly on the Si wire, a more realistic approach would be to start with GaP and grow a step graded buffer of  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  up to the desired composition for the top cell. Complex refractive indices for the  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  alloys were generated by shifting the



FIGURE 4.1: The simulated 2D device geometry for highly mismatched growth on a Si wire. A 500 nm thick highly doped  $Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$  "buffer," considered to be where defects are grown out of the III-V material and therefore highly defective, bridges the heteroepitaxial interface between the Si wire bottom cell and the III-V top cell structure. The different components of the tandem device can be seen clearly in the band diagram (bottom right).

known values for  $In_{0.49}Ga_{0.51}P$  and GaP to match the bandgap to the absorption onset for the direct and indirect bandgap alloys, respectively (Figure 4.2). Furthermore, Sentaurus Device also automatically interpolates the other materials properties of the alloy layers.

The simulated geometry is depicted in Figure 4.3, and the details of the layers are in Table 4.2. The graded buffer layers were assumed to be relatively defective and to have a low  $\tau_{SRH} = 1$  ps. The indirect-direct transition can also be seen in the band diagram of the device in Figure 4.3. At the transition, the density of states at the band edge changes abruptly,

Layer	Material	Thickness	Doping $(cm^{-3})$
Antireflection coating	MgF	95 nm	
_	TiOx	55  nm	
Window	$Al_{0.5}In_{0.5}P$	30  nm	$n=2.0\times 10^{18}$
Emitter	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	50  nm	$n=2.0\times 10^{18}$
Base	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	700  nm	$\mathbf{p}=1.2\times10^{17}$
Back surface field	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	100  nm	$p = 4.0 \times 10^{17}$
Tunnel junction	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	15  nm	$p = 1.0 \times 10^{19}$
	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	15  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
Buffer	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	500  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
Wire emitter	Si	Gaussian, 5	$n = 1.0 \times 10^{19}$
		$\mu m$ tall radial	
		junction	
Wire base	Si	40 $\mu m$ height,	$\mathbf{p} = 1.0 \times 10^{17}$
		$5.3 \ \mu m$ pitch	
Back reflector	Perfect electrical conductor		

TABLE 4.1: Layer parameters for simulated wire array tandem device

leading to a change in the conduction band and valence band offset between the indirect and direct alloy.

## 4.2.4 Planar tandem with a graded buffer

To aid in interpreting the simulation results, a planar version of the tandem wire device with a graded buffer was considered. It is important to note that direct comparison of structured layers with planar layers is not always straightforward – often it is best to renormalize the thickness of the planar layers such that the total volume of material is conserved. As seen with the previous set of simulations, the need to "filter" the spectrum with the top cell before allowing any light to interact with the bottom cell necessitates near close-packing of the top cell material.

In this study, layers of identical thickness are considered for both the planar and wire array case. The planar Si wafer is assumed to have a thickness of 250  $\mu$ m for full light absorption.



FIGURE 4.2: Interpolated complex refractive indices for  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  alloys. The indirect alloy indices were generated by shifting the absorption onset of GaP to match the expected bandgap of the alloy, and the direct gap alloy indices were generated by doing the same with  $In_{0.49}Ga_{0.51}P$ .

In comparison, the Si wire arrays are merely 40  $\mu$ m tall, which is not enough to absorb the entirety of the solar spectrum.

## 4.3 Results of optical simulations

## 4.3.1 Optical response of wire array devices

The case of the highly mismatched growth on a Si wire will be considered first. Generation profiles for AM1.5G illumination were computed by simulating the 2D device behavior under illumination by a plane wave of different wavelengths between 400 and 1100 nm in 50



FIGURE 4.3: Modelled device geometry for a wire array tandem device utilizing graded buffer growth (left). The band diagram of the device (top right) is identical to that for the planar control (bottom right).

nm increments at normal incidence (Figure 4.4). Appropriate weighting parameters from a binned AM1.5G spectrum were applied to each of the simulated wavelengths to create optical generation profiles (Figure 4.5).

For the case of the graded buffer on a Si wire, reflection and absorption results from the single wavelength simulations are plotted in Figure 4.5b. The persistence of absorption in the step graded buffer suggests that increasing the top cell thickness should yield additional current that is currently lost to the buffer and the bottom cell. Also, off-normal incidence could yield higher absorption as observed in the case of Si  $\mu$ -wire arrays.



FIGURE 4.4: Fraction of light reflected and absorbed in different parts of the (a) highly mismatched and (b) graded buffer tandem device stacks under TE and TM (solid and dashed, respectively) polarized plane wave illumination.

Laver	Material	Thickness	Doping $(cm^{-3})$
Antireflection coating	MgF	95 nm	<b>r</b> 8(1)
	TiOx	55 nm	
Window	Alo 5Ino 5P	30 nm	$n = 2.0 \times 10^{18}$
Emitter	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	50 nm	$n = 2.0 \times 10^{18}$
Base	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	700 nm	$p = 1.2 \times 10^{17}$
Back surface field	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	100 nm	$p = 4.0 \times 10^{17}$
Tunnel junction	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	15  nm	$p = 1.0 \times 10^{19}$
	$Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49}P$	15  nm	$n = 1.8 \times 10^{18}$
Buffer	$Ga_{0.55}In_{0.45}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.60}In_{0.40}P$	250  nm	$n = 1.8 \times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.65}In_{0.35}P$	250  nm	$n = 1.8 \times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.70}In_{0.30}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.75}In_{0.25}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.80}In_{0.20}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.85}In_{0.15}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.90}In_{0.10}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	$Ga_{0.95}In_{0.05}P$	250  nm	$n=1.8\times 10^{18}$
	GaP	$250~\mathrm{nm}$	$n = 1.8 \times 10^{18}$
Wire emitter	Si	Gaussian, 5	$n = 1.0 \times 10^{19}$
		$\mu { m m}$ tall radial	
		junction	
Wire base	Si	40 $\mu m$ height,	$\mathbf{p}=1.0\times10^{17}$
		5.3 $\mu m$ pitch	
Back reflector	Perfect electrical conductor		

TABLE 4.2: Layer parameters for simulated wire array tandem device

## 4.3.2 Comparison of optical generation

A map of the optical generation was calculated by weighted integration of the contributions from each single wavelength simulation to match the AM1.5G solar spectrum (Figure 4.5). Light is focused into the Si  $\mu$ -wire core by the III-V cladding, and the indirect gap  $Ga_{1-x}In_xP$  alloys can be easily identified as the regions with lower generation rates.

By integration in each region of the device, optical generation currents can be calculated and compared to the spectral current window available to each cell material and the planar control (Table 4.3). Optical generation for the planar control was calculated using the



FIGURE 4.5: Optical generation profiles generated by integration of single wavelength simulations and weighting to match the AM1.5G spectrum.

	Si	Buffer	Top Cell
Spectrum	25.3	—	16.9
Mismatched growth	16.2	1.6	14.2
Graded buffer	15.5	0.77	12.8
Planar	21.3	0.36	16.5

TABLE 4.3: Optical generation current in mA  $\rm cm^{-2}$  of the spectral windows for each cell and integrated from the simulated optical generation maps for the wire and planar geometries.

transfer matrix method. Clearly, the amount of generated current in the wire geometry is inferior for both the top and bottom cell compared to the planar geometry. For the Si bottom cell, the difference in optical generation current is a consequence of the small volume of absorber material in the wire geometry. The difference in the top cell is somewhat unexpected. The current hypothesis is that the rounded edges of the top cell reduce the performance of the antireflection coating. The ARC was designed for normal incidence light, and the rounded edges effectively change the incidence angle. However, attempts to further optimize the cell by adjusting the thickness of the top cell absorber layer were hindered by the additional computational complexity.

## 4.4 **Results of device simulations**

## 4.4.1 Highly mismatched growth on a Si wire

Of particular interest are the effects of minority carrier SRH lifetime ( $\tau$ ), which is a proxy for material quality, and carrier mobility, which is negatively affected by defects in the growth of these materials. The surface recombination velocities (SRV's) of all interfaces were set to 100 cm/s to limit their effect on device performance. With these conditions, the tandem structure considered is capable of exceeding 20% efficiency over a wide range of lifetime values (Table 4.4), with an upper limit of 22.88% efficiency with good material quality,  $\tau_{SRH} = 1$  ns. Furthermore, efficiencies greater than the predicted 17% for Si wire arrays alone are possible at sub-100 ps lifetimes.

Top cell $\tau_{SRH}$	$10 \mathrm{\ ps}$	$100 \mathrm{\ ps}$	1  ns	10  ns
Fill factor $(\%)$	76.86	84.38	86.87	88.86
$V_{oc}$ (V)	1.657	1.778	1.876	1.912
$J_{sc} (mA cm^{-2})$	12.98	14.04	14.04	14.04
Efficiency $(\%)$	16.53	21.06	22.88	23.85

 TABLE 4.4: Simulated highly mismatched growth tandem device performance as a function of top cell SRH lifetime

More realistic surface recombination physics was introduced to the device simulations to better predict experimental performance. These simulations assumed 1 ns top cell SRH lifetime. The Si/SiOx interface is assumed to be well understood and reasonably passive (SRV = 100 cm/s). Several interfaces within the device stack could detract from device performance. The GaInP/SiOx interface, resulting from III-V growth out and over a portion of the SiOx, is purely a result of wire geometry and cannot be passivated in-situ. Other than the Si/SiOx interface, the SRV at each of the interfaces was changed from 100 to  $10^4$ cm/s. The efficiency of the structure dropped from 22.88 to 22.84%. The minimal effect of these large changes in SRV can be explained in part by the band structure, whereby minority carrier barriers, at the front surfaces of both cells and also at the back surface of the top cell, help reduce recombination statistics by repelling minority carriers. However, this does not explain the insensitivity to the 850 nm long interfaces on either side of the wire between the top cell GaInP and SiOx. Instead, the difference could be due to the greater portion of the optical generation (Figure ??) occurring away from this interface as light is guided into the wire core by the higher index top cell material.

## 4.4.2 Comparison of graded buffer growth on a Si wire and planar cell

The results of the optical simulations were then coupled into a finite element Poisson equation solver. Identical materials parameters were utilized for the wire array and planar geometries. For both the wire and planar cases,  $\tau$  in the Si was set to 1  $\mu$ s, a realistic value for the Si  $\mu$ -wires. For the buffer layers,  $\tau$  was set to 1 ps. Surface recombination velocities are summarized in Table 4.5.

For the 1 ns top cell lifetime case, the LIV measurements indicate a very slim performance advantage for the wire versus planar geometry (Figure 4.6 and Table 4.6). As expected from the optical generation currents, the single junction performance of the top and bottom cells are quite different between the two geometries. Most strikingly, the Jsc of the wire bottom cell is much higher than that of the planar cell despite a much lower volume of material

Material 1	Material 2	SRV (cm $s^{-1}$ )
Si	$SiO_2$	20
Si	$Ga_{1-x}In_xP$	200
$Ga_{1-x}In_xP$	$Ga_{1-x}In_xP$	1.5
$Ga_{1-x}In_xP$	AlInP	$100 \ [64]$
$Ga_{1-x}In_xP$	$SiO_2$	$10^4$ [8]
AlInP	TiOx	$10^{4}$

TABLE 4.5: SRV's assumed in device simulations



FIGURE 4.6: Comparison of LIV curves for simulated wire and planar devices operated in tandem and single junction configurations.

	Jsc (mA $\rm cm^{-2}$ )	Voc (V)	FF (%)	$\eta$ (%)
Wire tandem	12.61	1.981	85.90	21.5
Top cell	12.56	1.283	83.99	13.5
Bottom cell	15.44	0.698	83.60	9.0
Planar tandem	12.11	1.956	89.76	21.3
Top cell	15.98	1.300	84.18	17.5
Bottom cell	12.10	0.655	83.62	6.6

TABLE 4.6: Summary of PV figures of merit from simulated LIV measurements of wire and planar devices in tandem and single junction configuration.

and lower optical generation overall (Table 4.3), a testament to the advantages of the radial junction with relatively low  $(1 \ \mu s)$  minority carrier SRH lifetime.

To evaluate the effect of top cell material quality, both the minority carrier SRH lifetime and mobility in the top cell absorber material were varied (Figure 4.7). Notably, the wire geometry allows for higher short circuit current (Jsc) and open circuit voltage (Voc), but lower fill factors lead to lower efficiencies except for  $\tau = 1$  ns. Since the wire device is top cell current limited, the effect of reducing the minority carrier lifetime is more pronounced compared to to the bottom cell limited planar case. The lower fill factors overall could be a consequence of increased junction area. The majority and minority carrier mobilities assumed for each case are shown in Table 4.7. As the mobility is decreased, the wire arrays possess higher Jsc's and Voc's, but the reduced FF results leads to little to no efficiency advantage.

Case	$\mu_e \; (\mathrm{cm}^2 \; \mathrm{V}^{-1} \; \mathrm{s}^{-1})$	$\mu_h \; (\mathrm{cm}^2 \; \mathrm{V}^{-1} \; \mathrm{s}^{-1})$
Α	1000 [74]	40 [29]
В	500	20
С	100	4

TABLE 4.7: Carrier mobilities assumed in device simulations for Figure 4.7.

## 4.5 Conclusions

Despite a desire to realize a high performance tandem wire array solar cell design, the conclusion of the efforts so far points to a challenging route for higher efficiencies than planar geometries. In particular, the combination of a desire to replicate experimentally achieved geometries and the computational complexity of the wire array designs limited the optical design and ultimate performance of the tandem device designs. More radical designs will be needed in order to realize higher efficiencies. One important and straightforward result is that the reduced absorption requirements of the tandem device allows the use of shorter wire arrays without additional optical elements. This reinforces the need to use



FIGURE 4.7: Simulated performance of wire and planar tandem devices as a function of (a) SRH lifetime and (b) minority carrier mobility.

optoelectronic modelling for design of structured tandem and multijunction solar cells, as the light trapping characteristics of single junction cells can be greatly relaxed with the spectral filtering offered by a multijunction design.

## Chapter 5

# MOCVD of GaP on Si for c-Si photovoltaics

Gallium phosphide is an ideal starting point for the integration of Group III-V compound semiconductor materials on Si. GaP and Si are almost lattice matched, allowing for a minimal introduction of mismatch related defects. However, the primary limitation of GaP is a large indirect bandgap and poor light absorption characteristics as a result, making it less useful as an active absorber layer. Despite, this, there are two potential routes towards increasing the efficiency of c-Si photovoltaics.

First, GaP can be used as a heterojunction partner for c-Si, serving as a "carrier-selective contact" [48]. Si heterojunction solar cells based on a-Si hold the world records for single junction Si cell efficiency and open circuit voltage. GaP has less parasitic light absorption, lower sheet resistance, and a larger bandgap than a-Si, but in order to realize these superior attributes, device designs must maintain an extremely well passivated surface, which for a-Si on Si results in surface recombination velocities < 1 cm/s and is the root of the demonstrated record open circuit voltages. Simulations of n-GaP/p-Si heterojunctions have demonstrated the capability to hit > 26% efficiency [46].

Second, GaP can be used as a virtual substrate for the epitaxial growth of a direct gap, highly lattice mismatch InGaP or GaAsP top cell directly on Si. Commercially realized "metamorphic" designs incorporate step-graded buffers to relieve strain sequentially through a series of thick, high bandgap layers [17], and this design can also be implemented on Si if an appropriate GaP virtual substrate is found [22].

In both of these cases, there is a present need for low defect density, high electronic quality growth. This chapter presents our results for GaP growth on (112) oriented Si with MOCVD. A two-step pulsed low temperature nucleation and continuous high temperature growth process developed for the (001) orientation allows us to grow GaP thin films of reasonable quality on both (112) and (001) orientations of Si. In particular, the films grown on (112) are smoother and have high crystalline quality as characterized by x-ray diffraction. Transmission electron microscopy of thin and thick films do not show evidence of antiphase domain formation. Microtwin and stacking fault defects are present in the films, likely a result of a non-ideal nucleation recipe. Further optimization of this growth could lead to high quality GaP virtual substrates on Si for integration of other Group III-V optoelectronic devices.

## 5.1 Background

#### 5.1.1 Polar on non-polar defects

If we consider a hypothetical Si surface during homoepitaxial growth, any Si atom that makes it to the surface can bind to the surface without any consequences on the symmetry of the lattice. Furthermore, while it may be energetically favorable for the Si to bind to specific sites on a given surface, the exact configuration of these sites and the order in which they are filled have minimal consequences as long as no "empty" sites are left as voids in the material – in other words, the Si atoms are indistinguishable. In contrast, if for the same hypothetical Si surface we now consider the growth of GaP, the Ga and P atoms are

distinguishable, and their relative position to one another influences the crystal symmetry and local bonding. The "polar-on-nonpolar" defects important in GaP growth on Si fall into two categories – stacking errors, where the ordering of the crystal planes as they are stacked upon one another is changed, and anti-site defects, where, for instance, a Ga atom occupies a site that should typically be for a P site or vice versa.

Stacking errors in polar on non-polar growth manifest along the close-packed crystal planes in materials. To illustrate this, we can consider the face-centered cubic and hexagonally close-packed lattices. They can both be constructed by stacking hexagonally close packed spheres. The three non-equivalent stacking locations can be arranged in the order AB-CABCBAC yield the face-centered cubic lattice. Stacking faults result from the addition or removal of extra planes in the stacking process, *e.g.* ABCAABC or ABABCABC. Twin defects are mirror planes in the stacking process (ABCABCBACBA). Both of these defects are commonly seen in the growth of GaP on Si [55].

Antiphase defects occur when two domains with different polarities grow together, resulting in non-ideal bonding arrangements, *i.e.*, Ga-Ga and P-P bonding. These domains interact strongly with dislocations, pinning dislocation motion and causing dislocation multiplication, thus reducing the electronic quality of lattice mismatched material. Efficient strain relaxation in growth of GaP/GaAs on Si/Ge was found to be greatly impeded by antiphase domains [24, 55], which serve to pin misfit dislocation motion and lead to dislocation multiplication [41]. Furthermore, the antiphase boundaries, due to their energetically unfavorable bonding, are high energy boundaries that should have significant effects on the electronic structure at interfaces. This should result in the formation of deep electronic level trap states and reduce carrier mobility [37]. For the standard (001) orientation, antiphase domains were found to form due to the presence of single atomic steps, each of which shifts the crystallographic relationship between two domains by 1/4 of a unit cell, leading to the characteristic Ga-Ga or P-P/As-As bonding of an antiphase domain boundary.

## 5.1.2 Solving the polar on non-polar problem

For the reasons outlined earlier, many researchers became interested in the integration of GaP and, more notably, GaAs on Si and Ge substrates in the early 1980s. Two notable approaches emerged: to use a substrate orientation other than (001) or to use a heavily offcut  $(4-6^{\circ})$  (001) substrate [38]. Ultimately, growth on heavily offcut (001) substrates won out [40], and the development of antiphase domain free GaAs on Ge began in earnest.

While the challenge of integrating GaAs on Ge is a solved problem, several outstanding issues complicate the growth of GaP on Si. First, the lattice mismatch and coefficient of thermal expansion mismatch are much greater for GaP and Si compared to GaAs and Ge, leading to a lattice mismatch of 0.36% at 300K and  $\geq 0.50\%$  at relevant growth temperatures compared to 0.12%. Second, the Ge surface reconstruction can be manipulated at much lower growth temperatures compared to Si, where by annealing at 640 °C in UHV can yield double-stepped Ge (001) surfaces [76], while temperatures of  $\geq$  760 °C are necessary for realizing a double-stepped Si (001) surface [20].



FIGURE 5.1: Schematic comparison of APD formation during GaP growth on single steppedSi (001) and (112). Antiphase boundaries marked in red. Based on [38].

By carefully preparing an offcut (001) surface, virtually all of the steps present will be two atomic layers tall, a strategy which has been employed with great success for growth of GaAs on Si and Ge [38]. Recently, several groups have made major strides in the integration of GaP on Si (001) substrates [9, 20, 21, 47, 77, 88]. These groups utilize careful surface preparation, including in-situ growth of Si, high temperature annealing to recover a double-stepped surface reconstruction and a carefully tuned pulsed nucleation scheme. Grassman *et al.* were able to demonstrate complete elimination of all nucleation related defects, achieving high quality templates for further Group III-V compound semiconductor growth with both molecular beam epitaxy [20] and metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) [21, 88]. Another approach for eliminating antiphase domain formation is to grow on orientations where their formation is not favored [39]. Kroemer *et al.* postulated that growth on (112) orientations should be free of antiphase domains due to a difference in the bonding preferences of Group III and Group V atoms on the surface [38]. To this strategy appears to have been superseded after discovery of high quality GaAs growth on double-stepped Ge (001) [40].

## 5.2 Experimental details

## 5.2.1 Sample preparation

In this study, thin films were grown on (112) and (001) oriented substrates for comparison purposes. The (112) oriented wafers were nominally on axis, while the (001) oriented wafers were intentionally offcut 6° towards the [111] direction to encourage double step formation. Wafers were cleaved into nominally  $1 \times 1$  cm pieces using a scriber-breaker tool to allow for growth on up to four substrates in a single process run using a 3 in. quartz wafer with laser-cut holes. Prior to growth, substrates were sonicated in water, acetone, isopropyl alcohol, and water to remove any particulate contamination or residue from wafer handling. Following the degreasing step, substrates were sequentially etched in RCA 1 (1:1:5 NH<sub>4</sub>OH, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, 75 °C) and RCA 2 (1:1:6 HCl, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, 75 °C) for 10 minutes each to remove residual organic and metallic contamination. Immediately before loading into the
N2 purged reactor glovebox, substrates were etched in 6:1 Buffered Oxide Etch (Transene Company, Inc.) to remove the clean surface oxide. X-ray photoelectron studies of substrates cleaned and transferred in vials sealed in the nitrogen-purged reactor glovebox with minimal exposure to air only during mounting on the XPS chuck did not show significant trace chemical contamination.

#### 5.2.2 Growth conditions

Prior to growth, substrates were annealed at 750 °C for 5 minutes before being cooled to the nucleation temperature. The low temperature (450 °C) pulsed nucleation scheme consisted of steps by which TEG and TBP were introduced intermittently into the chamber in a fashion akin to atomic layer epitaxy. The TEG pulse was calibrated by performing 80 cycles of pulsed growth and fitting x-ray reflectometry data [57] and comparing to the expected 4 unit cell thickness on the (001) orientation. All of the films grown in this work used cycles consisting of a 5 s pulse of TEG at 12.7  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup>, followed by a 10 s pulse of TBP at 3205  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> and a 15 s purge. Thin film growth was initiated with 20 cycles of pulsed, low temperature growth, heated to 575 °C under TBP flow, and capped with traditional continuous growth. Growth rates of 0.6  $\mu$ m h-1 were achieved with TEG and TBP molar flow rates of 63.5 and 3205  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> for a V/III ratio of 50.5. A homoepitaxial Si capping layer, found to be essential in minimizing or eliminating defect formation in growth of GaP on Si (001) substrates [20, 88], was not grown due to reactor limitations.

### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Initial results with TMGa

In parallel with our growth efforts on coating Si microwire arrays with GaP, planar reference samples were grown on Si wafers with (001), (111), (011), and (112) orientations. (001)



FIGURE 5.2: Representative SEM image (left) and x-ray rocking curves (right) for a planar GaP thin film grown using the microwire array coating growth recipe and TMGa.

was chosen for ease of comparison to literature results, while (111) was chosen as it is nominally the top surface of the microwire array. (011) and (112) are the sidewall facets of the wires. Since our focus was on developing an understanding of the growth on the wire arrays, a majority of the characterization efforts were directed towards coated wires. Figure 5.2 depicts some representative results from the wire array growth recipe being applied to a planar GaP layer on Si (001). The layers are clearly growing three-dimensionally, with multiple crystals growing together after nucleation. Despite the polycrystalline appearance, they are in fact epitaxial, but with some texturing associated with the alignment between crystals. High quality GaP thin films were not achieved with the wire array coating growth recipes.

#### 5.3.2 Optimization of GaP nucleation layer

Optimization of the growth procedure for planar thin films began after a helpful conversation with Dr. Tyler Grassman at the IEEE Photovoltaics Specialists Conference in 2013. In a conversation with him, he mentioned that both they and the groups based out of Phillipps University Marburg had no success with ALE nucleation in the MOCVD until they switched to TEGa from TMGa. My personal hypothesis is that the larger molecular weight and therefore lower vapor pressure of TEGa allows for better control of the Ga deposition on the wafer surface.

The second important change was a calibration of the MOCVD surface temperature using the Al-Si eutectic, following the procedure laid out in Mizutani [53]. This calibration method takes advantage of the large emissivity of the Al-Si eutectic versus an Al thin film. As the eutectic forms at precisely 580 °C, the actual surface temperature can be inferred from a pyrometer reading by heating the surface through the transformation. In the MOCVD reactor, the temperature of the susceptor is feedback controlled via a thermocouple mounted in the center of an annular graphite heater mounted directly below the susceptor. A pyrometer is mounted vertically above the reactor with line of sight to the sample surface through a quartz window.

- 1. A Si wafer with 100 nm of Al is loaded into the reactor.
- 2. The setpoint temperature of the thermocouple is raised to near the eutectic transition.
- 3. The setpoint temperature is raised slowly through the eutectic transition while the setpoint and pyrometer temperatures are recorded.
- 4. The eutectic transition is assumed to occur when the apparent surface temperature of the sample increases abruptly.
- 5. The difference between the Au-Si eutectic temperature (580 °C) and the pyrometer measured surface temperature of a bare Si wafer at the eutectic transformation is applied as a correction factor for all pyrometer measured Si surface temperatures.

Figure 5.3 depicts the results of the temperature calibration. The eutectic transformation happens at  $\sim$  509 °C, a full 71 °C lower than what was expected. As such, all of growth done with TMGa had surface temperatures  $\sim$  71 °C hotter than what we were expecting.



FIGURE 5.3: Pyrometer measured apparent surface temperature of a thermally evaporated 100 nm thick Al film deposited on Si wafer versus pyrometer measured apparent surface temperature of a bare Si wafer.

The combination of changing to TEGa and calibrating the pyrometer temperature reading led to a dramatic improvement in the quality of the films grown (Figure 5.4). Instead of rough, three-dimensional growth, the films coalesce and grow in a more two-dimensional fashion.

The nucleation layer thickness was further optimized by growing thicker films with ALE to allow for easy measurement by x-ray reflectometry (XRR). A total of 80 cycles of ALE were performed to optimally yield 40 monolayers of GaP on Si (001). The molar flow of TEGa was adjusted while the exposure time was held constant to vary the total Ga coverage. After deposition, the thickness of the films was measured with XRR and fit using MOTOFIT [57] with calculated values of the scattering length density for Si and GaP from the NIST Center for Neutron Scattering neutron activation and scattering calculator<sup>1</sup>. Fitting was accomplished by first adjusting the scale and background factors to match the onset and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.ncnr.nist.gov/resources/activation/



FIGURE 5.4: SEM images of GaP thin films grown before (left) and after (right) temperature calibration.

then allowing the thickness to be fit. The final fitting was accomplished by setting the scale, background, thickness, and scattering length densities as free parameters.

#### 5.3.3 Optimized nucleation and thin film morphology

Thin films comprising only the nucleation layer and  $\sim 50$  nm growth were grown on Si (112) and (001) offcut 6° towards [111] substrates simultaneously. As mentioned earlier, the nucleation layer was optimized to yield an appropriate thickness for 10 unit cells on (001) oriented substrates. Atomic force microscopy was used to image and characterize the surfaces of the films (Figure 5.6). Nucleation of GaP on the (112) orientation leads to a rough nucleation layer with 3.7 nm RMS roughness (Figure 5.6a), likely due to the lack of optimization for this surface orientation, but the  $\sim 50$  nm thick film, having experienced both the low temperature pulsed nucleation and high temperature continuous growth, is actually smoother with a reduced RMS roughness of 0.5 nm (Figure 5.6b). In contrast, optimized nucleation of GaP on Si yields 1.5 nm RMS roughness on (001) oriented substrates,



FIGURE 5.5: XRR curves for 80 ALE cycles with two TEGa molar flows and fitting results from MOTOFIT.

and subsequent high temperature growth for a total of  $\sim 50$  nm layer thickness preserves the RMS roughness of the nucleation layer (Figure 5.6c,d). The topography of the  $\sim 50$  nm thick film on (001) has pits with surface protrusions consistent with literature reports of films containing antiphase domain defects.16 As surface features and roughness are closely correlated with defects in epitaxially grown films, the relative smoothness of the films grown on (112) motivated further exploration of the crystalline quality.

#### 5.3.4 X-ray diffraction of GaP on Si

Films grown on both orientations were epitaxial with respect to their substrates as characterized by high resolution x-ray diffraction (Figure 5.7). X-ray spectra show single orientation growth for both orientations as shown in Figure 5.7a,b. Reciprocal space mapping was



FIGURE 5.6: Atomic force microscopy topography maps of low temperature, pulsed nucleation (a) and subsequent high temperature continuous growth of a 50 nm thick film (b) show the growth of high quality thin films on Si (112). Analogous images of growth on Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111] are shown in (c) and (d).



FIGURE 5.7: High resolution x-ray diffractometry of films grown on Si (112) and Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111] substrates. (a), (b) x-ray diffraction spectra of  $\sim 200$  nm thick films. The amorphous background is due to the use of a glass slide onto which the 1  $\times$  1 cm sample is mounted. (c), (d) reciprocal space maps of  $\sim 50$  nm thick films. (e), (f) reciprocal space maps of  $\sim 200$  nm thick films.

utilized to extract detailed information about the strain state and defect density in these films. Mapping of ~ 50 nm thick films revealed single substrate peaks with Pendellösung oscillations present in scans of the symmetric (224) and (004) substrate and layer peaks on the (112) and (001) oriented substrates, respectively (Figure 5.7c,d). The layer peak for the thin film grown on vicinal (001) has a full width half maximum of 36 arcseconds in the  $\omega$  direction, matching the width of the substrate peak, and the layer peak for the thin film grown on (112) has a wider full width half max of 12 arcseconds, almost identical to that of the substrate (11 arcseconds). These results are indicative of low crystallographic defect density in these films. When the incident beam is aligned on the [011] direction, the (001) oriented film exhibits a 0.32° tilt, consistent with literature results [82]. Asymmetric reciprocal space maps for these films show that these films are not relaxed on both orientations, consistent with a thickness below the critical thickness for GaP on Si.

Reciprocal space mapping was also employed for much thicker films on the order of 200 nm in thickness. Symmetric maps (Figure 5.7e,f) show layer peak  $\omega$  full width half maxima of 345 arcseconds for growth on (112) versus 460 arcseconds for growth on vicinal (001). GaP grown on (112) is fully relaxed along the surface parallel [110] and [111] orthogonal directions by comparing the peak position of the (044) and (333) asymmetric layer and substrate peaks. Full relaxation along these directions is important, as partial relaxation along the [110] direction has been observed in strained layer superlattices grown on (112) due to the primary slip system acting only on stress in the [111] direction [52]. GaP grown on (001) offcut 6° towards [111] is only 96% relaxed, likely due to antiphase domains pinning misfit dislocation motion.13 These promising results for thin films grown on (112) oriented Si motivated further investigation with transmission electron microscopy.

#### 5.3.5 Transmission electron microscopy

Cross sections of  $\sim 50$  nm thick layers grown on both Si orientations were prepared for transmission electron microscopy analysis (Figure 5.8). Particular emphasis was placed on determining the presence of antiphase domain defects. Bright field and dark field images



FIGURE 5.8: Cross sectional transmission electron microscopy of a  $\sim 50$  nm thick GaP thin film on Si (112) shows no evidence of antiphase domains in  $\mathbf{g}_{200}$  two beam (a) bright field and (b) dark field imaging. In contrast, a thin film grown concurrently on Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111] reveals a high density of antiphase domains in  $\mathbf{g}_{200}$  two beam (c) bright field and (d) dark field imaging. Contrast and brightness were adjusted in the inset bright field images to aid in identification of antiphase domains. Scale bars represent 100 nm.



were collected in the  $\mathbf{g}_{200}$  two-beam condition. Films grown on Si (112) have limited defect density, and all of the defects in the bright field images (Figure 5.8a) have identical contrast in the dark field images (Figure 5.8b). In the case of films grown on Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111], the bright field images (Figure 3c) show a high density of defects originating from the GaP/Si interface, and the corresponding dark field image (Figure 5.8d) contains the same features with reversed contrast, confirming that these are antiphase domains. Plan view transmission electron microscopy (Figure 5.9) shows the same behavior, with no evidence of antiphase domain formation on Si (112). Antiphase domains are clearly seen in  $\mathbf{g}_{200}$  imaging of the plan view sample grown on Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111]. ). However, twins and stacking faults are present in the films, as seen in the  $\mathbf{g}_{111}$  dark field image for growth on (112). Reduced defect density should be achievable by optimization of the nucleation conditions for the (112) orientation.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated growth of high quality, antiphase domain-free GaP on Si (112) substrates using a two-step low temperature pulsed nucleation and high temperature continuous growth. Compared to films grown on Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111], epitaxial thin films are smoother below and above the critical thickness of GaP on Si as measured by atomic force microscopy, and thicker films reach full relaxation at 200 nm thickness. Transmission electron microscopy in cross section and plan view confirm a lack of antiphase domain defects in films grown on (112) versus definitive proof of those defects in films grown on (001) offcut 6° towards [111]. A small population of microtwin and stacking fault defects still exist, which could be removed by further optimization of the TEGa flow rates during nucleation.



FIGURE 5.9: Plan view transmission electron microscopy of  $\sim$  50 nm thick GaP thin films on Si (112) (left) and Si (001) offcut 6° towards [111] (right).

## Chapter 6

# **Conclusions and future directions**

## 6.1 Microwire array photovoltaics

#### 6.1.1 Group IV alloy microwire arrays

Single crystal, epitaxial SiGe alloy microwire arrays were grown with Ge content up to 12%. Wire arrays with high fidelity and large wire heights were grown, although the growth conditions appeared to be much more sensitive to reactor conditions. Further investigation of the wire with TEM and EDAX found Ge-rich layers at the tips of the wires, insinuating that the catalyst is Ge-rich relative to the growing wire material during the growth. The Ge content could be limited by the chemistry of the Cu-Ge-Si system or simply by strain.

While lattice matched top cell growth on these compositions will not result in a high efficiency device, they could serve as a lattice and coefficient of thermal expansion matched substrate for GaP growth. However, the advent of cheap, high quality Si supercedes the need for low lifetime VLS-grown wire arrays. Independent of photovoltaic applications, two possible routes to increasing the Ge content would be to explore the use of an alternative catalyst, such as Au, or to try patterning and growing wires with smaller radii. In the case of the former, Au has eutectic temperatures almost equal for mixtures with Si and Ge, and in the case of the latter, strain relief should become more readily available through traction-free relaxation at the wire base as the radius of a wire is decreased. The availability of high lifetime Si motivates the use of top-down patterning techniques to achieve similar geometries. Efforts in the group have already yielded promising results towards this end.

Looking towards the future, the likely thermodynamically limited growth of the wires and the low price of high lifetime Si wafers precludes any further investigation of Cu-catalyzed growth. However, the geometries explored in these studies could serve as valuable prototypes for top-down etched structures using wet chemical techniques, such as metal-assisted chemical etching, or reactive ion etching. Realizing structures in etched LPCVD grown planar SiGe is not likely to be a fruitful endeavor, as the monetary costs of such an approach will likely present a major challenge to commercial application. If geometric control of wire diameter can be achieved, there could also be room for careful study of the optical properties of potential structures with FDTD.

#### 6.1.2 Group III-V compound semiconductor/Si microwire array tandems

Overall, MOCVD growth of GaP and GaInP on Si microwire arrays proved to be an extremely challenging endeavor. High quality materials were not realized. Complications due to the complex, three-dimensional substrate are likely at the root of many of the defects seen in the layers grown on Si wire arrays. Initial attempts to compensate for the effects of the geometry on the growth rate are promising. Coupled optoelectronic simulations based on experimentally achieved geometries show potential for reaching > 20 % efficiencies.

Future efforts in realizing a tandem wire array device should focus on radically different designs. Top-down wire array fabrication on Si (001) substrates should yield wires with top facets more amenable to GaP growth. The growth rate should be optimized for the geometry given. Optoelectronic simulations will provide insights into interesting geometries. Nanowires, in particular, are quite promising from a optics and materials growth point of view [90]. They could be coupled with planar or top-down etched wire array materials to yield high efficiency tandem devices with minimal use of expensive organometallic precursors.

### 6.2 MOCVD of GaP on Si for c-Si photovoltaics

High quality GaP thin films were grown on Si (112) substrates using the ALE nucleation approach published by others in the field [20, 21, 88]. Our results confirmed the earlier work done by Herbert Kroemer *et al.* [95], finding that this orientation completely inhibited the formation of antiphase domains. Films grown on Si (001) with the same growth conditions contained a significant fraction of antiphase domains. Surprisingly, thick films on (112) relaxed fully, making them tenable for integration of step-graded buffers for GaAsP or GaInP top cells.

Other groups are making great strides in the area of GaP on Si integration. The ALE nucleation and high temperature growth have been developed to the point of antiphase domain-free growth on Si (001) substrates [21]. Furthermore, recent developments out of the National Renewable Energy Laboratory suggest that similar results can be achieved with an As<sub>2</sub> pretreatment anneal rather than careful annealing and homoepitaxial Si growth [92], which could be an easier route to obtaining full surface coverage of double steps. Similar treatment of ultra-high vacuum CVD SiGe layers also allows for antiphase domain-free growth on these substrates [51]. However, the lifetime of Si wafers after heat treatment is an area that needs further investigation to isolate the source of effective lifetime degradation [14].

Another promising route for tandem integration is with epitaxial liftoff and wafer bonding. This eliminates the need for epitaxial growth on Si, removing the lengthy step-graded buffer growth. Many groups are investigating the development of the transparent bonding layer [83] and devices [7, 10, 91, 97]. Another possibility is to look into van der Waals epitaxy, utilizing graphene or another 2D material as a substrate for growth. This route could lead to direct growth of highly mismatched materials, as perfect van der Waals epitaxy should not be influenced by the underlying crystalline substrate. However, obtaining good material quality remains a significant challenge despite some promising results with GaN.

# Appendix A

# Large area Si microwire array growth

## A.1 Large area Si microwire growth



FIGURE A.1: Schematic of the large area wire CVD growth chamber. (C) 2012 IEEE

Wafer scale growth was achieved by purchasing a new CVD reactor capable of growing on 6" silicon wafers. The system is a FirstNano Easytube  $3000^1$  equipped with a rectangular quartz tube with RF heating of a SiC-coated graphite susceptor (Figure A.1). The "cold wall" process enabled by the RF heating was intended to reduce silicon deposition on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Affectionately nicknamed the "Eviltube 3000"

the sidewalls of the tube during growth, thereby enabling higher precursor utilization and longer tube lifetimes. Temperature feedback control was regulated by using a thermocouple inserted into a quartz sheath fitted into the center of the susceptor. A single 6" wafer sits on top of the susceptor.

#### A.1.1 Preparation of growth substrates

6" wafer substrates were prepared using a standard photolithographic liftoff process.

- 1. Degenerately doped wafers with 300-500 nm of thermal oxide (Addison Engineering) were loaded onto a spinner and cleaned with acetone and isopropyl alcohol sequentially.
- 2. After being removed from the spinner chuck, the wafers were placed into an oven at 120 °C for at least 10 minutes to drive off any excess water on the surface.
- 3. The wafers were then loaded into an empty wafer carrier with a small open container of hexamethyldisilazane for 10 minutes to promote photoresist adhesion.
- 4. Shipley S1813 photoresist was then spun on at 4000 rotations per minute. Special care had to be taken to apply enough photoresist to cover the entire wafer. Care was taken in removing the edge bead with a swab and any excess photoresist on the backside of the wafer with wipes, both moistened in acetone, before placing the wafers onto hotplates heated to 115 °C for one minute each.
- 5. Exposure was conducted with a mask consisting of 3  $\mu$ m dots on a 7  $\mu$ m pitch on a hexagonal grid. The best results were achieved by using "vacuum contact."
- 6. Development consisted of a 90 second soak in MF319 with gentle agitation, followed by a thorough DI rinse.
- 7. Prior to removing the exposed oxide, a hard bake was done at 115 °C for ten minutes.
- 8. Oxide removal was done in Buffered HF Improved (Transene) to yield the exposed Si surface without overetching.

- After drying the wafers thoroughly with a N<sub>2</sub> gun, 400 nm of high purity Cu (99.9999%, Alfa Aesar) was deposited using electron beam evaporation.
- Liftoff proceeded in acetone, followed by rinses in isopropyl alcohol and water before drying.

#### A.1.2 Outlook

While we were successful in scaling growth of wire arrays up to 6" wafers, there were many challenges associated with this process  $^{2}$ .

First and foremost, the design of the rectangular reactor tube was such that achieving the positive or negative pressure necessary for even the most rudimentary leak testing was impossible. From our experience with the homebuilt wire growth CVD, run-to-run reproducibility was only achieved after careful He leak testing of all of the components during reactor assembly, leak rate testing between each run, and periodic He leak testing of all elastomeric seals. Without these diagnostic capabilities, there was no systematic method by which to test individual components of the large area wire growth CVD. Furthermore, there is no way to prove that there is a leak in the system. The manufacturer insisted that the vacuum pumped double o-ring seal was enough to prove no leaks were present, but widespread evidence of exposure to chlorine containing gases was present in the form of corrosion on stainless steel parts in the reactor cabinet and in the lab in general. A deep dive of the literature revealed that one group has had success in purging the double o-ring seal with N<sub>2</sub> instead of pulling vacuum [9].

Second, without the loading area encased in a nitrogen purged glovebox, the reactor sidewalls were exposed to ambient air every single time the system was opened. The interior surfaces of the reactor were at the mercy of the ambient humidity, and short of purging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As the point of this document is to archive the experimental details, I think it's important to address some of the issues associated with production on this scale for future generations of graduate students.

samples in the reactor for inordinate amounts of time, residual moisture and oxygen levels could not be controlled.

Third, while photolithography on 6" wafers is possible to do in the Kavli Nanoscience Institute, it is by no means easy to apply photoresist, develop, deposit, and liftoff multiple wafers. The uniformity of the patterns after exposure and liftoff also had plenty of room for improvement.

All of these issues made developing a 6" wire array growth process quite challenging. The first two issues could be resolved by moving to a reactor geometries that enable low or high vacuum leak testing techniques which can be housed inside of a nitrogen purged glovebox assembly to eliminate the effects of ambient humidity. Other issues, such as undesirable deposition on the reactor parts and throughput, could be tackled by thinking carefully about the reactor design. The epitaxial Si CVD reactors being developed by Applied Materials, Solexel, and Crystal Solar could provide valuable ideas and inspiration for a future Si wire growth CVD prototype.

## Appendix B

# Calculation of lattice relaxation from HRXRD RSM's on non-standard orientations

Unfortunately, Panalytical X'Pert Epitaxy does not generate suitable results for non-standard orientations. To work around this limitation, a simple Excel spreadsheet was constructed. This section is a brief walkthrough of the calculations performed in this spreadsheet.

First, the expected d-spacings were calculated for the provided asymmetric and symmetric peak for both the substrate and the film material.

$$d = \frac{a}{\sqrt{h^2 + k^2 + l^2}}$$
(B.1)

The tilt,  $\alpha$ , between the asymmetric and symmetric peaks was calculated. Let [hkl] represent the symmetric peak and [h'k'l'] represent the asymmetric peak.

$$\alpha = \cos^{-1} \frac{[h\vec{k}l] \cdot [h'\vec{k'}l']}{|[h\vec{k}l]||[h'\vec{k'}l']|}$$
(B.2)

Then, the expected peak locations for the substrate were calculated.

$$\omega = \sin^{-1} \frac{\lambda}{2d} \tag{B.3}$$

$$2\theta = 2\omega \tag{B.4}$$

$$\omega' = \sin^{-1} \frac{\lambda}{2d'} \pm \alpha \tag{B.5}$$

$$2\theta' = 2\sin^{-1}\frac{\lambda}{2d'}\tag{B.6}$$

The difference between measured peak locations for the substrate and film were calculated.

$$\Delta \omega = \omega_{film}{}^m - \omega_{substrate}{}^m \tag{B.7}$$

$$\Delta 2\theta = 2\theta_{film}^{m} - 2\theta_{substrate}^{m} \tag{B.8}$$

And likewise for  $\Delta \omega'^m$  and  $\Delta 2\theta'^m$ .

With these values, we arrive at corrected measured peak locations assuming the measured peak locations are simply a reference.

$$\omega_{film}^{corr} = \omega + \Delta\omega \tag{B.9}$$

$$2\theta_{film}^{corr} = 2\theta + \Delta 2\theta \tag{B.10}$$

Then, the d-spacings in the x-direction (surface parallel) are calculated for the substrate, film, and measured films.

$$d_x = \frac{\lambda}{\cos\omega - \cos\left(2\theta - \omega\right)} \tag{B.11}$$

Finally, the relaxation is calculated as

$$R_x = \frac{d_x^{film,corr} - d_x^{substrate}}{d_x^{film} - d_x^{substrate}}$$
(B.12)

# Appendix C

# Preparation of TEM samples using SEM/FIB

All of the specific steps are denoted with bullet points.

First, a protective capping layer is deposited on the area of interest. This cap is necessary to prevent damage to the area of interest. Use a two-step process with electron beam initiation followed by fast ion beam deposition to avoid damaging the surface.

- Pt electron beam induced deposition (EBID) 5 kV, high current Need a continuous conformal coating in the area to assist in promoting deposition versus milling.
- Pt ion beam induced deposition (IBID) 30 kV General rule of thumb 3 pA  $\mu m^{-2}$  and at least 2  $\mu m$  of material.

Next, cuts are made into the surface to define the TEM membrane.

FIB "Regular Cross Section" – 30 kV, 3 nA
One cross section for each side, 180°rotation. Typically needs to be at least two or



FIGURE C.1: SEM and FIB images of procedures done on the host or sacrificial substrate.

three times as deep as the area of interest and 5-10  $\mu$ m long to allow for enough clearance of the FIB to allow cut-out of the membrane.

• FIB "Cleaning Cross Section" – 30 kV, 3 nA

A smaller cut on each side of the membrane to remove any redeposited material.

Then, a U-cut is made in the membrane to prepare it for removal.

FIB "Rectangle" - 30 kV, 3 nA
Rectangular cuts are made to liberate one side of the of the membrane while leaving the other side mostly intact. An example of this can be seen in Figure C.1. The

cut should be ceased immediately after breaking through to the other side to avoid redeposition effects.

FIB "Cleaning Cross Section – 30 kV, 3 nA
Used to clean up the other side of the membrane after cutting through.

Finally, a micromanipulator is inserted and maneuvered such that the tip contacts the free side of the membrane (Figure C.1). A small Pt weld is made to attach the manipulator tip, and then the U-cut is finished to liberate the membrane.

• FIB "Pt dep" -30 kV

Again, staying under 3 pA  $\mu m^{-2}$  is recommended to avoid milling. A small weld is made. Overkill is layers on the order of  $\mu ms$ , but it is sometimes useful...

• FIB "Rectangle" – 30 kV, 3 nA

Punching through the rest of the U-cut. Again, optimizing for material removal vs. redeposition is key to finishing the cut. Higher currents can help.

Next, the liberated membrane is moved to a Cu half-grid and placed into contact with one of the pillars on the grid and welded on before blowing away the manipulator weld. The welding is done with the same considerations for material deposition versus etching discussed beforehand.

After removing the manipulator weld, the thinning process begins. Three critical goals must be balanced during the thinning.

1. Milling rate vs. damage

The energy of the ions is the dominant input into the amount of implantation and damage. As the sample is thinned, the accelerating voltage should be lowered to limit the amount of damaged versus pristine material. 2. Thickness vs. remaining Pt cap

The Pt cap serves as a sacrificial layer to prevent direct milling of the surface by the ion beam. As the sample is thinned, the amount of Pt remaining will be reduced. Extra Pt at the start of the process is important.

3. Size of thin region vs. mechanical stability

Mechanical buckling will occur if the span of the thin region is too large. Several approaches can be taken to mitigate this issue. The typical approach is to thin in a "staircase" fashion, moving to a smaller thinning window sequentially.

This portion of the thinning will require optimization for sample materials and geometries. As a rule of thumb, the final thinning step will be essential to determining the fraction of damaged material. 5 kV final milling/cleaning step will leave 80% of the membrane undamaged, while 500 V will lead to almost no damage whatsoever (96%). 2 kV is suitable for Si, while most compound semiconductors will do worse.

# Appendix D

# Using the Agilent D-Star MOCVD at the Molecular Foundry

## D.1 Metalorganic chemical vapor deposition

Along with molecular beam epitaxy, metalorganic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) is one of the premiere methods of growing high quality compound semiconductor layers with precise control of layer composition and thickness, enabling the growth of highly complex electronic devices, including high mobility transistors, high sensitivity photodetectors, light emitting diodes, solid state lasers, and photovoltaic devices. MOCVD is also known as metalorganic chemical vapor phase epitaxy (MOVPE) and organometallic chemical vapor phase epitaxy (OMVPE). As the name implies, MOCVD is a subset of CVD which uses organometallic precursors. These materials typically come in the solid or liquid phase, and they are introduced to the reactor by flowing  $H_2$  or  $N_2$  carrier gas and collecting the partial pressure after flowing past or bubbling through the material.

For the Group III-V compound semiconductors of interest in this thesis, typical precursors include trimethylgallium, trimethylindium, and trimethylaluminum. Arsine and phosphine

are the most commonly used Group V precursor, but due to the safety issues associated with their toxicity and pyrophoric nature, the work in this thesis has used tertiarybutylphosphine (TBP). TBP possesses additional benefits due to its lower decomposition temperature, which allows growth with lower thermal budgets. Table D.1 contains a list of all of the precursors used in this work and some of their physical properties. Also included are fitted coefficients for the partial pressure of each material at a given temperature T. The partial pressure can be calculated as:

$$\log_{10} P [torr] = A - \frac{B}{T [K]} \tag{D.1}$$

Precursor	Abbrev.	$MP (^{\circ}C)$	BP ( $^{\circ}C$ )	А	B(K)	P (torr) @ T (°C)
Trimethylaluminum	TMAl	15	126	8.224	2134.83	7.8 @ 18
Trimethylgallium	TMGa	-15.8	55.8	8.501	1824	114.6 @ 10
Triethylgallium	TEGa	-82.5	143	8.083	2162	2.8 @ 10
Trimethylindium	TMIn	88	135.8	10.520	3014	1.5 @ 18
Tertiarybutylphosphine	TBP	4	54	7.586	1539	141.5 @ 10

TABLE D.1: List of MOCVD precursors and their properties. A and B refer to the coeffecients of Equation D.1, which can be used to calculate the partial pressure of each species.

With the partial pressure, the temperature of the bubbler and the flow rate, the molar flow rate f can be calculated assuming the concentration of precursor is in the dilute regime, such that the behavior of the gas overall is closer to ideal.

$$f\left[mol\,min^{-1}\right] = \frac{P_{precursor}}{P_{bubbler}} \frac{V\left[L\,min^{-1}\right]}{V_{H_2}\left[L\,mol^{-1}\right]} \tag{D.2}$$

where  $V_{H_2}$  is simply the molar volume of an ideal gas at temperature T given by:

$$V_{H_2}[L \, mol^{-1}] = \frac{62.3637 \times T \, [K]}{P_{bubbler} \, [torr]} \tag{D.3}$$

Key parameters for MOCVD growth include the reactor pressure, substrate surface temperature, and V/III ratio, the ratio between the total molar flow of Group V and Group III precursors.

### D.2 System Overview

The Agilent D-Star phosphide MOCVD at the Foundry is based on a Thomas Swan Epitor II close coupled showerhead reactor heavily modified for computer control. Susceptors for the system made of tungsten or glassy carbon can hold a single 2" or 3" wafer, and  $1 \times 1$  cm chips can be loaded by using a custom laser-cut 3" quartz wafer. A resistive heater below the susceptor allows for sample heating. Temperature feedback is provided by a thermocouple in close proximity to the back surface of the susceptor, and a vertically mounted pyrometer allows for measurement of the sample temperature.

#### D.2.1 Control

The reactor components are depicted in Figure D.1. The inputs into the reactor are split into two sides. The "A" side is populated with Group III precursors and liquid/solid phase dopant precursors, and the "B" side is populated with Group V precursors and gas phase sources. Both sides have a "run" line flowing to the chamber and a "vent" line flowing to the exhaust to allow for equilibration of precursor flow before introduction to the reactor chamber.

The control racks for the system are depicted in Figure D.2. The leftmost rack houses a vacuum setpoint butterfly valve controller, a few vacuum gauge controllers and a temperature readout (not pictured) for thermocouples monitoring bubbler bath temepratures. The center rack houses the reactor temperature controller, substrate rotation controller, and a large panel of MFC and BPC controllers. The rightmost rack houses the opto-isolator boards for the system, which can be used to manually actuate valves and with the automated control



FIGURE D.1: Overview of reactor components. "A" side bubblers and flow control (top left) and the reactor chamber glovebox (top right) are located on the right side of the room facing the hallways. The rear of the reactor glovebox (bottom left) and the "B" side bubblers and flow control (bottom right) are located on the right side.

software. During normal operation, the run line MFC's are set to 4 slm of carrier gas flow each, and the vent line MFC's are set to 5 slm of carrier gas flow each for a total of 18 slm. Refer to Figure D.3 for the location of flow/pressure controls and typical setpoints for the reactor flow and purges.

#### D.2.2 Precursor flow control

To enable precise bubbled precursor flow, each bubbler is equipped with a separate flow and pressure control loop (Figure D.4). An MFC is used to control flow into the loop from the carrier gas manifold, and a hand valve mounted between the MFC and the manifold can be used to isolate the control loop. Pneumatically controlled inlet and outlet valves regulate



FIGURE D.2: Control racks for the Agilent MOCVD.

the flow into and out of the bubbler, and a bypass valve bridges two together for use when precursor flow is not necessary. A pressure controller is mounted between the control loop and valves, allowing flow into the "run" or "vent" lines. In addition, a hand valve allows for access to the control loop through a leak check manifold. This valve should be left closed during normal use.

#### D.2.3 Software, flow control and hardware labeling

Unfortunately, there are several levels of labeling of each precursor. Each MFC/BPC combination is labeled, but the label does not correspond to the material loaded in the bubbler. This label can also be different in the control software. To add yet more confusion, the full scale values on the flow control board and in the control software can be different than

Run A	Vent A	Run B	Vent B	Reactor purge
ININ	IWAN	I WAIZ	TMGa	TEGaz
0-500 sccm	0-2 slm	0-1000 sccm	0-500 sccm	0-10 sccm
As1	As2	P 1	P2	DTBSi
0-200 sccm	Х	X	X	X
TMAA	TMSb	CBr4	Disilane	Alt 1
?	0-100	X	X	0-500 sccm
AMU 1	AMU 2	AMU 3	AMU 4	Alt 2
X	X	X	X	X
BMU 1	BMU 2	Top Port purge	Pyrometer	Annular purge
			purge	
X	X	50 sccm	100 sccm	4 slm
DTBSi BPC	Exhaust N2	Exhaust Air	H2 manifold P	
X	X	X	X	X
TMIn BPC	Cp2Mg BPC	TMAI2 BPC	TEGa1 BPC	TEGa2 BPC
400 torr	400 torr	1500 torr	1200 torr	1450 torr
TMAA BPC	TMSb BPC	CBr4 BPC	Alt 1 BPC	Alt 2 BPC
100 torr	1500 torr	X	400 torr	X

FIGURE D.3: Typical reactor setpoints on board arranged in order of their rack position. Values typically set during growth are highlighted in green. Grey backgrounds indicate items not used during growth. White backgrounds are used for flow control, and unless units are noted, these values are the zero to full scale value from the controller.

the MFC full scale flow value. To de-obfuscate this mess, the labeling, material, flow, and pressure control breakdown is presented for the system in Tables D.2, D.3, and D.4.

Label	Mat.	T (°C)	F (sccm)	C.F.	PC label	PC Ctrl	PC C.F.	P (torr)
TMIn	TMIn	18	500	5	TMIn	Y	1	400
Empty	Empty							
Empty	Empty							
TEGa1	TEGa	10	500	5	TEGa1	Υ	1	1500
TEGa2	TMGa	10	10	0.1	TEB	Υ	0.02	1500
TMAl1	$\mathrm{Cp}_{2}\mathrm{Mg}$	18	2000	2	DEZn	Υ	10	400
TMAl2	$\operatorname{CBr}_4$	18	100	0.1	_	Υ	1	1500
Alt1	TMAl	18	500	1	Alt1	Ν	_	400
Alt2	Empty							

TABLE D.2: Group III precursor labels in order from right to left in cabinet.

Correction factors for the flow control board and software are calculated as follows:



FIGURE D.4: Schematic of bubbler flow and pressure control loop.

Label	Mat.	T (° C)	F (sccm)	C.F.	PC Ctrl	PC C.F.	P (torr)
TMSb	TBP	10	500	5	Ν	_	1500
TMAA	DMHz						

TABLE D.3: Group V precursor labels in order from left to right in cabinet.

Label	Gas	F (sccm)	C.F.	PC Ctrl	PC C.F.	Dilution (ppm)
As1	Empty		Used for P1	Used for P1	Used for P1	
As2	Empty					
P1	$SiH_4$ in $H_2$	4.46	40	Υ	40	215
P2	Empty					

TABLE D.4: Gas source precursor labels in order from left to right in cabinet.

$$[Actual flow] = [Correction factor] \times [Input flow]$$
(D.4)

## D.3 Instructions

#### D.3.1 Unloading manually

- 1. Turn off the heater power supply.
- 2. Close hand valves on all bubblers.
- 3. Switch pressure controller to "local" and push "open".
- 4. Ramp run A and run B flows to zero. Switch top port, pyrometer and annular purge from "manual" to "off". Ramp annular purge flow to zero.
- 5. Close "H2 to Manf" (auto to off) and open "N2 to Manf" (off to on).
- 6. Close run and vent ins (Mistic 0:6-9, auto to off).
- 7. Wait for run and vent flows to zero.
- 8. Close run outs (Mistic 0:10 and 13 auto to off).
- 9. Close purge valve (Mistic 0:15). Allow reactor purge flow to go to zero.
- Close "Vent to Exh" (Mistic 5:8, auto to off). Watch chamber exhaust pump vacuum drop to 200 mTorr.
- 11. Push "closed" on the pressure controller. Close "Main Exhaust Valve" (Mistic 5:10, auto to off). Open "Vent to Exh" (Mistic 5:8, off to auto).
- Open "Purge H2" (Mistic 0:15, off to auto). Let chamber come up to 700 torr (about 3 minutes).
- 13. Ramp reactor purge flow to zero. Close purge valve (Mistic 0:15, auto to off).

#### D.3.2 Pumping down manually

- 1. Open main exhaust valve (Mistic 5:10, off to auto).
- 2. Switch pressure controller to "local". Press "A" and wait for the pressure to drop. Ramp down pressure from setpoint A to E to keep the valve open below 10%. Once it reaches the 300 torr range, push "open", and wait for 5 minutes.
- 3. Close "Vent to Exh" (Mistic 5:8, auto to off). Watch chamber exhaust pump vacuum drop to 200 mTorr.
- 4. Push "closed" on the pressure controller. Close "Main Exhaust Valve" (Mistic 5:10, auto to off). Open "Vent to Exh" (Mistic 5:8, off to auto).
- 5. Watch the pressure increase over 2 minutes. If the total increase is greater than 2 Torr, then bring the reactor back up to pressure and check for a leak. Otherwise, continue onwards.
- 6. Open the main exhaust valve (Mistic 5:10, off to auto). Push "open" and then "E" on the pressure controller.
- 7. Close "N2 to Manf" (Mistic 0:5, on to off) and open "H2 to Manf" (Mistic 0:4, off to auto).
- 8. Check to make sure the run A, run B, reactor purge, and annular purge flows are ramped down to zero. Then open "Purge H2" (Mistic 0:15, off to auto).
- 9. Set reactor purge to 0.5 slm and allow it to stabilize. Ramp up to 1 slm.
- Open vent ins (Mistic 0:7-8, off to auto). Allow vent A and vent B to stabilize at 5 slm.
- Check that run A and run B are set to zero. Open run outs and then ins (Mistic 0:6,9,10,13). Set run A and run B to 0.5 slm and allow it to stabilize. Ramp run A and run B up to 4 slm.
- 12. Make sure top port and pyrometer purge flows are set to 50 and 100 sccm. Switch them from off to on.
- 13. Check that annular purge flow is set to zero. Set annular purge flow to 0.3 slm, turn on the controller, and allow it to stabilize. Ramp up the flow to 4 slm.

#### D.3.3 Running your recipe

- 1. Turn substrate rotation on (center cabinet, green button).
- 2. Start OMSW main control panel.
- 3. Ramp substrate rotation up to 25 rpm in 5 rpm increments. You have to press the button in order to set the rotation rate.
- 4. Press "Clear Errors". Wait for message.
- 5. Press "Clear Tables". Wait for message.
- Press "Download a Recipe". Select your recipe file. Proceed onwards without waiting for download complete message.
- 7. Turn on the heater power supply.
- 8. Open hand valves for all bubblers used in growth.
- 9. Wait for "File download complete" message. Then press "Start run".

## Appendix E

# Synopsys Sentaurus TCAD for Tandem Wire Array Simulations

### E.1 Introduction

Workbench	Wrapper to enable passing parameters and data between tools and						
	scripting. Also contains tools for design of experiments (not used						
	here).						
Epi	Easy generation of layered structures. Enables passing informa-						
	tion about these structures to sde.						
MatPar	Automated management of materials parameter files.						
Structure	Structure generation and position dependent materials proper						
Editor	definition on grid.						
Meshing	Generation of an equivalent tensor mesh for FDTD simulation.						
EMW	FDTD simulation using tensor meshes defined in snmesh.						
Device	Drift-diffusion device physics simulation. Interpolation and inte-						
	gration of optical generation profiles onto the device mesh.						
Inspect	Post-processing of results from solvice for display.						
	Workbench Epi MatPar Structure Editor Meshing EMW Device Inspect						

TABLE E.1: List of Sentaurus tools used during simulation

Basic familiarity with the Sentaurus software package is assumed here. Please refer to the manual or an appropriate tutorial before referring to these notes. A summary of the tools used here is in Table E.1.

The workflow summarized here is somewhat different than those utilized by other members of the group. Since the FDTD optical simulations are the rate limiting step, the optical and device simulations are decoupled, and the results of the optical simulations can be fed into the device simulations as they become available.

#### ∃ × /home/ctchen/STDB/rev4/emw (Standard Configuration) - SWB@athena1.caltech.edu vl-2013.12 Project Edit Schedul View Exte Expe PCM Studio ons Help ២ 🖬 😂 🤅 XX 🖻 🐘 🐑 Scenario; al I 🕷 🖬 🚳 🗊 🗊 💥 💵 🔟 🔟 🚺 🚳 .= (A) ۹ ۹. × PORE CaP OPR INSPECT NSPECT R\_TH A\_TM n361: 0.8 0.0864 0.4 0.45 0.5 0.55 n37 .955 .977 .968 .963 .941 .843 .799 n23] n24] n25] n26] [n38] [n39] [n40] [n41] [n42] [n43] 0376 0,150 0,194 [n1]: -[n4]: -[n2]: 0.8 [n3]: [n5]: [n44]: [n45] [n45] [n46]: [n47]: 0.164 .831 10 11 12 13 14 15 •**31**] 0.578 1.0 1.05 1.1 .421 (n19]: 1.05 [n20]: 1.1 [n64]: [n65]: [n80]: --[n94]:--[n95]:--[n109]: [n110]: 0.8 n35] [n50]: I\_2013,12/t FinFET licationNote

#### E.2 Optical simulation

FIGURE E.1: Basic workflow in swb for the optical simulations of a wire tandem device.

#### E.2.1 Setting up the device geometry

With the sheer number of device layers in a tandem type structure, defining each of the layers and their parameters can be quite lengthy. Synopsys recently integrated two helpful

tools: one to assist in creating layers, Epi, and another to assist in generating materials parameters files, Matpar. While Epi is set up to generate a planar structure, the information from Epi can be used to generate arbitrary geometric structures as well.

LISTING E.1: Epi source code for generating GaInP tandem with step-graded buffer on Si

```
#-----,,,,,,,,
 1
   # Chris Chen - Epi command file for generating parameter files for GaInP, AlGaInP
 2
       cells,,,,,,
 3 # Based on code provided by Synopsys,,,,,,
 4
   #-----,,,,,,,,
 5 # Global section,,,,,,
 6 # Total width of device given in um,,,,,,
 7 $global Xmin=0, Xmax=2,,,,,
 8 $global topContact=cathode, bottomContact=anode,,,,,
9 $global append columnNames lifetime,,,,,,
10 $global diameter=2,,,,,,
11 #$global dXmin=0.25, dXmax=0.25,,,,,,
12 #$global dYmin=0.05, dYmax=0.25,,,,,,
13 #$global generate=tdr,,,,,,
14 ,,,,,,,
15 #-----,,,,,,,,
16 # Layers section (ENABLED),,,,,,
17 # Region, Material, SourceParFile, Thickness, Doping, MoleFrac, Refinement, Lifetime
18
   . . . . . . .
19 ar2, MgF, ,0.095, ,, ,-1
20 ar1, TiOx, ,0.055, ,, ,-1
21 topfsf, AlInP,,0.029,4.00E+18,0.5, (mbox 0.001 1.5 ud) (yref 0.005),1.00E-12
22 topem ,GaInP,,0.05,1.80E+18,0.51,(yref 0.005)(mbox 0.001 1.5 ud),1.00E-09
23 topbase, GaInP,,0.77,-1.20E+17,0.51, (yref 0.1) (mbox 0.001 1.5 ud), 1.00E-09
24 topbsf, GaInP,,0.03,-2.00E+18,0.51,(mbox 0.001 1.5 ud)(yref 0.005),1.00E-12
25 tdp,GaInP,,0.015,-4.00E+19,0.51,(yref 0.0005),1.00E-12
26\, # introduce a thin metal layer as series connector instead of using non local
       tunneling model ,,,,,,,
  "# #if [string match ""*tdmetal*"" ""@stack@""]",,,,,,
27
28 # tdmetal,Gold,tdmetal.par,0.001,,,,
29 # #endif,,,,,,,
30 tdn, GaInP,,0.015,1.00E+19,0.51, (yref 0.0005),1.00E-12
31 buf9,GaInP_45,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.45,(yref 0.1)(mbox 0.01 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
32 buf8,GaInP_40,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.4,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
33 buf7,GaInP_35,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.35,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
```

```
buf6,GaInP_30,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.3,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
34
   buf5, GaInP_25,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.25,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
35
  buf4,GaInP_20,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.2,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
36
   buf3,GaInP_15,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.15,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
37
38 buf2,GaInP_10,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.1,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
  buf1,GaInP_5,,0.25,4.00E+18,0.5,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
39
  GaP,GaP,,0.25,4.00E+18,,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.005 1.5 ud),1.00E-12
40
   wire,Silicon,,40,(-2.0E16)(erf 1.0E+19 0 0.05 u),,(yref 0.05)(mbox 0.001 1.05 u)(
41
        mbox 0.001 1.5 d),1.00E-03
42 # botfsf,GaInP,,0.03,7.00E+18,0.51,(mbox 0.0001 15 ud)(yref 0.005),
43 # botem ,GaAs,,0.1,2.00E+18,,(yref 0.005)(mbox 0.001 15 ud),
44 # botbase, GaAs, ,2.539, -1.00E+17,, (yref 0.1) (mbox 0.001 1.5 ud),
45 # botbsf,GaInP,,0.05,-2.00E+18,0.51,(mbox 0.001 1.5 ud)(yref 0.005),
46 # # Generate the distributed Bragg reflector,,,,,,
47 # $repeat 10,,,,,,
48 # dbrhigh$i,AlGaAs,,0.058,-1.00E+18,0.1,(mbox 0.001 1.2 both),
  # dbrlow$i,AlGaAs,,0.069,-1.00E+18,0.8,(mbox 0.001 1.2 both),
49
50 # $end,,,,,,
51 # substrate, GaAs,,1,-1.00E+18,,(mbox 0.01 1.2 up),
52
   . . . . . . .
53 #-----,,,,,,,,
54 # Parameter file section,,,,,,
55 #-----,,,,,,,,
56 # Material,,,,,,,
57
   ,MgF,MgF.par,,,,,
58
   ,TiOx,TiOx.par,,,,,
59
   ,AlInP,AlInP.par,,,0.5,,
60
    ,GaInP,GaInP.par,,,0.51,,
61
   ,GaInP_45,GaInP_45.par,,,0.45,,
62
   ,GaInP_40,GaInP_40.par,,,0.4,,
63
    ,GaInP_35,GaInP_35.par,,,0.35,,
  ,GaInP_30,GaInP_30.par,,,0.3,,
64
65
   ,GaInP_25,GaInP_25.par,,,0.25,,
66
   ,GaInP_20,GaInP_20.par,,,0.2,,
   ,GaInP_15,GaInP_15.par,,,0.15,,
67
68
   ,GaInP_10,GaInP_10.par,,,0.1,,
   ,GaInP_5,GaInP_5.par,,,0.05,,
69
70
   ,GaP,GaP.par,,,,,
71 ,Silicon,Si.par,,,,
72 ,Oxide,Oxide.par,,,,
73
   ,Silver,Ag.par,,,,,
```

```
74 ,Gas,air-nk.par,,,,,
75 ,AlOx,Al2O3.par,,,,,
76 ,,,,,,
77 #------,,,,,,,
78 # Interface,,,,,,,
79 #,AlInP/GaInP,semiconductor-interface.par,,,,
80 #,GaInP/GaInP,semiconductor-interface.par,,,,
```

Using the scripting language built into all of the Sentaurus, the data from Epi can be read into Sentaurus Structure Editor. The structure information defined in Epi is then used to generate a structure file algorithmically using the tcl scripting capabilities built into the Sentaurus Workbench preprocessor.

LISTING E.2: sde source code for generating GaInP tandem with step-graded buffer on Si

```
2 ; Chris Chen
3
 ; Mismatched Ga51In49P/Si wire array tandem cell
  ; rev4 - emw (optical generation only)
4
  ; 2014-04
5
 ; Advances
6
\overline{7}
 ; - Uses tcl scripting and Epi file to generate the structure algorithmically
  8
9
10 (display "Mismatched Ga51In49P/Si wire array tandem cell - Structure Creation")
11 (display "Wiping memory... ")
12 (sde:clear)
 (display "Wipe complete!")
13
14
15 #setdep @node|epi@
 #if ![file exists "n@node|epi@_epi.tcl"]
16
   # Warning: epi tcl file does not exist. Run epi node first.
17
18
   #exit
19
 #endif
20
21
 22 ; Definitions
24 (display "Define ALL THE VARIABLES")
25 (newline)
```

```
26
27 (define SiLT
                1E-3 );; [s]
28 (define GaInPLT 1E-9 ) ;; [s]
29 (define windowLT 1E-9 ) ;; [s]
30 (define defectLT 1E-12);; [s]
31
32 (define diameter 2)
33 (define SiOx_th 0.11)
34 (define height !(
35
    source n@node|epi@_epi.tcl
36
    puts $epi(region,wire,thickness)
37)!)
  (define mask 2)
38
39
  ;; ARC parameters, optimized for a planar AlInP slab
40
41 (define MgFT
                  0.095 ) ;; [um]
   (define TiOxT
                  0.055 ) ;; [um]
42
43
44 ;; Output file parameters
45 (define fname
               "n@node@_bnd" )
                                ;;
46 (define elname "n@node@_el_msh" ) ;;
47
48
  ;; REFINEMENT CONSTANTS
49 (define tiny 0.025)
50 (define lo_dx 0.025)
51 (define hi_dx 0.25)
52
54 ; Structure Creation
55
  56 (display "Create ALL THE THINGS n")
57
58
  (sdegeo:set-default-boolean "BAB")
59
  (sdegeo:create-rectangle
60
61
     (position (* diameter -0.5) 0 0)
62
     (position (* diameter 0.5) (* -1 height) 0 )
     "Silicon" "wire")
63
64
65
  (sdegeo:create-rectangle
66
     (position (- (* diameter -0.5) SiOx_th) (* height -1) 0)
```

```
(position (+ (* diameter 0.5) SiOx_th) (* mask -1) 0)
67
       "Oxide" "oxide")
68
69
70
71
    ;; Begin Tcl code insert
    !(
72
73
      # Load variables from Epi
      source n@node|epi@_epi.tcl
74
75
76
      set num_regions [expr $epi(matdef,1,row)-1]
      set mask 2
77
78
      set offset 0
79
      set wd 2
80
      puts ";; num regions $num_regions"
81
82
      for {set i 1} {$i < $num_regions} {incr i} {</pre>
83
84
         set row [expr $num_regions-$i]
85
         foreach {key test} [array get epi "region,*,region"] {
86
           if { $row == $epi(region,$test,row)} {
87
             set th [expr $epi(region,$test,thickness)]
88
89
             set top [expr $offset + $th]
             set bot [expr -1*($mask + $offset + $th)]
90
             set dx [expr 0.5*$wd + $offset + $th ]
91
92
             set mat "$epi(region,$test,material)"
93
             puts ";; $row : $test"
94
             puts "(sdegeo:create-rectangle"
95
             puts "t(position (* $dx -1) $bot 0)"
             puts "\t(position $dx $top 0)"
96
             puts "\t\"$mat\" \"$test\")"
97
98
99
             set offset [expr $offset + $th]
100
101
             puts "(sdegeo:fillet-2d (list"
102
             puts "\t(car (find-vertex-id (position -$dx $bot 0)))"
103
             puts "\t(car (find-vertex-id (position $dx $bot 0)))"
             puts "\t(car (find-vertex-id (position -$dx $top 0)))"
104
105
             puts "\t(car (find-vertex-id (position $dx $top 0))) )"
             puts "\t$offset )"
106
107
```

```
108
           break
109
         }
110
       }
111
      }
112
      set toplim [expr $offset + 3.5]
113
      set pitch [expr $wd + $offset]
114
115
116
      puts ";; Gas for EMW simulation"
117
      puts ";; Top of the world: $toplim"
      puts ";; Pitch: $pitch"
118
119
      puts "(sdegeo:create-rectangle"
120
      puts "\t(position (* (+ $wd $offset) -1) (* $epi(region,wire,thickness) -1) 0)"
121
      puts "\t(position (+ $wd $offset) (+ $offset 3.5) 0)"
122
      puts "\t\"Gas\" \"gas\" )"
123
      puts ";; back reflector"
124
125
      puts "(sdegeo:create-rectangle"
      puts "\t(position (* (+ $wd $offset) -1) (* $epi(region,wire,thickness) -1) 0)"
126
127
      puts "\t(position (+ $wd $offset) (- (* $epi(region,wire,thickness) -1) 0.5) 0)"
      puts "\t\"Silver\" \"br\" )"
128
129
130 )!
131
   ;; End Tcl code insert
132
133 (display "save-boundary") (newline)
134 (sdeio:save-tdr-bnd "all" (string-append fname ".tdr"))
135
    136
   : Lifetime Definition
137
   138
139
   ;; Begin Tcl code insert
140
   !(
141
      source n@node|epi@_epi.tcl
      foreach {key region} [array get epi "region,*,region"] {
142
143
        if {$epi(region, $region, lifetime) > 0 } {
144
         puts "(sdedr:define-constant-profile \"$region\_LTe\" \"eLifetime\" $epi(region
        ,$region,lifetime))"
         puts "(sdedr:define-constant-profile \"$region\_LTh\" \"hLifetime\" $epi(region
145
        ,$region,lifetime))"
```

```
146
         puts "(sdedr:define-constant-profile-region \"$region\_LTe\" \"$region\_LTe\"
       \"$region\" 0 \"Replace\")"
147
         puts "(sdedr:define-constant-profile-region \"$region\_LTh\" \"$region\_LTh\"
       \"$region\" 0 \"Replace\")"
148
       }
     }
149
150 )!
   ;; End Tcl code insert
151
152
153
   ; Dopant Placement
154
155
   156
157
   ;; wire cell doping
158
159
   ;; bkg doping
160
   (sdedr:define-constant-profile "wire" "BoronActiveConcentration" 5.0E17)
161
   (sdedr:define-constant-profile-region "wire" "wire" "wire" 0 "Replace")
162
   ;; Gaussian emitter doping (courtesy of DBTE)
163
   (sdedr:define-refinement-window "wireemtop" "Line"
164
     (position (* diameter -0.5) 0 0)
165
166
     (position (* diameter 0.5) 0 0))
   (sdedr:define-refinement-window "wireemleft" "Line"
167
     (position (* diameter -0.5) 0 0)
168
169
     (position (* diameter -0.5) (* height -0.75) 0))
170
   (sdedr:define-refinement-window "wireemleft" "Line"
171
     (position (* diameter 0.5) 0 0)
172
     (position (* diameter 0.5) (* height -0.75) 0))
   (sdedr:define-gaussian-profile "wireem" "PhosphorusActiveConcentration"
173
     "PeakPos" 0 "PeakVal" 1.0E+19 "Length" 0.05 "Erf" "Factor" 0.)
174
   (sdedr:define-analytical-profile-placement "wireemtop" "wireem" "wireemtop" "Positive
175
       " "NoReplace" "Eval")
176
   (sdedr:define-analytical-profile-placement "wireemright" "wireem" "wireemright" "
       Negative" "NoReplace" "Eval")
   (sdedr:define-analytical-profile-placement "wireemleft" "wireem" "wireemleft" "
177
       Positive" "NoReplace" "Eval")
178
180 ; Mesh Refinement
```

```
182\, # This section has been turned off for the EMW only simulations
183 #if 0
184 ;; Global refinement
    (sdedr:define-refinement-size "REF_global" 0.5 0.5 0 0.5 0.5 0)
185
    (sdedr:define-refinement-window "WIN_global" "Rectangle"
186
      (position (* pitch -0.5) 0 0 )
187
188
      (position (* pitch 0.5) (+ height defectT tjT tjT topBaseT topEmitterT windowT
        TiOxT MgFT 3.5) 0)
                             )
189
    (sdedr:define-refinement-placement "REF_global" "REF_global" "WIN_global")
190
    ;; Doping refinement
191
   ;(sdedr:define-refinement-size "doping" 0.1 0.05 0 0.1 0.05 )
192
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-function "doping" "DopingConcentration" "MaxTransDiff" 1)
193
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-placement "doping" "RefinementDefinition_Si" "WIN_global")
194
195
196
    ;; Bottom contact
197
    (sdedr:define-refinement-window "WIN_bottom_contact" "Rectangle"
      (position (* diameter -0.5) 0 0)
198
199
      (position (* diameter 0.5) 0.2 0) )
    (sdedr:define-multibox-size "SIZE_bottom_contact" hi_dx hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx 1 1.5)
200
    (sdedr:define-multibox-placement "PLACE_bottom_contact" "SIZE_bottom_contact" "
201
        WIN_bottom_contact")
202
203
    ;; Si uw bottom cell refinement
204
    (sdedr:define-refinement-window "WIN_Si_top" "Rectangle"
205
      (position (* diameter -0.5) height 0)
206
      (position (* diameter 0.5) (- height 0.2) 0) )
207
    (sdedr:define-multibox-size "SIZE_Si_top" hi_dx hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx 1 -1.5)
    (sdedr:define-multibox-placement "PLACE_Si_top" "SIZE_Si_top" "WIN_Si_top")
208
209
210
    (sdedr:define-refinement-window "WIN_Si_R" "Rectangle"
      (position (- (* diameter 0.5) 0.2) (- height SiEmitterH 0.2) 0)
211
212
      (position (* diameter 0.5) height 0) )
    (sdedr:define-multibox-size "SIZE_Si_R" hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx lo_dx -1.5 -1.5)
213
    (sdedr:define-multibox-placement "PLACE_Si_R" "SIZE_Si_R" "WIN_Si_R")
214
215
    (sdedr:define-refinement-window "WIN_Si_L" "Rectangle"
216
      (position (* diameter -0.5) (- height SiEmitterH 0.2) 0)
217
218
      (position (+ (* diameter -0.5) 0.2) height 0) )
219 (sdedr:define-multibox-size "SIZE_Si_L" hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx lo_dx 1.5 1.5)
220 (sdedr:define-multibox-placement "PLACE_Si_L" "SIZE_Si_L" "WIN_Si_L")
```

```
221
222
    ; Defect region interface refinement
223 (extract-refwindow (find-face-id (position 0 (+ height defectT) 0)) "WIN_defect")
224 (sdedr:define-refinement-size "SIZE_defect" hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx lo_dx)
    (sdedr:define-refinement-function "SIZE_defect" "MaxLenInt" "GaInP" "GaInP" 5e-3 1.5)
225
   (sdedr:define-refinement-function "SIZE_defect" "MaxLenInt" "GaInP" "Silicon" 5e-3
226
        1.5)
    (sdedr:define-refinement-placement "PLACE_defect" "SIZE_defect" "WIN_defect")
227
228
229
   ; Base region interface refinement
   (extract-refwindow (find-face-id (position 0 (+ height defectT tjT tjT topBaseT) 0))
230
        "WIN_topBase")
231 (sdedr:define-refinement-size "SIZE_topBase" hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx lo_dx)
232
    (sdedr:define-refinement-function "SIZE_topBase" "MaxLenInt" "GaInP" "GaInP" 5e-3
        1.5)
   (sdedr:define-refinement-placement "PLACE_topBase" "SIZE_topBase" "WIN_topBase")
233
234
    ; Window region interface refinement
235
236
    ;(extract-refwindow (find-face-id (position 0 (+ height defectT tjT tjT topBaseT
        topEmitterT windowT) 0)) "WIN_window")
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-size "SIZE_window" hi_dx hi_dx lo_dx lo_dx)
237
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-function "SIZE_window" "MaxLenInt" "AlInP" "GaInP" 5e-3
238
        1.5)
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-function "SIZE_window" "MaxLenInt" "AlInP" "TiOx" 5e-3 1.5)
239
    ;(sdedr:define-refinement-placement "PLACE_window" "SIZE_window" "WIN_window")
240
241
242
    ; Tunnel junction refinement
243
    ;(extract-refwindow (find-face-id (position 0 (+ height defectT tjT
244
    ; Constant refinement for window and tunnel junction
245
    (sdedr:define-refinement-size "SIZE_tiny" tiny tiny tiny tiny)
246
    (sdedr:define-refinement-region "PLACE_tj_n" "SIZE_tiny" "REGION_tj_n")
247
248
    (sdedr:define-refinement-region "PLACE_tj_p" "SIZE_tiny" "REGION_tj_p")
249
   # (sdedr:define-refinement-region "PLACE_window" "SIZE_tiny" "REGION_window")
250
    #endif
251
252
253
254
   ;;------
255
    256
   ; MESHING!
```

The code for mpr used in this case is identical to the default script file automatically generated by swb. snmesh is then called to generate the tensor mesh using the boundaries defined by the Structure Editor. To make the FDTD calculation accurate and tenable, the mesh is defined by setting 15 nodes per wavelength for each of the materials.

#### E.2.2 Running FDTD

FDTD was run with single wavelength plane wave excitation. Both the TE and TM polarizations were performed – the TE case is shown here.

LISTING E.3: emw source code for running FDTD simulation

```
# EMW Simulation Code
1
\mathbf{2}
   # Chris Chen (c) 2015
3
   # Based on code provided by Synopsys and Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans
4
   ## DEFINITIONS
5
6
\overline{7}
   # Wire height in um
   #define height 40
8
9
   # Size of the simulation regime in the x-direction in um
10
   #define pitch @< 5.559 * 2>@
11
12
13
   # Highest point on the wire device in um
   #define topOfTheWorld 7.059
14
15
16
   ## BEGIN EMW CODE
17
18
   Globals {
19
      GridFile = "@tdr@"
     ParameterFile = "@parameter@"
20
```

```
InspectFile
                    = "@plot@"
21
22
     LogFile = "@log@"
23
     TotalTimeSteps = 10000000
     NumberOfThreads = maximum
24
25 }
26
27 ComplexRefractiveIndex {
28
     WavelengthDep = {Real,Imag}
29 }
30
31
32 ## BOUNDARY CONDITIONS
33
34 Boundary {
35
     Туре
           = Periodic
     Sides = {X}
36
37
  }
38
39 Boundary {
40
   Туре
          = CPML
     Sides = {Y}
41
42 }
43
44 PECMedia {
     Region = {"br"}
45
46 }
47
48 ## EXCITATION
49
50 PlaneWaveExcitation {
51
     BoxCorner1 = (@<-pitch*0.5>@, @<topOfTheWorld - 2>@, 0)
     BoxCorner2 = (@< pitch*0.5>@, @<topOfTheWorld - 2>@, 0)
52
     Theta = 180
53
     Psi = 0
54
     Wavelength = @<1000.*@wl@>@
55
56
     Intensity = 0.1
     Nrise = 4
57
58 }
59
60 ## SENSORS AND EXTRACTORS
61
```

```
62 Plot {
63
      Name = "n@node@_Eabs"
      Quantity = {AbsElectricField, AbsMagneticField}
64
65
      FinalPlot = yes
66 }
67
68 Extractor {
69
      Name = "n@node@_a"
70
      Quantity = {AbsorbedPhotonDensity}
71 }
72
73
   Sensor {
74
              = "total"
      Name
75
      Quantity = PhotonFluxDensity
76
      BoxCorner1 = (@< pitch*-0.5>@, @<topOfTheWorld - 3>@, 0)
77
      BoxCorner2 = (@< pitch*0.5>@, @<topOfTheWorld - 3>@, 0)
      Mode
            = {Integrate}
78
79 }
80
81 Sensor {
              = "reflected"
82
      Name
      Quantity = PhotonFluxDensity
83
84
      BoxCorner1 = (0 < pitch * -0.5 > 0, 0 < topOfTheWorld - 1 > 0, 0)
      BoxCorner2 = (@< pitch*0.5>@, @<topOfTheWorld - 1>@, 0)
85
86
      Mode
             = {Integrate}
87 }
88
89
   Sensor {
90
      Name
                 = "absorbed_total"
      Quantity = absorbedPhotonDensity
91
92
      BoxCorner1 = (@< pitch*-0.5>@, @< height *-1 >@, 0)
      BoxCorner2 = (@< pitch*0.5>@, topOfTheWorld, 0)
93
                 = {Integrate}
94
      Mode
95 }
96
97
   # Begin Tcl code insert
98
    !(
99
      # Load variables from Epi
      source n@node|epi@_epi.tcl
100
101
102
      # Add code to integrate absorbedPhotonDensity from EMW simulation for each region
```

```
foreach {key region} [array get epi "region,*,region"] {
103
104
         puts "Sensor {"
105
         puts "\tName\t=\"absorbed_$region\""
106
         puts "\tQuantity\t= absorbedPhotonDensity"
107
         puts "\tRegion\t= {\"$region\"}"
         puts "\tMode\t= {Integrate}"
108
         puts "}"
109
110
      }
111
    )!
112
    Detector {
113
      Tolerance = 1e-3
114
   }
115
```

#### E.2.3 Creating generation maps and integrating optical generation

The field profiles generated by each FDTD simulation is weighted by the AM1.5G spectrum interpolated onto the device mesh.

Finally, the total generation current is considered. Separating the optics from the device physics allows for independent optimization before extracting the device physics.

LISTING E.4: Code/emw/inspect\_ins.cmd

```
load_library extend
1
  set gc "[file tail [file rootname @plot@]]"
\mathbf{2}
3
   proj_load "$gc.plt"
4
5
6
   set factor [expr 1e-12*1.6e-19*1e3/(2e-8)]
7
8
   set p_Si [ ds_getValue $gc "IntegrSilicon OpticalGeneration" ]
9
  set g_Si [ expr $p_Si*$factor ]
   ft_scalar G_Si [format %.4g $g_Si]
10
11
12 #if 0
13 set p_GaInP [ ds_getValue $gc "IntegrGaInP OpticalGeneration" ]
14 set g_GaInP [ expr $p_GaInP*$factor ]
15 ft_scalar G_GaInP [format %.4g $g_GaInP]
```

```
16
   #endif
17
18
   set p_buf9 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf9 OpticalGeneration" ]
19
   set p_buf8 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf8 OpticalGeneration" ]
20
   set p_buf7 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf7 OpticalGeneration" ]
21
  set p_buf6 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf6 OpticalGeneration" ]
22
23 set p_buf5 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf5 OpticalGeneration" ]
  set p_buf4 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf4 OpticalGeneration" ]
24
25 set p_buf3 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf3 OpticalGeneration" ]
26 set p_buf2 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf2 OpticalGeneration" ]
   set p_buf1 [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrbuf1 OpticalGeneration" ]
27
   set p_buf0 [ ds_getValue $gc "IntegrGaP OpticalGeneration" ]
28
29
   set g_buf [expr ($p_buf9+$p_buf9+$p_buf8+$p_buf7+$p_buf6+$p_buf5+$p_buf4+$p_buf3+
30
       $p_buf2+$p_buf1+$p_buf0)*$factor]
   ft_scalar G_buf [format %.4g $g_buf]
31
32
  set p_topfsf [ ds_getValue $gc "IntegrAlInP OpticalGeneration" ]
33
34 set p_topem [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrtopem OpticalGeneration" ]
35 set p_topbase [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrtopbase OpticalGeneration" ]
36
  set p_topbsf [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrtopbsf OpticalGeneration" ]
37
  set g_topcell [expr ($p_topem+$p_topbase+$p_topbsf+$p_topfsf)*$factor]
  ft_scalar G_topcell [format %.4g $g_topcell]
38
39
40
41
   set p_tdp [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrtdp OpticalGeneration" ]
42 set p_tdn [ ds_getValue $gc "Integrtdn OpticalGeneration" ]
43 set g_tj [expr ($p_tdp+$p_tdn)*$factor]
44 ft_scalar G_tj [format %.4g $g_tj]
```

#### E.3 Device simulation

#### E.3.1 Defining additional contacts

Since the device physics simulation includes options for probing the performance of individual junctions, the Structure Editor code includes preprocessor flags for defining additional

ct Edit Scheduler View Scena	r10	1001 Parane	ter Experii	ments No	oes Va <u>r</u> iat	Dies PCM	studio E <u>x</u> te	nsions <u>H</u> eip							
២ 🚽 😂 😣 🗙 🕺 🍋		Scenar	io: all		<b>*</b>	. • <del>)(</del> * )	, 🗉	• \$\$>* 🏙 🚹 🐴	🖉 ବ୍ ବ୍ 😣	( 🖓 🖓 💥	VIII 🗹	2 🖬 🌜	9		
cts	Prog	ect Schedul	ler												
/home/ctchen/STDB	_	,	· · ·												
device.gzp				800.0				110	1			VLL			
genw.gzp				00000							/	민극	/	e	pi
GaP pSi zip				- mil				505	Mailtar	SDEVICE	INSPECT	SDEVICE	INSPECT		
C nGaP_pSi			anikkanlı	aju las lišeti	InD Lifesi	CaTeR and		5171	maneed	SIDEVICE	INSPECT	SIDEVICE	INFIGU	anittanll	he 116
🖞 par.tar.gz	10		emittern	re_lifeti	ilnr_lifeti	w711. 100	0 ([_672])	geo [e940]t hettereell	[#941]t	[#942]} ==	[#947]+ ==	[e944]+	[w945]+	enittern 70	1 0E
📄 par	12	-				(101): 100	LU0021	[n340]: bbcconcerr	[0170]t ==	[#249]:	[n720]t	[n792]+	[n345];	70	1.00
lanar.gzp	14	-			n7]: 1.0E-1	[n32]: 500	[n577]+	[nE22]t_toppel]	[n622]t ==	[n624]:	[n625]t ==	[n626]t ==	[v627]t ==	20	1.05
vev3.tar.gz	40	-					EU0001*	[n046]t hatternall	[=047]+	[=040].	[n025]+	[n020].	[n027].	70	1.05
revo	10	-						[n106]: bocconcerr	[n177]+	[#249]	[1040].	[#797]:	[0465]:	70	1.05
- 6 Jostino	40	-	[n1]: 30 v2]: 1.0			[n33]: 100	F-57414	Encool: Landen	[	[1243].	[1021].	[	[1403].	30	4.00
- 🙀 enw. gzp	1/	-					E10041.	[n628]; topcell	[n629]:	[n630]:	[n651]:	[n652]:	[n655];	30	1.00
enu 🗧	40	-						[h352]; Dottoncell	[n355];	[n354]:	[n355];	[n356];	[n357];	50	1.00
enw_angled	10	-		2]: 1.0E		[n39]: 1000		[nili]: tandem	[n105];	[n255];	[n027]:	[nSSS];	Energia	50	1.00
- E planar	20	-					<mark>(</mark> [n538]:	[nbb2]; copceri	Fuepp1:	[1004];	[10000]:	Fuene1:	Fuen/1:		1.05
- te slab_test	21				∿9]: 1.0E-1			[n976]: bottomcell	[n977]:	[n978]:	[n979]:	[n980]:	[n981]:	30	1.0E
sc-111V-sj-ep1.gzp	22							[n112]: tandem	[n184]:	[n256]:	[n328]:	[n400]:	[n472]:	30	1.0E
si wire?	23	1				[n40]: 50	0 [n539]:	[n658]: topcell	[n659]:	[n660]:	[n661]:	[n662]:	[n663]:	30	1.05
TINIForFPACE_900na	24							[n982]: bottomcell	[n983]:	[n984]:	[n985]:	[n986]:	[n987]:	30	1.0E
🚞 tap	25	[n1228]:				[n41]: 100		[n113]: tandem	[n185]:	[n257]:	[n329]:	[n401]:	[n473]:	30	1.0E
/usr/synopsys/I_2013,12/tcad	26		[rd229]: 5 230]: 1.				[n540]:	[n664]: topcell	[n665]:	[n666]:	[n667]:	[n668]:	[n669]:	30	1.0E
Backend	27	1						[n988]: bottomcell	[n989]:	[n990]:	[n991]:	[n992]:	[n993]:	30	1.0E
Bipolar	28				1231]: 1.0E	1232]: 100	([n1233]:	[n1234]: tandem	[n1235]:	[n1236]:	[n1237]:	[n1238]:	[n1239]:	5	1.0E
	25	1						[n1240]: topcell	[n1241]:	[n1242]:	[n1243]:	[n1244]:	[n1245]:	5	1.0E
FIPOpplicationNotes	30							[n1246]: bottomcell	[n1247]:	[n1248]:	[n1249]:	[n1250]:	[n1251]:	5	1.0E
GettingStarted	31	1				n1252]: 50	[n1253]:	[n1254]: tandem	[n1255]:	[n1256]:	[n1257]:	[n1258]:	[n1259]:	5	1.0E
Hetero	32							[n1260]; topcell	[n1261]:	[n1262]:	[n1263]:	[n1264]:	[n1265]:	5	1.0E
Menory	33			2301: 1.0				[n1266]: bottomcell	[n1267]:	[n1268]:	[n1269]:	[n1270]:	[n1271]:	5	1.0E
Opto	24					n1272]: 10[	[n1273]:	[u1074] a band	[-1076]+	F=19761+	[-1077].	[-4079].	[	c	1.05
Power Cottopp	34							Enizzadi: Candem	(012/5]:	[012/6]:	fur5//]:	(niz/6]:	(m2/3]:	0	1.00
	35							[n1280]; topcell	[n1281]:	[n1282];	[n1283]:	[n1284];	[n1285];	5	1.0E-
	36							[n1286]; bottomcell	[n1287]:	[n1288];	[n1289]:	[n1290];	[n1291];	5	1.0E-
	37				2921: 1.0E	12931: 10	([n1294]:	[n1295]; tandem	[n1296]:	[n1297]:	[n1298]:	[n1299]:	[n1300]:	5	1.0E-
	i i i	-						Internet Panager	TRUMPTI			TRACKING IN THE			1.1.1.1.1.1.1
	piled 1														

FIGURE E.2: Basic workflow in swb for the device simulations of a wire tandem device.

contacts.

LISTING B	E.5: Co	ode/devi	ice/sde_o	lvs_diff.txt
-----------	---------	----------	-----------	--------------

```
#if [string match "topcell" "@geo@"]
1
\mathbf{2}
     (display "add additional contact \n")
      (sdegeo:define-contact-set "middle" 4 (color:rgb 0 1 0) "##")
3
4
     (sdegeo:set-current-contact-set "middle")
      (sdegeo:define-2d-contact (find-edge-id (position 0 2.53 0)) "middle")
5
   #elseif [string match "bottomcell" "@geo@"]
6
\overline{7}
     (display "add additional contact \n")
     (sdegeo:define-contact-set "middle" 4 (color:rgb 0 1 0) "##")
8
9
     (sdegeo:set-current-contact-set "middle")
10
      (sdegeo:define-2d-contact (find-edge-id (position 0 0 0)) "middle")
11
  #endif
```

#### E.3.2 Simulation

LISTING E.6: Code/device/sdevice1\_des.cmd

1 \* Sentaurus Device - Tandem Wire Array Device Simulation

```
2 * Chris Chen (c) 2015
 3 * Based on code by Synopsys, Dr. Mike Kelzenberg, and Dr. Daniel Turner-Evans
 4
 5\, # Make sure that Epi has been run to provide the variables necessary for the Tcl
        inserts
 6 #setdep @node|epi@
   #if ![file exists n@node|epi@_epi.tcl]
\overline{7}
      # Epi tcl file doesn't exist. Run epi first!
 8
 9
      #exit
10
  #endif
11
12
13 File {
14
      *-Input
15
          Grid
                  = "n@node|sde@_el_msh.tdr"
          LifeTime = "n@node|sde@_el_msh.tdr"
16
          Parameters ="@parameter@"
17
18
          OpticalGenerationInput = "n@node|sdevice@_des.tdr"
19
      *-Output
20
          Plot
                  = "@tdrdat@"
          Current = "@plot@"
21
          Output = "@log@"
22
23
          NonLocalPlot = "n@node@_nl"
24 }
25
26
27
   Electrode {
28
      { Name="cathode" Voltage=0 hRecVelocity = 100} * top contact
      { Name="anode" Voltage=0 eRecVelocity = 100} * bottom contact
29
      #if ![string match "tandem" "@geo@"]
30
      * Middle contact defined for single cell simulations
31
      { Name="middle" Voltage=0 eRecVelocity = 100} * bottom contact
32
      #endif
33
34 }
35
36
37
   Physics {
38
        AreaFactor = @<1.0E+11/5.559/2>@ * to get current in mA/cm^2
39
40
        Fermi
41
        Recombination( SRH )
```

```
42
        ThermionicEmission
43
          eBarrierTunneling "TD_NLM" (
44
45
                Band2Band
46
                TwoBand
47
          )
48
          hBarrierTunneling "TD_NLM"(
49
50
                Band2Band
51
                TwoBand
52
          )
53
54
        Optics (
55
              OpticalGeneration (
56
            ReadFromFile (
                Scaling =0
57
                TimeDependence (
58
59
                       WaveTime = (0.9, 10)
                       Scaling = 1.0
60
61
                )
62
            )
63
              )
64
          )
   }
65
66
   * Begin materials/region physics definitions!
67
   * Initialize all GaInP region physics models from Epi
68
69
   !(
70
      source n@node|epi@_epi.tcl
71
72
      foreach {key region} [array get epi "region,*,region"] {
73
        if {[string match "GaInP*" "$epi(region,$region,material)"]} {
          puts "Physics (region=\"$region\") {"
74
          puts "\tMobility(ConstantMobility)"
75
          puts "\tRecombination(Radiative Auger)"
76
77
          puts "\tMoleFraction ( xFraction = $epi(region, $region, xMole) )"
          puts "}"
78
79
        }
80
81
      }
82
   )! * tcl script for writing out all GaInP region physics
```

```
83
    * Explicit materials physics model definitions
84
    Physics (material="Silicon") {
 85
 86
      Mobility (
 87
        DopingDependence
        HighFieldSaturation
 88
 89
      )
   }
 90
 91
92
    Physics (material="AlInP") {
         EffectiveIntrinsicDensity(NoBandgapNarrowing)
93
 94
         Mobility ( ConstantMobility )
        Recombination( Radiative ) # no Auger model currently defined!
95
 96
         # Recombination( Radiative Auger )
97
   }
98
    * Begin interface physics definitions!
99
100
    #if 1
101
102
   !(
103
      source "n@node|epi@_epi.tcl"
      foreach {key interface} [array get epi "matintdef,*,material"] {
104
105
        puts "Physics (materialInterface=\"$interface\") {"
         puts "\tRecombination (surfaceSRH)"
106
        puts "}\n"
107
      }
108
109 )!
110 #else
111 Physics (materialInterface="Silicon/GaP") {
        Recombination(surfaceSRH)
112
113 }
114
    Physics (materialInterface="TiOx/AlInP") {
115
         Recombination(surfaceSRH)
116
   }
117
118
119
   Physics (materialInterface="Oxide/Silicon") {
         Recombination(surfaceSRH)
120
121
   }
122
123 Physics (materialInterface="Oxide/GaInP") {
```

```
124
         Recombination(surfaceSRH)
125 }
126 #endif
127
128
129
130
   Plot {
131
      xMoleFraction Doping DonorConcentration AcceptorConcentration
132
      eEffectiveStateDensity hEffectiveStateDensity EffectiveIntrinsicDensity
         IntrinsicDensity
      eDensity hDensity SpaceCharge
133
134
      eQuasiFermiPotential hQuasiFermiPotential BandGap ConductionBandEnergy
        ValenceBandEnergy ElectronAffinity
135
      ElectricField ElectricField/vector ElectrostaticPotential
136
      eLifetime hLifetime SRH Auger TotalRecombination SurfaceRecombination
         RadiativeRecombination
       eCurrent/Vector hCurrent/Vector current/vector
137
138
       eMobility hMobility eVelocity hVelocity
139
      SRH Auger TotalRecombination SurfaceRecombination RadiativeRecombination
140
      BarrierTunneling
      eBarrierTunneling hBarrierTunneling
141
142
      NonLocal
143
      OpticalGeneration
144 }
145
146 NonLocalPlot ((0, 0)) {
      ConductionBand ValenceBand
147
148
      hDensity eDensity
      hQuasiFermi eQuasiFermi
149
      NonLocal
150
151 }
152
153
    Math {
      -CheckUndefinedModels
154
         RhsMin = 1E-12
155
156
        Extrapolate
157
        Derivatives
158
         RelErrControl
159
        Iterations = 10
        ExtendedPrecision
160
161
         Digits = 7
```

```
162
         Notdamped = 100
163
         ErrRef(electron) = 1E0
164
         ErrRef(hole) = 1E0
165
         ExitOnFailure
166
         Number_of_Threads = 8
         StackSize = 20000000 * 20MB; needed for NewRayTracer
167
168
         Method=ParDiso
169
      #Method=ILS
170
         NonLocal "TD_NLM" (
171
             RegionInterface = "tdn/tdp"
172
             Length=15e-7
                                     # [cm] distance to anchor point
173
             Permeation = 15e-7
174
        )
175
176
         DirectCurrent
177
       # Cylindrical(0.0)
178
179
         Transient = BE
180
         TransientDigits = 7
181
182
         TransientErrRef(electron) = 1E0
183
         TransientErrRef(hole) = 1E0
184
       * CNormPrint
185
   }
186
187
188
    Solve {
189
         NewCurrentPrefix = "tmp_"
190
191
192
         Coupled { poisson }
193
         Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm")
         Coupled { poisson electron }
194
    #
         Coupled { poisson hole }
195
    #
         Coupled { poisson electron hole }
196
    #
197
         Transient (
198
           InitialStep=1e-18 MaxStep =0.2 MinStep = 1e-40 Increment=2
199
           InitialTime=0 FinalTime=1
200
         ){ Coupled (Iterations=10) {Poisson Electron Hole } }
201
202
```

```
203
         NewCurrentPrefix = "Light_IV"
204
      #if [string match "topcell" "@geo@"]
205
206
         Quasistationary (
207
           InitialStep=1e-4 MaxStep =5e-3 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.7 DoZero
           Goal{ voltage = -1.3 Name="cathode" }
208
209
         ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
210
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" Time = (0) )
211
         }
212
213
         Save( FilePrefix = "tmp_n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" )
214
215
         NewCurrentPrefix = "tmp_2"
216
217
         Quasistationary (
218
           InitialStep=1e-2 MaxStep =0.1 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.5 DoZero
           Goal{ current = 0 Name="cathode" }
219
220
        ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
221
         r
222
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Voc")
223
      #elseif [string match "bottomcell" "@geo@"]
224
         Quasistationary (
225
           InitialStep=1e-4 MaxStep =5e-3 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.7 DoZero
           Goal{ voltage = 0.7 Name="anode" }
226
         ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
227
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" Time = (0) )
228
         }
229
230
231
         Save( FilePrefix = "tmp_n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" )
232
233
         NewCurrentPrefix = "tmp_2"
234
235
         Quasistationary (
236
           InitialStep=1e-2 MaxStep =0.1 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.5 DoZero
           Goal{ current = 0 Name="anode" }
237
238
        ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
239
         }
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Voc")
240
241
      #else
242
         Quasistationary (
243
           InitialStep=1e-4 MaxStep =5e-3 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.7 DoZero
```

```
244
           Goal{ voltage = 2.1 Name="anode" }
245
         ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" Time = (0) )
246
247
          }
248
         Save( FilePrefix = "tmp_n@node@_Banddgm_Jsc" )
249
250
251
         NewCurrentPrefix = "tmp_2"
252
253
         Quasistationary (
           InitialStep=1e-2 MaxStep =0.1 MinStep = 1e-30 Increment=1.5 DoZero
254
255
           Goal{ current = 0 Name="anode" }
256
        ){ Coupled {Poisson Electron Hole }
257
          }
258
            Plot( FilePrefix = "n@node@_Banddgm_Voc")
259
       #endif
260
261
262
       System("rm -f tmp*") *remove the plot we dont need anymore.
263
       System("rm -f tmp2*") *remove the plot we dont need anymore.
264 }
```

#### E.3.3 Extracting Useful Parameters

LISTING E.7: Code/device/inspect1\_ins.cmd

```
1
2 # Plot light J-V and P-V curves and extract Photovoltaic parameters
3 # or Plot dark J-V characteristics
4
5 # #setdep @node|sdevice1@
6
7 set N
           @node@
8
  set i
           @node:index@
9
10 # proj_load @plot@ PLT_JV($N)
11 proj_load Light_IVn@previous@_des.plt PLT_JV($N)
12
13\, #- Automatic alternating color assignment tied to node index
14 #------#
```

```
15 set COLORS [list orange green blue red violet brown orange magenta]
16 set NCOLORS [llength $COLORS]
17 set color
               [lindex $COLORS [expr $i%$NCOLORS]]
18
19 #if [string match "topcell" "@geo@"]
20 # Plot light J-V characteristics and extract PV parameters
21 cv_createDS J($N) "PLT_JV($N) cathode OuterVoltage" "PLT_JV($N) cathode TotalCurrent
22
23 cv_inv J($N) y
24
25 \quad \texttt{cv\_create V(\$N)} \quad \texttt{"PLT\_JV(\$N) cathode OuterVoltage" "PLT\_JV(\$N) cathode OuterVoltage"}
26
27 cv_createWithFormula P(N) "<V(N)>*<J(N)>" A A
28 cv_display P($N) y2
29
30 cv_setCurveAttr J($N) "light-JV" $color solid 2 circle 3 defcolor 1 defcolor
31 cv_setCurveAttr P($N) "light-PV" $color dashed 2 none 3 defcolor 1 defcolor
32
33 gr_setAxisAttr X {Voltage (V)} 16 {} 0 black 1 14 0 5 0
34 gr_setAxisAttr Y {Current Density (mA/cm^2)} 16 -30 0 black 1 14 0 5 0
   gr_setAxisAttr Y2 {Power (mW/cm^2)} 16 0 26 black 1 14 0 5 0
35
36
37 # Extract Photovoltaic parameters
38 # Extract short circuit current density, Jsc [mA/cm^2]
39 set Jsc($N) [cv_compute "vecvaly(<J($N)>,0)" A A A A]
40 ft_scalar Jsc [format %.2f [expr -1*$Jsc($N)]]
41
42 # Extract open circuit voltage, Voc [V]
43 set Jmin [cv_compute "vecmin(<J($N)>)" A A A A]
44 if {$Jmin <= 0} {
     set Voc($N) [expr [cv_compute "veczero(<J($N)>)" A A A A]]
45
46 } elseif {$Jmin <= 1e-6} {
47
     set Voc($N) [expr [cv_compute "vecvalx(<J($N>,$Jmin)" A A A A]]
48 }
49 ft_scalar Voc [format %.4f [expr -1*$Voc($N)]]
50
51
   # Extract fill factor (FF), maximum power outpout (Pm [mW/cm2]) and efficiency (eff)
52
     set Ps 100 ;#Incident light power density for AM1.5g radiation in mW/cm^2
53
54 if \{\$Voc(\$N) < 0\} {
```

```
set Pm($N) [cv_compute "vecmax(<P($N)>)" A A A A]
55
56
      ## fillfactor in %
57
      set FF($N) [expr $Pm($N)/($Voc($N)*$Jsc($N))*100]
     ## efficiency in % (mW/cm<sup>2</sup>/(100mW/cm<sup>2</sup>)*100%)
58
      set Eff($N) [expr $Pm($N)/$Ps*100]
59
60 }
61
   #else
62
63 # Plot light J-V characteristics and extract PV parameters
64 cv_createDS J($N) "PLT_JV($N) anode OuterVoltage" "PLT_JV($N) anode TotalCurrent"
65
66 cv_inv J($N) y
67
68
   cv_create V($N) "PLT_JV($N) anode OuterVoltage" "PLT_JV($N) anode OuterVoltage"
69
70 cv_createWithFormula P(N) "<V(N)>*<J(N)>" A A
   cv_display P($N) y2
71
72
73 cv_setCurveAttr J($N) "light-JV" $color solid 2 circle 3 defcolor 1 defcolor
74 cv_setCurveAttr P($N) "light-PV" $color dashed 2 none 3 defcolor 1 defcolor
75
76 gr_setAxisAttr X {Voltage (V)} 16 0 {} black 1 14 0 5 0
77 gr_setAxisAttr Y {Current Density (mA/cm^2)} 16 0 30 black 1 14 0 5 0
78 gr_setAxisAttr Y2 {Power (mW/cm^2)} 16 0 26 black 1 14 0 5 0
79
80 # Extract Photovoltaic parameters
81 # Extract short circuit current density, Jsc [mA/cm<sup>2</sup>]
82 set Jsc($N) [cv_compute "vecvaly(<J($N)>,0)" A A A A]
83 ft_scalar Jsc [format %.2f $Jsc($N)]
84
85 # Extract open circuit voltage, Voc [V]
86 set Jmin [cv_compute "vecmin(<J($N)>)" A A A A]
87 if {$Jmin <= 0} {
     set Voc($N) [expr [cv_compute "veczero(<J($N)>)" A A A A]]
88
  } elseif {$Jmin <= 1e-6} {</pre>
89
      set Voc($N) [expr [cv_compute "vecvalx(<J($N>,$Jmin)" A A A A]]
90
91 }
92
  ft_scalar Voc [format %.4f $Voc($N)]
93
94 # Extract fill factor (FF), maximum power outpout (Pm [mW/cm2]) and efficiency (eff)
      set Ps 100 ;#Incident light power density for AM1.5g radiation in mW/cm^2
95
```

```
96
97
   if {$Voc($N) > 0} {
      set Pm($N) [cv_compute "vecmax(<P($N)>)" A A A A]
98
99
      ## fillfactor in %
100
      set FF($N) [expr $Pm($N)/($Voc($N)*$Jsc($N))*100]
      ## efficiency in % (mW/cm<sup>2</sup>/(100mW/cm<sup>2</sup>)*100%)
101
      set Eff($N) [expr $Pm($N)/$Ps*100]
102
103 }
104
105 #endif
106 ft_scalar Pm [format %.4f $Pm($N)]
107 ft_scalar FF [format %.4f $FF($N)]
108 ft_scalar Eff [format %.4f $Eff($N)]
```

## Bibliography

- Standard tables for reference solar spectral irradiances: Direct normal and hemispherical on 37° tilted surface. ASTM G173-03(2012), 2012. doi: 10.1520/G0173-03R12.
- [2] M. Amato, M. Palummo, R. Rurali, and S. Ossicini. Silicon-germanium nanowires: Chemistry and physics in play, from basic principles to advanced applications. *Chemical Reviews*, 114(2):1371–1412, 2014. doi: 10.1021/cr400261y.
- K. Caldeira and M. E. Wickett. Oceanography: anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature, 425(6956):365, 2003. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/425365a.
- [4] C. Cayron, M. Den Hertog, L. Latu-Romain, C. Mouchet, C. Secouard, J. L. Rouviere, E. Rouviere, and J. P. Simonato. Odd electron diffraction patterns in silicon nanowires and silicon thin films explained by microtwins and nanotwins. *Journal of Applied Crystallography*, 42(2):242–252, 2009. ISSN 00218898. doi: 10.1107/S0021889808042131.
- [5] J. P. Connolly, D. Mencaraglia, C. Renard, and D. Bouchier. Designing III-V multijunction solar cells on silicon. *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications*, 22(7):810–820, July 2014. ISSN 10627995. doi: 10.1002/pip.2463.
- [6] J. Davis, A. Rohatgi, R. Hopkins, P. Blais, P. Rai-Choudhury, J. McCormick, and H. Mollenkopf. Impurities in silicon solar cells. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 27(4):677–687, Apr. 1980. doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1980.19922.
- [7] F. Dimroth, T. Roesener, S. Essig, C. Weuffen, A. Wekkeli, E. Oliva, G. Siefer, K. Volz, T. Hannappel, D. Haussler, W. Jager, and A. W. Bett. Comparison of direct growth

and wafer bonding for the fabrication of GaInP/GaAs dual-junction solar cells on silicon. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, 4(2):620–625, 2014. ISSN 21563381. doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2299406.

- [8] K. Domen, M. Kondo, and T. Tanahashi. Analysis for deterioration of radiative efficiency in Zn-doped AlGaInP/GaInP double heterostructures using time-resolved photoluminesence. In *Gallium Arsenide and related Compounds 1992, Proceedings of the* 19th INT Symposium, pages 447–452, Karuizawa, Japan, 1992.
- H. Döscher. Benchmarking surface signals when growing GaP on Si in CVD ambients. Doctoral, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, 2010.
- [10] S. Essig, J. F. Geisz, M. A. Steiner, A. Merkle, R. Peibst, J. Schmidt, R. Brendel, S. Ward, D. J. Friedman, P. Stradins, and D. L. Young. Development of highly-efficient GaInP/Si Tandem Solar Cells. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [11] C. V. Falub, H. von Känel, F. Isa, R. Bergamaschini, A. Marzegalli, D. Chrastina, G. Isella, E. Müller, P. Niedermann, and L. Miglio. Scaling hetero-epitaxy from layers to three-dimensional crystals. *Science*, 335(6074):1330–4, Mar. 2012. ISSN 1095-9203. doi: 10.1126/science.1217666.
- [12] D. M. Follstaedt, R. P. Schneider, and E. D. Jones. Microstructures of (In,Ga)P alloys grown on GaAs by metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 77 (7):3077–3087, 1995. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.358659.
- [13] Y. Galeuchet and P. Roentgen. Selective area MOVPE of GaInAs/InP heterostructures on masked and nonplanar (100) and {111} substrates. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 107 (1-4):147–150, Jan. 1991. ISSN 00220248. doi: 10.1016/0022-0248(91)90447-D.
- [14] E. Garcia-Tabares, D. Martin, I. Rey-Stolle, T. J. Grassman, J. A. Carlin, and S. A. Ringle. Evolution of the Silicon Bottom Cell Photovoltaic Behavior during III-V on Si Multi-junction Solar Cells Production. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.

- [15] E. C. Garnett and P. Yang. Silicon nanowire radial p-n junction solar cells. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 130(29):9224–9225, 2008. ISSN 00027863. doi: 10.1021/ja8032907.
- [16] H. Geaney, E. Mullane, Q. M. Ramasse, and K. M. Ryan. Atomically abrupt silicongermanium axial heterostructure nanowires synthesized in a solvent vapor growth system. *Nano Letters*, 13(4):1675–1680, 2013. doi: 10.1021/nl400146u.
- [17] J. F. Geisz, D. J. Friedman, J. S. Ward, a. Duda, W. J. Olavarria, T. E. Moriarty, J. T. Kiehl, M. J. Romero, a. G. Norman, and K. M. Jones. 40.8% Efficient Inverted Triple-Junction Solar Cell With Two Independently Metamorphic Junctions. *Applied Physics Letters*, 93(12):123505, 2008. ISSN 00036951. doi: 10.1063/1.2988497. URL http://link.aip.org/link/APPLAB/v93/i12/p123505/s1&Agg=doi.
- [18] U. Givan and F. Patolsky. Pressure-modulated alloy composition in Si(1-x)Gex nanowires. Nano Letters, 2009. doi: 10.1021/nl803657z.
- [19] E. Givargizov. Periodic instability in whisker growth. Journal of Crystal Growth, 20 (3):217–226, Oct. 1973. doi: 10.1016/0022-0248(73)90008-0.
- T. J. Grassman, M. R. Brenner, S. Rajagopalan, R. Unocic, R. Dehoff, M. Mills, H. Fraser, and S. A. Ringel. Control and elimination of nucleation-related defects in GaP/Si(001) heteroepitaxy. *Applied Physics Letters*, 94(23):232106, 2009. ISSN 00036951. doi: 10.1063/1.3154548.
- [21] T. J. Grassman, J. A. Carlin, B. Galiana, L.-M. Yang, F. Yang, M. J. Mills, and S. A. Ringel. Nucleation-related defect-free GaP/Si(100) heteroepitaxy via metal-organic chemical vapor deposition. *Applied Physics Letters*, 102(14):142102, Apr. 2013. ISSN 00036951. doi: 10.1063/1.4801498.
- [22] T. J. Grassman, J. A. Carlin, C. Ratcliff, D. J. Chmielewski, and S. A. Ringel. Epitaxially-Grown Metamorphic GaAsP / Si Dual-Junction Solar Cells. In 2013 39th IEEE Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), number c, pages 1–5, 2013.

- M. A. Green. The path to 25% silicon solar cell efficiency: History of silicon cell evolution. Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications, 17:183–189, 2009. ISSN 10627995. doi: 10.1002/pip.892.
- [24] N. Guelton, R. G. Saint-Jacques, G. Lalande, and J.-P. Dodelet. Microstructural study of GaAs epitaxial layers on Ge (100) substrates. *Journal of Materials Research*, 10(4): 843–852, 1995.
- [25] J. B. Hannon, S. Kodambaka, F. M. Ross, and R. M. Tromp. The influence of the surface migration of gold on the growth of silicon nanowires. *Nature*, 440(7080):69–71, Mar. 2006. doi: 10.1038/nature04574.
- [26] R. H. Hopkins and A. Rohatgi. Impurity effects in silicon for high efficiency solar cells. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 75:67–79, 1986.
- [27] T.-K. Hsiao, H.-K. Chang, S.-C. Liou, M.-W. Chu, S.-C. Lee, and C.-W. Chang. Observation of room-temperature ballistic thermal conduction persisting over 8.3 μm in SiGe nanowires. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 8(7):534–8, July 2013. doi: 10.1038/nnano. 2013.121.
- [28] C. Hu and R. M. White. Solar Cells: From Basic to Advanced Systems. McGraw-Hill, 1983.
- [29] M. Ikeda and K. Kaneko. Selenium and zinc doping in Ga0.5In0.5P and (Al0.5Ga0.5)0.5In0.5P grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 66(11):5285, 1989. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.343718.
- [30] T. Kawashima, G. Imamura, M. Fujii, S. Hayashi, T. Saitoh, and K. Komori. Raman and electron microscopic studies of Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy nanowires grown by chemical vapor deposition. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 102(12):124307, 2007. doi: 10.1063/1.2817619.
- [31] B. M. Kayes, H. A. Atwater, and N. S. Lewis. Comparison of the device physics principles of planar and radial p-n junction nanorod solar cells. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 97(11):114302, 2005. doi: 10.1063/1.1901835.

- [32] B. M. Kayes, M. A. Filler, M. C. Putnam, M. D. Kelzenberg, N. S. Lewis, and H. A. Atwater. Growth of vertically aligned Si wire arrays over large areas (¿1 cm2) with Au and Cu catalysts. *Applied Physics Letters*, 91(10):103110, 2007. doi: 10.1063/1. 2779236.
- [33] M. D. Kelzenberg, S. W. Boettcher, J. A. Petykiewicz, D. B. Turner-Evans, M. C. Putnam, E. L. Warren, J. M. Spurgeon, R. M. Briggs, N. S. Lewis, and H. A. Atwater. Enhanced absorption and carrier collection in Si wire arrays for photovoltaic applications. *Nature Materials*, 9(3):239–44, Mar. 2010. doi: 10.1038/nmat2635.
- [34] M. D. Kelzenberg, D. B. Turner-Evans, M. C. Putnam, S. W. Boettcher, R. M. Briggs, J. Y. Baek, N. S. Lewis, and H. a. Atwater. High-performance Si microwire photovoltaics. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 4(3):866, 2011. ISSN 1754-5692. doi: 10.1039/c0ee00549e.
- [35] T. J. Kempa, B. Tian, D. R. Kim, J. Hu, X. Zheng, and C. M. Lieber. Single and tandem axial p-i-n nanowire photovoltaic devices. *Nano letters*, 8(10):3456–60, Oct. 2008. ISSN 1530-6984. doi: 10.1021/nl8023438.
- [36] T. J. Kempa, J. F. Cahoon, S.-K. Kim, R. W. Day, D. C. Bell, H.-G. Park, and C. M. Lieber. Coaxial multishell nanowires with high-quality electronic interfaces and tunable optical cavities for ultrathin photovoltaics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, pages 2–7, Jan. 2012. ISSN 0027-8424. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120415109.
- [37] Y. Kobayashi, K. Ikeda, and Y. Shinoda. Deep levels in GaAs heteroepitaxial layers grown on (100) Ge substrates by MOCVD. *Electronics Letters*, 23(5):242, 1987. ISSN 00135194. doi: 10.1049/el:19870171.
- [38] H. Kroemer. Polar-on-nonpolar epitaxy. Journal of Crystal Growth, 81(1-4):193-204, 1987.
- [39] H. Kroemer, K. Polasko, and S. Wright. On the (110) orientation as the preferred orientation for the molecular beam epitaxial growth of GaAs on Ge, GaP on Si, and similar zincblende-on-diamond systems. *Applied Physics Letters*, 36(9):763–765, 1980.

- [40] H. Kroemer, T.-Y. Liu, and P. M. Petroff. GaAs on Si and related systems: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 95(1 959):96–102, 1989. ISSN 00220248. doi: 10.1016/0022-0248(89)90359-X.
- [41] E. P. Kvam. Interactions of dislocations and antiphase (inversion) domain boundaries in III-V/IV heteroepitaxy. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 23(10):1021–1026, 1994.
- [42] E. K. Lee, L. Yin, Y. Lee, J. W. Lee, S. J. Lee, J. Lee, S. N. Cha, D. Whang, G. S. Hwang, K. Hippalgaonkar, A. Majumdar, C. Yu, B. L. Choi, J. M. Kim, and K. Kim. Large thermoelectric figure-of-merits from SiGe nanowires by simultaneously measuring electrical and thermal transport properties. *Nano Letters*, 12(6):2918–2923, June 2012. doi: 10.1021/nl300587u.
- [43] M. L. Lee, D. A. Antoniadis, and E. A. Fitzgerald. Challenges in epitaxial growth of SiGe buffers on Si (111), (110), and (112). *Thin Solid Films*, 508(1-2):136–139, June 2006. ISSN 00406090. doi: 10.1016/j.tsf.2005.07.328.
- [44] K. Lew, L. Pan, E. C. Dickey, and J. M. Redwing. Effect of growth conditions on the composition and structure of Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> nanowires grown by vapor-liquid-solid growth. *Journal of Materials Research*, 21(11):2876–2881, 2006. doi: 10.1557/JMR.2006.0349.
- [45] K.-K. Lew, L. Pan, E. Dickey, and J. Redwing. Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of Silicon-Germanium Nanowires. Advanced Materials, 15(24):2073-2076, Dec. 2003. doi: 10.1002/adma.200306035.
- [46] S. Limpert, K. Ghosh, H. Wagner, S. Bowden, C. Honsberg, S. Bremner, A. Ho-baillie, and M. Green. Results from Coupled Optical and Electrical Sentaurus TCAD Models of a Gallium Phosphide on Silicon Electron Carrier Selective Contact Solar Cell. In *Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2014 40th IEEE*, pages 836–840, 2014.
- [47] A. C. Lin, M. Fejer, and J. S. Harris. Antiphase domain annihilation during growth of GaP on Si by molecular beam epitaxy. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 363:258–263, Jan. 2013. ISSN 00220248. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2012.10.055.

- [48] Y. Liu, Y. Sun, W. Liu, and J. Yao. Novel high-efficiency crystalline-silicon-based compound heterojunction solar cells: HCT (heterojunction with compound thin-layer). *Physical chemistry chemical physics : PCCP*, 16:15400–10, 2014. ISSN 1463-9084. doi: 10.1039/c4cp00668b.
- [49] G. Mariani, Z. Zhou, A. Scofield, and D. L. Huffaker. Direct-bandgap epitaxial core-multishell nanopillar photovoltaics featuring subwavelength optical concentrators. *Nano letters*, 13(4):1632–7, Apr. 2013. ISSN 1530-6992. doi: 10.1021/nl400083g.
- [50] K. Masuko, M. Shigematsu, T. Hashiguchi, D. Fujishima, M. Kai, N. Yoshimura, T. Yamaguchi, Y. Ichihashi, T. Mishima, N. Matsubara, T. Yamanishi, T. Takahama, M. Taguchi, E. Maruyama, and S. Okamoto. Achievement of More Than 25% Conversion Efficiency With Crystalline Silicon Heterojunction Solar Cell. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, 4(6):1433-1435, 2014. ISSN 2156-3381. doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV. 2014.2352151. URL http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm? arnumber=6895111.
- [51] T. J. Milakovich, R. D. Shah, S. A. Hadi, A. Nayfeh, M. Bulsara, and E. A. Fitzgerald. Growth and characterization of GaAsP top cells for high efficiency III-V/Si tandem PV. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [52] T. E. Mitchell and O. Unal. Dislocation arrangements in GaAs/Ga1-xlnxAs multilayers grown on (001), (111) and (112) substrates. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 20(7):723– 734, 1991. ISSN 03615235. doi: 10.1007/BF02665958.
- [53] T. Mizutani. Correct substrate temperature monitoring with infrared optical pyrometer for molecular-beam epitaxy of III-V semiconductors. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures, 6(6):1671, 1988. ISSN 0734211X. doi: 10.1116/1.584428.
- [54] P. K. Mohseni, A. Behnam, J. D. Wood, C. D. English, J. W. Lyding, E. Pop, and X. Li. In(x)Ga(1-x)As nanowire growth on graphene: van der Waals epitaxy induced

phase segregation. *Nano letters*, 13(3):1153–61, Mar. 2013. ISSN 1530-6992. doi: 10.1021/nl304569d.

- [55] V. Narayanan, S. Mahajan, K. J. Bachmann, V. Woods, and N. Dietz. Antiphase boundaries in GaP layers grown on (001) Si by chemical beam epitaxy. *Acta Materialia*, 50(6):1275–1287, 2002. ISSN 13596454. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6454(01)00408-6.
- [56] V. A. Nebol'sin and A. A. Shchetinin. Role of Surface Energy in the Vapor Liquid – Solid Growth of Silicon. *Inorganic Materials*, 39(9):899–903, 2003. doi: 10.1023/A: 1025588601262.
- [57] A. Nelson. Co-refinement of multiple-contrast neutron/X-ray reflectivity data using MOTOFIT. Journal of Applied Crystallography, 39(2):273–276, Mar. 2006. ISSN 0021-8898. doi: 10.1107/S0021889806005073.
- [58] H. Okamoto. Au-Si (Gold-Silicon). A.S.M. International, 1990.
- [59] H. Okamoto. Reevaluation of Thermodynamic Models for Phase Diagram Evaluation. Journal of Phase Equilibria, 12:622–643, 1991.
- [60] R. W. Olesinski. Cu-Si (Copper-Silicon). A.S.M. International, 1990.
- [61] R. W. Olesinski and G. J. Abbaschian. Cu-Ge (Copper-Germanium). A.S.M. International, 1990.
- [62] J. C. Orr, V. J. Fabry, O. Aumont, L. Bopp, S. C. Doney, R. a. Feely, A. Gnanadesikan, N. Gruber, A. Ishida, F. Joos, R. M. Key, K. Lindsay, E. Maier-Reimer, R. Matear, P. Monfray, A. Mouchet, R. G. Najjar, G.-K. Plattner, K. B. Rodgers, C. L. Sabine, J. L. Sarmiento, R. Schlitzer, R. D. Slater, I. J. Totterdell, M.-F. Weirig, Y. Yamanaka, and A. Yool. Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. *Nature*, 437(7059):681–686, 2005. ISSN 0028-0836. doi: 10.1038/nature04095.
- [63] L. Pan, K. Lew, J. Redwing, and E. Dickey. Effect of diborane on the microstructure of boron-doped silicon nanowires. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 277(1-4):428–436, Apr. 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2005.01.091.
- [64] S. J. Pearton. Comparison of surface recombination velocities in InGaP and Al-GaAs mesa diodes. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures, 12(1):142, 1994. ISSN 0734211X. doi: 10.1116/1.587171.
- [65] P. Periwal, B. Salem, F. Bassani, T. Baron, and J.-P. Barnes. High density and taperfree boron doped Si1-xGex nanowire via two-step growth process. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, 32(4):041401, 2014. ISSN 0734-2101. doi: 10.1116/1.4883225. URL http://scitation.aip.org/content/avs/ journal/jvsta/32/4/10.1116/1.4883225.
- [66] K. E. Plass, M. a. Filler, J. M. Spurgeon, B. M. Kayes, S. Maldonado, B. S. Brunschwig,
  H. a. Atwater, and N. S. Lewis. Flexible Polymer-Embedded Si Wire Arrays. Advanced Materials, 21(3):325–328, Jan. 2009. doi: 10.1002/adma.200802006.
- [67] A. Polman and H. a. Atwater. Photonic design principles for ultrahigh-efficiency photovoltaics. *Nature Materials*, 11(3):174–177, Feb. 2012. ISSN 1476-1122. doi: 10.1038/nmat3263.
- [68] A. Potiè, T. Baron, L. Latu-Romain, G. Rosaz, B. Salem, L. Montés, P. Gentile, J. Kreisel, and H. Roussel. Controlled growth of SiGe nanowires by addition of HCl in the gas phase. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 110(2):024311, 2011. doi: 10.1063/1. 3610409.
- [69] M. C. Putnam, S. W. Boettcher, M. D. Kelzenberg, D. B. Turner-Evans, J. M. Spurgeon, E. L. Warren, R. M. Briggs, N. S. Lewis, and H. A. Atwater. Si microwire-array solar cells. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 3(8):1037, 2010. ISSN 1754-5692. doi: 10.1039/c0ee00014k.
- [70] C. Qi, G. Goncher, R. Solanki, and J. Jordan. SiGe nanowire growth and characterization. Nanotechnology, 18(7):075302, Feb. 2007. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/18/7/075302.

- [71] F. M. Ross, J. Tersoff, and M. C. Reuter. Sawtooth Faceting in Silicon Nanowires. *Physical Review Letters*, 95(14):1–4, Sept. 2005. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.146104.
- [72] D. Rudolph, S. Funk, M. Döblinger, S. Morkötter, S. Hertenberger, L. Schweickert, J. Becker, S. Matich, M. Bichler, D. Spirkoska, I. Zardo, J. J. Finley, G. Abstreiter, and G. Koblmüller. Spontaneous Alloy Composition Ordering in GaAs-AlGaAs Core-Shell Nanowires. *Nano letters*, Mar. 2013. ISSN 1530-6992. doi: 10.1021/nl3046816. URL http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23517063.
- [73] N. Shin, M. Chi, J. Y. Howe, and M. A. Filler. Rational defect introduction in silicon nanowires. *Nano Letters*, 13(5):1928–33, May 2013. doi: 10.1021/nl3042728.
- [74] T. Shitara and K. Eberl. Electronic properties of InGaP grown by solid-source molecular-beam epitaxy with a GaP decomposition source. *Applied Physics Letters*, 65(3):356–358, 1994. ISSN 00036951. doi: 10.1063/1.112373.
- [75] W. Shockley and H. J. Queisser. Detailed balance limit of efficiency of p-n junction solar cells. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 32(1961):510–519, 1961. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.1736034.
- [76] R. M. Sieg, S. a. Ringel, S. M. Ting, E. a. Fitzgerald, and R. N. Sacks. Anti-phase domain-free growth of GaAs on offcut (001) Ge wafers by molecular beam epitaxy with suppressed Ge outdiffusion. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 27(7):900–907, July 1998. ISSN 0361-5235. doi: 10.1007/s11664-998-0116-1.
- [77] O. Skibitzki, A. Paszuk, F. Hatami, P. Zaumseil, Y. Yamamoto, M. Andreas Schubert, A. Trampert, B. Tillack, W. Ted Masselink, T. Hannappel, and T. Schroeder. Latticeengineered Si1-xGex-buffer on Si(001) for GaP integration. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 115(10), 2014. ISSN 10897550. doi: 10.1063/1.4864777.
- [78] R. E. Smalley. Future Global Energy Prosperity: The Terawatt Challenge. MRS Bulletin, 30(06):412–417, 2005. ISSN 0883-7694. doi: 10.1557/mrs2005.124.

- [79] D. D. Smith, P. Cousins, S. Westerberg, R. D. Jesus-Tabajonda, G. Aniero, and Y.-C. Shen. Toward the Practical Limits of Silicon Solar Cells. *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics*, 4(6):1465–1469, Nov. 2014. ISSN 2156-3381. doi: 10.1109/JPHOTOV.2014.2350695.
- [80] R. Soman, A. Reisman, D. Temple, and R. Alberti. Selective Area Chemical Vapor Deposition of Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> Thin Film Alloys by the Alternating Cyclic Method: Experimental Data: I. Deposition Parameters. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 147 (5):1847, 2000. doi: 10.1149/1.1393445.
- [81] J. M. Spurgeon, K. E. Plass, B. M. Kayes, B. S. Brunschwig, H. A. Atwater, and N. S. Lewis. Repeated epitaxial growth and transfer of arrays of patterned, vertically aligned, crystalline Si wires from a single Si(111) substrate. *Applied Physics Letters*, 93(3):032112, 2008. ISSN 00036951. doi: 10.1063/1.2959184.
- [82] Y. Takagi, Y. Furukawa, A. Wakahara, and H. Kan. Lattice relaxation process and crystallographic tilt in GaP layers grown on misoriented Si(001) substrates by metalorganic vapor phase epitaxy. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 107(6):063506, 2010. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.3310479.
- [83] A. C. Tamboli, M. Van Hest, M. Steiner, E. Perl, S. Essig, A. Norman, and P. Stradins. Indium Zinc Oxide Mediated Wafer Bonding for III-V/Si Tandem Solar Cells. In *Pho*tovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [84] T. Tiedje, E. Yablonovitch, G. Cody, and B. Brooks. Limiting efficiency of silicon solar cells. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 31(5):711–716, May 1984. ISSN 0018-9383. doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1984.21594.
- [85] D. B. Turner-Evans. Wire array photovoltaics. PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, 2013.
- [86] D. B. Turner-Evans, C. T. Chen, H. Emmer, W. E. McMahon, and H. A. Atwater. Optoelectronic analysis of multijunction wire array solar cells. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 114(1):014501, 2013. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.4812397.

- [87] P. N. Uppal and H. Kroemer. Molecular beam epitaxial growth of GaAs on Si(211). Journal of Applied Physics, 58(6):2195, 1985. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.335987.
- [88] K. Volz, A. Beyer, W. Witte, J. Ohlmann, I. Németh, B. Kunert, and W. Stolz. GaPnucleation on exact Si (001) substrates for III/V device integration. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 315(1):37–47, Jan. 2011. ISSN 00220248. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2010.10.036.
- [89] R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis. Vapor-liquid-solid mechanism of single crystal growth. *Applied Physics Letters*, 4(5):89–90, 1964. doi: 10.1063/1.1753975.
- [90] J. Wallentin, N. Anttu, D. Asoli, M. Huffman, I. Aberg, M. H. Magnusson, G. Siefer, P. Fuss-Kailuweit, F. Dimroth, B. Witzigmann, H. Q. Xu, L. Samuelson, K. Deppert, and M. T. Borgström. InP nanowire array solar cells achieving 13.8% efficiency by exceeding the ray optics limit. *Science*, 339(6123):1057–60, Mar. 2013. ISSN 1095-9203. doi: 10.1126/science.1230969.
- [91] L. Wang, B. Conrad, A. Soeriyadi, M. Diaz, X. Zhao, D. Li, A. Lochtefeld, A. Gerger, C. Ebert, I. Perez-Wurfl, and A. Barnett. Current matched GaAsP/SiGe tandem device on Si over 20% efficiency under indoor measurement. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC), 2015 42nd IEEE*, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [92] E. L. Warren, A. E. Kibbler, R. M. France, A. G. Norman, J. M. Olson, and W. E. McMahon. Investigation of GaP/Si heteroepitaxy on MOCVD prepared Si(100) surfaces. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [93] C.-Y. Wen, M. C. Reuter, J. Bruley, J. Tersoff, S. Kodambaka, E. A. Stach, and F. M. Ross. Formation of compositionally abrupt axial heterojunctions in silicon-germanium nanowires. *Science*, 326(5957):1247–50, Nov. 2009. doi: 10.1126/science.1178606.
- [94] M. Woodhouse and A. Goodrich. A Manufacturing Cost Analysis Relevant to Singleand Dual-Junction Photovoltaic Cells Fabricated with III-Vs and III-Vs Grown on Czochralski Silicon. NREL/PR-6A20-60126, 2013.

- [95] S. L. Wright, H. Kroemer, and M. Inada. Molecular beam epitaxial growth of GaP on Si. Journal of Applied Physics, 55(8):2916, 1984. ISSN 00218979. doi: 10.1063/1.333333.
- [96] Y. Wu, Y. Cui, L. Huynh, and C. Barrelet. Controlled growth and structures of molecular-scale silicon nanowires. *Nano Letters*, 4(3):433–436, 2004.
- [97] K. Xiong, H. Mi, T.-h. Chang, M.-Y. Wu, S. Gong, W. Zhou, M. Arnold, H.-C. Yuan, and Z. Ma. AlGaAs/Si dual-junction tandem solar cells fabricated by epitaxial lift-off and print transfer-assisted bonding. In *Photovoltaics Specialists Conference (PVSC)*, 2015 42nd IEEE, New Orleans, LA, 2015.
- [98] X. Zhang, K.-K. Lew, P. Nimmatoori, J. M. Redwing, and E. C. Dickey. Diameterdependent composition of vapor-liquid-solid grown Si(1-x)Ge(x) nanowires. *Nano Letters*, 7(10):3241–5, Oct. 2007. doi: 10.1021/nl071132u.
- [99] A. Zhylik, A. Benediktovich, A. Ulyanenkov, H. Guerault, M. Myronov, A. Dobbie, D. R. Leadley, and T. Ulyanenkova. High-resolution x-ray diffraction investigation of relaxation and dislocations in SiGe layers grown on (001), (011), and (111) Si substrates. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 109(12):123714, 2011. doi: 10.1063/1.3597828.